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PREFACE TO NEW EDITION.

N submitting a new edition of my great-grandfather’s work
to the public, no apology is needed. Since the first was
published, 97 years ago, many changes have taken place in

the government of the people, new manners and customs have
arisen, and a new generation not acquainted with the history of
their town.

I have endeavoured to the best of my ability to bring the
history of the town, with the various changes and improvements
which have taken place, down to the present time. No record
_ has been kept since Dean Dobbs wrote the last in the Old Book
of Records, and my information has been gathered from State
Papers in the Linen Hall Library, various newspapers published
since 1839, old Directories, and many other sources, as noted.

No alteration, with the exception of a few words in brackets,
has been made in the text of the original work, neither has there
been any interference with the disposition of the notes. The
additional notes have been inserted in brackets, so that they may
be at once known.

Part 1. has been arranged into chapters, the ninth has been
added, and in that portion the notes bave not been placed in
brackets, as I am solely responsible for both text and notes.

In Part II. many pages have been added to the text, as noted.

Part ITI. has been printed verbatim, with an introductory
note, also many additional pages. .

To Part IV, nothing has been added to text save words in
brackets.

In my great-grandfather’s Appendix were many additions for
text, also corrections. These have been placed in their proper
order. All the Appendixes have been reproduced and a new
Appendix added, which will, T hope, prove interesting to present
readers and succeeding generations.

In conclusion, the work has been a labour of love, and if I
have contributed in any way to keep on record the times that are
past, my work has not been in vain.

ELIZABETH J. M‘CRUM.
CARNMONEY, December, 1909.
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ORIGINAL PREFACE.

NINETEEN years have elapsed since the publication of the first
edition of this Work. In the interval, the Author has been
studiously engaged in collecting materials for the present, in
which he has been so successful, that he is now enabled to
give it to the public, in a much more complete and enlarged
form than he ever expected it would have attained.

" To render the work as perfect as possible, neither time,
labour, nor expense has been spared: new engravings of the
most remarkable objects described contribute to its embellish-
ment, while its utility is considerably enhanced by the great
additional information that has been gleaned from rare and
unpublished sources. The valuable Records of Carrickfergus,
as well as those of the County of Antrim, have been carefully
consulted. The Inquisitions and Records contained in Public
Offices, together with private Libraries, and Manuscript Col-
lections, have not been neglected ; and, in several instances, the
repositories of the dead, as well as those of the living, have
been reluctantly but successfully explored, to procure additional
information.

He is fully apprised, however, of the unpopularity of his
subject, as works of a similar nature have never met with much
encouragement here ; yet, “with little assistance from the learned,
and without any patronage of the great,” he lays his work before
the public, trusting that it will be found to contain much new
and interesting matter to general readers, and not a little to
the lovers of historical inquiry, local topography, or antiquarian
research.
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XV

TO THE READER. .

This Work is divided into Four Parts, or Sections. The
First is in the manner of Annals; the Second relates to the Ancient
and Present Stale of the District; the Third treats of its Corporate
Origin and Priviieges; the Fourth of its Trade, Customs, Statistics,
and Antiquities.

Page

4, fifth line, for *‘ fas’

ERRATA.

read *‘ for.”

““ ’

fourth line from bottom, for rcad “‘ was.”
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HISTORY, &c., OF CARRICKFERGUS,

PARE L

CHAPTER L

HE ancient accounts of Carrickfergus present little but
traditionary legends, being involved in at least a
common share of that obscurity, which appears insepar-

able from our national history. It is, however, believed to have
been early inhabited; and an eminent author even supposes it
to have been the first place in this kingdom peopled by the
Celtes from North Britain,® near three centuries before the
nativity of Christ, and before the Fir-Bolgs, or Belgz (another
branch of the Scythian nation), are said to have arrived in this
island? from South Britain.®

Camden likewise affirms that Ireland was originally
peopled by Britons; and Spenser, in his “ View of Ireland,”
is explicit, that Scythians were the first settlers in the north of
this kingdom, and confirms it by an examination of their
customs and manners.

The assertions of these historians receive some support
from the proximity of the western parts of Britain to the
northern parts of this island, the high land of which could be
easily discerned on a clear day; and when we consider the
imperfect state of navigation in the early ages, in boats made
of twisted willows and the skins of animals, these assertions
are farther confirmed.

That such were anciently the common modes of conveyance,
is evident from the works of several learned authors. Casar
ordered his soldiers to make such boats as he had seen in

! Petty’s Political Anatomy. Macpherson’s Dissertations. Tran.
R.I.A., vol. 1.

? Ledwich’s Antiquities.

* O’Connor’s Dissertations.
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Britain, the keels of light timber, the other parts of osiers,
covered with hides.! Lucan, the Roman poet, who flourished
A.D. 65, mentions the like boats as being used by the Britons;
and Solinus Polyhistor, who flourished about the same time,
also says, “the sea between Britain and Ireland is unquiet
and tempestuous, and yet they sailed over it in wicker boats,
encompassed with a swelling covering of ox hides.”

To a people who possessed such slender means for a
voyage, a short passage must have been an important object,
and equally so a commodious landing-place, which it is
probable this bay presented in a greater degree than any part
of the adjacent coast; and perhaps, this place at that time,
from the wind, or some other cause, might have presented fewer
obstacles to the landing of such navigators, than any part of
the circumjacent shore.

Concerning the first settlers nothing has reached us:
doubtless they followed the same roving habits as the other
Scythian tribes, living by their flocks, in woods and caves,
without any fixed residence: but until about the beginning of
the second century, we have no document that notices this place,
when we find it first distinguished by the name of Dunsobarky.
In one of the oldest maps of this kingdom, annexed to
“O’Connor’s Dissertations,” entitled, “ Scotia Antiqua, or a
map of Ireland agreeable to the time of Ptolemy, the
geographer,” it is laid down by the above name. Also, in a
map affixed to “ Seward’s Hibernian Gazetteer,” called, “A map
of Ireland previous to the 13th century,” it is laid down by
the same name, and at the same place, as in that of the second
century ;* and in both placed in Dalaradia,® an ancient division
of the county Antrim, the people of which were commonly
called Dalaradians, from the country, but by foreign writers

' Caesar’s Commentaries.

2 The general inaccuracy of those maps place it opposite to the Mull
of Cantyre, an error which seems to have been continued till lately.
Peter Heylin, a geographer, who wrote so lately as 1640, deseribes it by
the name of ‘‘ Rock-Fergus,” and adds, that it is opposite to Cantyre.
In a map of the county Antrim, lately engraved for a physician of
Belfast, possessed of much antiquarian knowledge, in which the ancient
names of places are given, it is laid down in its proper place, by the
name of Dun-sobarce. In a map of ancient Ireland, annexed to the
‘“ Chronicles of Eri,”” edited by Roger O’Connor, Esq., Carrickfergus
is laid down in its proper place by the name of Dun-sobhairce.

% This name is said to have been taken from a chief called Rheuda,
and Dal, a part or portion : and comprehended the S. and S.E. parts of
the county Antrim.—Ware's Antiquities. :
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Scots, or Scuits, a name denoting their Scythian or Celtic
origin.

The above name appears to be a compound of two words
purely Celtic ; the dun, din, dune, or don, primarily signifying
a mount, hill, high ground, or insulated rock,! and sobdkar, or
sobarky, strong, powerful, or the like; which countenances the
former account that it was first inhabited by a Celtic people;
and the language of a people is generally the best criterion of
their origin.

This name is believed to have related merely to the insulated
rock on which the present castle stands; an opinion that is in
some measure strengthened by its not being noticed by Ptolemy,
who has mentioned the bay of Carrickfergus by the name of
Vinderius,; as he is pretty correct is noting maritime towns,
this proves at least its obscurity; which indeed is easily
accounted for, by referring to the manners of the Celtes, who
were literally roving barbarians; hence we conclude that the
ancient name was retained till the arrival of the English, and
that there were no buildings here deserving the name of a
town, prior to their time.

From the settlement of the English we find this place
called Crag-fergus, Carig-fergus, Carreg-fergus, Karreg-fergus,
Rock-fergus, Knock-fergus, and Carrickfergus; the former part
of which seems derived from the Welsh, and signifies a rock
or stone; carrig or kairrig in the Irish language has also the
same meaning ; but as many of those employed by Henry II.,
in the conquest of the kingdom, “were Welshmen, who gave
Welsh names to places,”? it is in all likelihood derived from the
former language. Besides, it is highly improbable that an
English colony, settled by the right of conquest, would give a
name to any settlement of theirs in the language of the
conquered country.

The latter part of this name is evidently taken from the
account of a king called Fergus, who is said to have been lost
in a storm, near this place, 320 or 330 vears before Christ.?
Tradition says he was the first king of Scotland; but as the
name of Scotland, as applied to that country, was unknown

! Gent. Mag., Vol. XCIl.—Hence the names of many of our mounts
and raths, both here and in necighbouring parishes, as Dun-cru, the
fortress of blood; Dunamoey, i.c., Dun a magh, the fortress of the
plain; Dunathery, the middle fortress, &c.

2 Hanmer’s Chronicle.

3 Hanmer’s Chronicle.
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for upwards of a thousand years after Christ,' the supposition
of his being a Scottish prince is doubtless incorrect. We are
also informed that he was an Trish chief “ famous for his skill
in blasoning of armes.”?

Having shown as fas as possible who the primitive settlers
were, also the ancient names.of the place, we proceed to the
remarkable events connected with its general history.

History and tradition are for some time equally silent as
to any event tending to illustrate our present inquiries. For,
if we except the romantic tales concerning Fin Eryn and Fin
Mac Coylle, alias, Mac Comhal, two famous chiefs who are
said to have flourished about the latter part of the third century,
and their descendants in the fourth (one of whom, Sperenagh
Claw, is said to have governed this place),® we find nothing
worthy of notice till A.D. 697, when this part of Ireland was
invaded by the Crutine, or island Picts, in conjunction with
the British Picts. On this occasion a desperate battle was
fought at Zemnha, near Carrickfergus, in which fell Aodh, or
Hugh, king of Dalrieda,* also Conquar Mac Echa Mac Maldwin,
chief commander of the Picts.®

We are not informed as to the result of this engagement ;
but history mentions that Aodh was succeeded by one Duncha

! Ussher, Prim., page 734. Pinkerton’s Enquiry into the early
History of Scotland.

2 Campion’s History of Ireland. Tradition says, that the cause of
Fergus* coming hither was to drink of the water of the well, now within
the tower of this castle, for the cure of leprosy—that he was lost during
a storm, off the rock on which the castle now stands, and his body,
being found on the beach, was interred at Monkstown, alias Monlksland,
about three miles west of the town of Carrickfegrus, where is a burying-
place, and ruins of a small chapel.

[* The supposed bones of king Fergus were exhibited in after times
by the monks of that religious house, to many Irish and Scotch votaries
who made pilgrimages to his grave. See Montgomery Manuscripts,
New Edition, pp. 427, 428. For an account of the storm and shipwreck,
see Stewart’s Metrical Version of Boece’s Chronicle, vol. 1, p. 41.

In 1880, the ruins of this chapel consisted of the western gable,
which was 16 feet high, and the foundations, which measured in the
interior 63 by 17 feet, all traces of which have disappeared. The burial-
ground is now under cultivation, and few interments take place.]

3 Hanmer’s Chronicle.

4 Dalrieda comprehended a large tract of the county Antrim, in
which was included the Route, or Root, which is said to be merely a
corruption of this name.—Ware’s Antiquities.

5 Annals of Ulster : zide Anthologia Hibernica.—Tradition affirms
that this country was originally inhabited by a people called Pehts, who
resided in caves. They are said to have been very strong, but small in
stature. Little pipes resembling our tobacco-pipes, that are sometimes
found in digging, are still commonly called Peht-pipes, from an idea that
they belonged to these people.
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in the government of Dalrieda, who in 710 defeated the Britons
of Cumberland, who had invaded his dominions ;! but nothing
is recorded that has any relation to this place, until about 960,
when it was plundered by the Danes of Lough Cuan, alias
Lough Strangford.®

Darkness again pervades . our history during several
centuries ; for of the proceedings of the Danes and other
northern tribes, who arrived in this island from the 8th to the
11th century, little is known; which is easily accounted for
by their destroying, during their ravages, all records that
related to the country, so that we are seldom enabled to trace
any settlement of those barbarians.®

The next important event in Irish history is the invasion
of the kingdom by the English in 1172 ; and shortly after we
find Henry II. granting particular districts to his favourites:
among others, the entire province of Ulster to John De Courcy,
“to enjoy in that land all that he could conquer with the sword,
reserving to the King homage and fealty.”® De Courcy
appears to have lost no time in attempting to gain possession
of his grant; as, in January, 1177, he set out from Dublin
with his brother-in-law, Sir Armorick St. Lawrence, and a band
“of volunteers,” consisting of 22 knights, 50 esquires, and about
300 foot soldiers, who were afterwards increased to about 700,
all chosen men.* In four days from his departure from Dublin,
he reached Down without opposition, where he found ample
provisions and other necessaries for his army; O’Donnell, or,
as he is called by some, Dunlenus, the chief of that district,
having fled at his approach.® O'Donnell soon after recovering
from his panic, and receiving reinforcements from * Roderick
the monarch,” attacked the invaders, but was defeated; and
being also worsted in several other engagements, De Courcy
was at length enabled to establish himself at Down. In the
summer of 1182, he entered Dalrieda, and defeated Donald
O'Loghlin, alias O'Neill, king of that country, who fell in
battle ; and soon after began to erect castles and forts to secure
his conquests. The same year he established a colony at

! Annals of Ulster : vide Anthologia Hibernica.
% Keating’s History of Ireland.

® Warner’s History of Ireland.

4 Campion’s History of Ireland.

5 Lodge’s Peerage. Cox’s History of Ireland.
¢ Hanmer’s Chronicle. I.odge’s Peerag-:
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Carrickfergus, the chief of whom were the Sendalls, Bensons,
Jordans, Copelands, Russells, Whites, and Savages.!

These colonists appear for some time to have made little
progress in building a town. The smallness of their number,
and the unsettled state of the country, from the ravages of the
natives, and the dissensions that took place between the nival
families of De Courcy and De Lacy, and, after the disgrace
of the former, between the latter and William Marshall, lord
of Leinster,® were sufficient obstacles to retard the progress of
an infant colony. In 1203, Hugh De Lacy the younger was
appointed lord justice by King John; who, in May, 12053,
created bim earl of Ulster, bestowing on him the estates of the
brave John De Courcy, who, through the machinations of the
De Lacys, was then a prisoner in the tower of London.®* Three
years after, we find Hugh De Lacy lord deputy; and he,
with others of the same family, deeming this a proper season
to get rid of all their enemies, caused John De Courcy, lord
of Rathenny and Kilbarrock, natural son of John De Courcy,
late earl of Ulster, to be murdered ;* the Lacys accusing him
of being a spy upon their actions, and of reporting the same
to the king.® This event caused a general discontent and
confusion amongst the English settlers; the Irish chieftains,
considering this a fit time to expel the English from their
respective districts, revolted, on pretence of oppressive taxation ;
and a general commotion took place throughout the kingdom.”®

! Hanmer’s Chronicle. Lodge’s Peerage. Harris’ History of the
County Down. Ware’s Annals. Gill’s MSS.—At present none of the
descendants of the above persons reside here. Jordan’s-town, parish of
Carnmoney, bordering on Carrickfergus, is alleged to take its name from
the above Jordans. Copeland-water, in this parish, is also believed to
take its name from the early settlers here. A tract of land, Middle
Division, is still called FH%ite’s-land*, probably from having belonged to
the above mentioned White, or descendants; and that land just outside
North-gate, was till lately called Sendall’s-parl. Some vestiges of two
castlest that belonged to this family still remain. The site of the castle
of John Savage is stiil known ; but of this moré¢ hereafter.

2 Cox’s History of Ireland. Davis’s Historical Tracts.

4 Cox’s History of Ireland.

4 Lodge’s Peerage. Cox’s History of Ireland. Davis's Historical
Tracts.

5 Campion’s History of Ireland.

6 Cox’s History of Ireland. Hanmer’s Chronicle.

| *White’s-land, now White’s Gate.

1Sendall’s castles—the ruins of these castles have long since disappeared.

In 1838, in levelling the ground for a new road into the town from
Belfast by the Governor’s Walk or Piace, the foundations of the Castle of
Patrick Savage were discovered, and part of the ancient wet ditch by which
the town was formerly encompassed, as seen in the plan of the town in 1550.]
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In order to suppress the flame of rebellion, and to inquire
into the oppressive conduct of the De Lacys, King John landed
at Waterford, with an army, on the 8th Junme, 1210; which so
intimidated the Irish, that upwards of twenty of their chiefs did
homage to him in that city, among whom was O’Neill, the
powerful potentate of Ulster.! The De Lacys, conscious of their
villanies and oppressions, fled, on the news of the king’s arrival,
to Carrickfergus ; where Hugh and his brother Walter embarked
in a vessel for France.? Soon after their departure, king John
arrived at Carrickfergus,® in pursuit of them, accompanied by
Cormac O’Connor,* alias Crovederg, King of Connaught, his
prisoner,* who was now in his train, “captived in triumph.”?

In a letter of king John’s given in RyMER'S FOEDERA, are
the following particulars of his majesty’s proceedings at
Carrickfergus: “ And when we were at Cracfergus, that castle
being now taken, a certain friend and relation of ours from
Galweya, named Duncan de Karge, informed us, that he had
taken prisoners the aforesaid Matilda, and her daughter (the
wife of the son of Roger Mortimer), and the aforesaid William
the younger, and his wife, and his two sons. But Hugh De
Lacy, and Reginal De Breosa, had escaped.” “And we sent
for them Jokn De Courcy, and Godferd:t De Cracumbe, with
bailiffs and servants, and two galleys; who, when they were
brought to us, Matilda herself began to speak of making a
settlement with us; and offered 40,000 marks for the life and
limbs of her husband, and of herself and followers; so that
her husband should give us peaceable possession of all his castles
and lands. And so it was agreed on between us at that time.
But after three days she repented of that settlement, and said
that she could not adhere to it.” “ After this, when we had
retired from Cracfergus, and about to return to England.”

! Cox’s History of Ireland.

? Keating’s History of Ireland.

2 MSS.

¢ Cox’s History of Ireland.

# Speed’s Chronicle.

[* On Monday, July 1gth, 1210, King John arrived at Carrickfergus
from Downpatrick, beseiged and captured the castle, into which he
threw many of De Lacy’s barons and adherents, seized on their lands,
and granted them their liberty only when he had wrung from them the
last penny they were able to pay. He placed in the castle a garrison
under the command of De Serlande, and sailed from Carrickfergus on
the 29th of July, in a ship of Bayvonne, which carried him to Holvwood,
from thence he travelled to Dublin. ~Cox’s Lit. Pat., Vol. 1 ]

[tGodferd was King of Man and father-in-law to John De Courcy.]
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Rymer here drops the subject, but Pryn~E gives farther
particulars in an extract of a letter written by some person
then in the train of John—he says, “ Coming at length, into
the province of that country, called Meath, they besieged, and
took, in a certain fort, Matilda, the wife of W. De Breosa,
and his son William, with his wife. ~They having privately
escaped from him, and afterwards being again taken in the
island Maig (Magee), were brought before the king; (we saw
them bound in chains), who sent them to England. All of
these persons, by the king's orders, perished by hunger.”
SPEED, also mentions the circumstance, and says, that Matilda
had sent to the queen from Ireland the singular present of
400 cows and a bull, all white but their ears, which were red;
this present, it is added, did not make her peace, as she and
her son were sent prisoners to Windsor, where they were starved
to death.

In the meantime the De Lacys proceeded to France, and
entered themselves as gardeners with the Abbot of St. Taurin;
but an unskilful manner in handling their working tools soon
discovered them to be no regular workmen. Being questioned
by the abbot, they confessed their rank, and he became a suitor
to the king in their behalf, obtaining their pardons on paying
large fines; Walter 2500 marks for Meath, and Hugh 4000
marks for Ulster.?

Those and numerous other dissensions, which it is not now
our office to notice, doubtless retarded the erection of a town;
hence, although Sir John De Courcy had placed settlers here,
we find the town mentioned as being founded by Hugh De
Lacy the younger, in 1230;2 from which period it appears to
have remained long the chief seat and garrison of the English
in Ulster, and continued in their possession, when all, or at
least the greater part of Ulster, was overrun by the Irish.
Maurice Fitzgerald, a Welshman, who came over to Ireland
with Henry II., is also said to have founded the town, when
lord deputy, in 1242;* but as De ILacy was successor to De
Courcy, both in title and estates, as earl of Ulster, and is also
said to have founded a monastery here, in 1232.* ke was
probably the person to whom, at least chiefly, it owes its

! Campion’s History of Ireland. Hanmer’s Chronicle.
* Anderson’s Constitutions of Masonry.

3 MSS. Countess of Antrim’s library.

¢ Hanmer’s Chronicle.
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foundation. The clashing of these accounts, perhaps, proceed
from the fortifying of the town, incorporating of the settlement,
or other attentions paid to the town by Fitzgerald, when lord
deputy, in which office (save a short interval) he continued
from about 1230, to 1245.1 This is the more likely, as he was
very vigilant while in office, in strengthening the English settle-
ments; causing several castles to be built, among which were
those of Sligo and Ley.?

History is again silent as to any event of moment regarding
this place, till 1274; in which year the Scots landed on the
adjacent coast, to assist the O'Neills against the English, and
proceeded, according to the barbarous warfare of those times,
to burn “towns and villages, killing man, woman, and child; ”
after which they carried off their booty to Scotland, before a
sufficient force could be collected to oppose them. Soon after,
an army was raised in Ulster and Connaught, with which
Richard De Burgo and Sir Eustace Le Poer invaded Scoltand,
making ample retaliation. Even those persons who sought
refuge in caves, are stated to have been smoked out like foxes,
and put to the sword.? .

Though Carrickfergus is not specially mentioned as one
of the towns burnt by the Scots. it is more than probable that
it shared in the ravages of this time, as in the following year
we find the mayor, and other inhabitants, addressing a letter
to Edward I., respecting a rebellion lately suppressed, which
they say “was kindled by some Irish and English: ” amongst
the chief of the former are noticed, “ Od. O’Neill, king of
Renelyon, and Common O'Kathran, king of Reach” This
letter states, that those persons were instigated by “the lords
Henry De Maundevill, Robert De Maundevill, Thomas the son

! Ware’s Antiquities.

* MSS. Countess of Antrim’s library.

* Anthologia Hibernica. Cox’s History of Ireland. Ware’s Annals.
—The latter places this event a year earlier.

¢ Leland, in his History of Ireland, presents us with a list of Irish
chiefs summoned by Henry III., about 1240, to assist him against the
Scots ; amongst them we find “ Bren O’Nel, regi de Kinelun, i.e., Kenel
eogain sive Tirowen,” and ‘“ O’Chatan, i.e., O’Cathan.”” The former
of those persons was evidently an O’Neill, prince of Tyrone; the latter
as plainly O’Cachan, alias O’Kane (a sept in alliance with the
O’Neills), and both doubtless of the same septs noticed above; perhaps
the same persons.

The superior chief of the O’Cachans resided at Benbraden, near
Dungiven ; a branch of the same family held the castle of Dunseveric,
so late as the time of Cromwell.—London Gentleman’s Magaczine.
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of Richard, Thomas De MAiundevill, Martin De Maundevill,
and William De Corrs, of the army; ” and that they had
committed “ murders, burnings, robberies, and other transgres-
sions, especially to the lord William of Warrin,' seneschal of
Ulster, from whom they burned five towns, three mills, and two
thousand crannocks® of corn, by which they reduced the said
seneschal yearly fifty-seven marks rent.” They also state, that
those persons had rescued some hostages held here by the
English; and that the sole cause of this rebellion was the
seneschal’s having distrained them for debts due to the crown.
It is added, that they were at length subdued by the “help of
God,” the said seneschal, and Hugh Byset; many of them being
taken prisoners, some of whom were executed here in prison,
and others pardoned by his majesty.

None of the De Lacys appear openly implicated in this
rebellion; vet feuds and jealousies seem to have been still
increasing between them and the government, which at length
broke forth into open war. In 1312, the lord justice Mortimer
sent a force against them, under the orders of John Birmingham ;*
on which Walter, Robert, and Aumery De Lacy fled into
Scotland, where they invited lord Edward Bruce, brother to
Robert Bruce, king of Scotland, to invade their country and
become their king.*

Alluring as these proposals were, the Scots appear to have
been cautious in their acceptation. In the following year they
sent out some armed boats to plunder the coasts of Ulster, and
to discover the strength of the disaffected. How far they
succeeded in the latter, we are not informed; but meeting with
rather a rough reception, they retired home ; soon after which
lord Edward Bruce arrived on the coast of Ulster in person,
with a stronger force, and took “the castle of Man, and the
lord O'Donnell prisoner ; ” and now, seeing the weakness of
the English power, he returned to prepare a more formidable
expedition.

This success of lord Edward gave additional strength to

! This person was in all likelihood William Fits-Warrin, seneschal
cf Ulster. See Dawis’s Historical Tracts.

2 Crannoch or crannog, was a dry mecasure for holding corn, com-
posed of twigs lined with the skin of a beast, and was alleged to
contain the grain of seven score sheaves of corn.—Ware’s Antiquitics.

3 Close Rolls, Tower, London.

4 Lodge’s Peerage. Leland's History of Ireland.

5 Cox’s History of Ireland.

[**This name is now usually spelled Bermingham.]
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the Irish malecontents, who kept up a correspondence with his
brother king Robert Bruce, imploring his aid against the
common enemy, and expressing their willingness to receive a
prince from Scotland.! Their wishes on this head were probably
complied with as soon as possible; for in May, 1315, lord
Edward Bruce, having now obtained the consent of the
Scottish parliament, embarked about 6oco men at Ayr, and,
with the three banished De Lacys, landed on the 25th same
month at Olderfleet, near Larne, accompanied by the following
persons : lord Thomas Randolph, the earl of Moray, Sir Philip
Mowbray, Sir John Soulis, Sir John Stewart, lord John
Campbell, John Bisset, John Menteith, John De Bosco, Sir
Fergus of Ardrossan, Ramsay of Ochterhouse, and other
distinguished persons. 2

Numerous Irish chiefs now flocked to Bruce’s standard, all
of whom pledged their utmost assistance, entered into treaties
with him, and gave hostages for their due observance of the
same.®> Proceeding southward with his new allies, his progress
was marked by the destruction of the English settlements,
amongst which were the towns of Belfast, Newtown, and
Greencastle. On the 29th June, he stormed and plundered
Dundalk and Ardee, with other places of less note ; but being,
about the 22nd July, opposed by Sir Edmond Butler, justiciary
of Ireland, and Richard earl of Ulster, with his vassals, he
precipitately retreated into Ulster, accompanied by his most
powerful ally, O’Neill, prince of Tyrone, and halted near
Connor, 4

In the meantime, the earl, despising the Scots and their
adherents, and confiding in the number and valour of his forces,
refused the assistance of the justiciary, who immediately retired
to Dublin, leaving the entire conduct of the war to the former ;
who, pursuing the enemy, attacked them in their quarters on
the 1oth September, but was totally defeated. In this battle,
lord William De Burgo, Sir John Maundevill, Sir Allan Fitz-
Warrin, John Stanton, and several other persons of note in
the English army, were taken prisoners and sent into Scotland ;
while the fugitives, under lord Poer of Dunville, sought safety

! Leland’s History of Ireland.

2Sir David Dalrymple’s Annals of Scotland. Lodge’s Peerage.
Camden’s Britannia.

#Sir David Dalrymple’s Annals of Scotland.

4Spenser’s View of Ireland. Leland's History of Ireland. Sir
David Dalrymple’s Annals of Scotland.
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in the castle of Carrickfergus, where lord William Maundevill,
and John, bishop of-Connor, had also taken refuge.!

Bruce, being now relieved from all apprehensions of an
immediate attack from the English, sent lord Randolph home
for reinforcements, and again resumed warfare by laying siege
to the castle of Carrickfergus, which he pressed with vigour.
His utmost efforts were, however, unavailing, it being bravely
defended by its garrison ; and seeing no hope of his being able
to force its submission, about the beginning of December he
relinquished the siege. ILord Randolph arriving, same time,
with 500 fresh troops, Bruce again proceeded southward, and
penetrated into the counties of Meath and Kildare; but the
ravages of the armies the preceding year had rendered the
country desolate, and he was obliged to retreat to Dundalk,
where he held his court for some time as a sovereign prince;
after which he again resumed the siege of Carrickfergus castle.2

Soon after, Thomas lord Maundevill hastened to its relief
with a considerable body of troops, and, on the 1oth April
succeeded in gaining admission into the castle. Early on the
following morning, Maundevill made a desperate sally on the
Scots, who appear to have apprehended no danger, their only
guard at that time being sixty men, commanded by Neil
Fleming, a man of uncommon intrepidity.

Fleming, perceiving that the Scottish army would be com-
pletely surprised, and probably routéd, unless they had time to
prepare for defence, resolved to sacrifice himself and party for
their preservation. He immediately despatched a messenger to
inform the army of their danger, and placing himself at the
head of his little troop, boldly advanced to meet the assailants.
“ Now, of a truth,” cried he, “ they shall see how we can die for
our Lord.” His first onset checked the progress of the enemy ;
but he soon received a mortal wound, and his party were cut
to pieces. Maundevill, having divided his forces, in order to
surround the Scots, now advanced in person, with his best troops,
through the principal street of the town; and was met by Bruce,
with his guards, who had probably been alarmed by the messenger
sent to him by Fleming. In the front of Bruce’s party was
Gilbert Harper, a man renowned in the Scottish army for
strength and valour; who, knowing Maundevill by the richness

!Sir David Dalrymple’s Annals of Scotland. Cox’s History of
Ireland. Ware’s Annals.
28ir David Dalrymple’s Annals of Scotland.
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of his- armour, rushed forward and felled' him to the ground
with his battle-axe; in which situation he was despatched by
lord Edward Bruce, with a knife. “The English, disheartened
by the loss of their commander (and the Scots continuing to
pour in fresh forces, amongst which were 200 Irish horsemen),
fled towards the castle, closely pressed by the enemy; upon
which the garrison were obliged to draw up the bridge, lest the
Scots should enter with them; leaving their unfortunate
comrades to the mercy of those ruthless assailants.!

Soon after, the garrison offered to surrender within a
limited time, and an agreement to that effect was entered into,
by which they were to give up the castle on the 3ist May,
unless relieved. The time elapsing without relief, they were
required to surrender according to contract, and thirty Scots
advanced to take possession of the castle, but were immediately
made prisoners ; the garrison declaring they would defend the
place to the last extremity. About this time king Robert Bruce
embarked at Lochroyan [Ryan], and soon after landed at
Carrickfergus with a reinforcement to his brother.?

The siege was now more closely pressed than ever, yet the
garrison held out to the end of August, before they surrendered.
Prior to this event they had endured the utmost horrors of
famine, eating hides; and it is even said that they devoured
the thirty Scots who were taken prisoners, as just noticed.®

Securing this place, Bruce “marched southward with a
barbarous army, inflamed to madness by the violent cravings
of nature.” On approaching Dublin, he stopped for some time
at Castleknock ;* but finding the citizens prepared for a vigorous
defence, he entered the county of Kildare, and advanced near
Limerick, laying waste by fire and sword the country through
which he passed.®

In the meantime the lord justice, Roger Mortimer, landed
in Ireland with fresh forces, which excited Bruce’s apprehensions
for his safety ; and in May, 1317, he again retreated into Ulster,
which had been so desolated by the ravages of the preceding
years, that his army suffered dreadfully for want of provisions;

! Sir David Dalrymple’s Annals of Scotland. Barbour.

2 Sir David Dalrymple’s Annals of Scotland.

> Cox’s History of Ireland. Sir David Dalrymple’s Annals of
Scotland.

¢ Leland’s History of Ireland. Mason’s History of St. Patrick’s
Cathedral.

£ Cox’s History of Ireland.
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and the few wretched inhabitants endured such privations, that
the dead are stated to have been raised and eaten by the living.:

At this time the English forces appear to have been equally
incapable of offensive warfare, from the famine,? revolt of the
natives, and dissensions among themelves. In May, 1318, Bruce
advanced to Fagher, near Dundalk, where he was attacked by
Sir John Bermingham, his army totally routed, and himself
slain ; and being found amongst the dead, his head* was cut off
by Bermingham, and presented to Edward 1I., who for his
services created him earl of Louth.® The fugitive Scots, broken,
dispirited, and pursued by their enemies, made the best of their
way northward, destroying all castles, forts and habitations that
had been left. From hence the few survivors embarked for
their native country, leaving Ireland in a state of desolation
exceeding anything recorded in her former history.

Soon after the defeat of lord Edward Bruce, his brother
Robert arrived in Carrickfergus with reinforcements; but
learning the total failure of the cause, he returned home. He
again came over, accompanied by the earl of Menteith, and
other Scottish nobles, in order to conclude a treaty with the
English; but the justiciary and council not arriving as
appointed, he returned to Scotland.®

'Cox's History of Ireland.

2At this time wheat sold at 23 shillings the cronage, and oats at
six shillings ; and all other provisions dear in proportion. Z_Cox’s History
of Ireland.

[* Bruce’s head, after the barbarous fashion of the day, was pre-
scrved in salt.]

3Lodge’s Peerage. Cox's History of Ireland.—Bruce’s grave is
still pointed out by a large stone on the hill of Fagher, as that of ** the
last Irish king.” “Barbour states, that it was the head of Gilbert Harper
that was cut off, his body bcmff mistaken for that of Bruce, by the
richness of his armour.

4 Barbour. Spenser’s View of Ireland.

5 Universal History. Camden’s Britannia.

[Edward Bruce so far ingratiated himself with the Irish that they crownel
him King at Knocknemelan, near Dundalk, where he held his Court for sonie
time.—Lodge’s Peerage.]

[In contradiction of the above, Taylor, in the Pictorial History of
Scotland, states that the coronation of Edward Bruce as King of Ircland
took place at Carrickfergus on the 2nd May, 1316. He draws his.
information from Barbour, who is the author of a metrical history or
gencalogy of the Kings of Scotland and who lived about the same time
as Robert and Edward Bruce. Both accounts have been given, and if
this by Taylor be true Carrickfergus may be considered a royal town,
and the place where the last King of Ireland was crowned.]



CHAPTER 1.

HOUGH the Scots were completely expelled from the
T kingdom, yet Carrickfergus, having endured the miseries
of war for upwards of three years, must have been
nearly, if not wholly, depopulated. It enjoyed, however, but
a short repose; for, in 1333, it was, with the rest of Ulster,
thrown into the deepest confusion by the death of William De
Burgo, third earl of Ulster, governor, who was murdered on
the 6th June, by his own servants, as he returned from hunting,
at “the fords,”*® near this town.? Robert Fitz-Richard
Maundevill gave him the first wound. The murderers are
said to have been instigated by Gyle De Burgo, wife of Sir
Richard Maundevill, in revenge for the earl having imprisoned
her brother Walter, and other relations.®
Immediately after this event, the widow of the late earl
of Ulster, with her infant daughter Elizabeth, fled into
England; and the powerful sept of the O’Neills, of Tyrone,
and their feudatories, taking advantage of the confusion of
the colonists, who were now without a head, crossed the river
Bann, and entering the pale, seized their ancient possessions as
far as this town.* This district, and a large tract of country

! Northward of this town, and at the extremity of the ancient
boundaries of this county, is a ford called Johnston’s-ford ; a little nearer
the town, also on the boundaries of this district, Beltye-ford; and in the
same dlrectlon but nearer, is Clubb’s-ford : mlght not those places be
‘“the fords’'¥ noticed above?

[* This event took place between ““Craigfergus and Newtown
at the ford across the Lagan, the site of the future Belfast. "_See

Lodge's Pecrago vol. 1, p. 124. Annals of Ireland. Annals of Lough
Cee, vol. 1, p. 617.]

3 Lodge s Peerage.
> Lodge’s Peerage.
¢ Lodge’s Peerage. Davis’s Historical Tracts.
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northward, thence changed its name from Dalaradia, to North
or Lower Clan-Aodh-Buidhe, from being possessed by the sepz
of Aodh, or Hugh O'Neill, the yellow,; which name it retained
for several centuries: hence Clanbuy, Clanboy, Clandeboy, or
Clanneboy.!

On the news of the earl’s murder reaching Dublin, a
parliament was called by "Sir John Darcy, lord deputy, by
advice of which he sailed on the first July for Carrickfergus,
where, with the assistance of the people, “he destroyed the
murderers and their abettors,” putting upwards of three
hundred of them to the sword; and in all pardons granted
about this time, the following clause was inserted— Excepting
the death of William, late earl of Ulster.”? By an inquisition
taken before Sir John Morris, escheator of Ulster, on the 8th
December, 7th Edward IIIL., it is declared, that, there were
divers lands belonging to the late earl in Ulster, which are
situated in the Irish parts, so that no person could come near
the same, or receive any profit thereout, because the Irish in
those places would not perrhit any of the king’s ministers, or
any English there. The deputy, immediately after this
chastisement of the rebels, sailed from hence for Scotland,
ravaged the Scottish isles, and did otherwise considerable
execution against the Scots.®

Notwithstanding these excursions of the deputy, the Irish
continued masters of all the northern parts of Ulster, except a
district about this place; and the powerful family of the De
Burgos, seeing their chief cut off without male issue, “ and no
man left to govern or protect that province,” joined heartily
with the Irish, seized the late earl’s lands, assumed Irish names,
and became completely Irish in manners, language, and apparel.*

Some younger branches of the family divided their seniory
between them, one of them taking the name of Mac William
oughter, and the other Mac William eighter, i.e. the further and
the neter Mac William. The inferior branches of the family
also adopted Irish names, as Mac Hubbard, Mac Walter, Mac
David, &c.®

For some years the English government in Ulster appears
to have been almost totally superseded by the Irish; who were

! Davis’s Historical Tracts. Harris's History of the County Down.
? Lodge’s Peerage.

* Cox’s History of Ireland.

* Davis’s Historical Tracts.

* Davis’s Historical Tracts.
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also assisted by the Scots, whose interest it was to keep up a
constant warfare; as, besides the plunder obtained on those
occasions, they were also supplied with provisions, in reward
for their services. In 1338, an order was sent by the lord
deputy to the constable of this castle, to punish all those who
could be found carrying provisions to them.!

In 1361, Lionel, duke of Clarence, lord deputy, third son
of Edward III. who in 1352 had married Elizabeth,* only
child and heir to William, late earl of Ulster, arrived in Ireland
with about 1500 men at arms.? Being heir by his wife to the
titles and estates of her father, he soon began to attempt the
recovery of the latter; and we are informed he succeeded in
recovering “the maritime parts of Ulster” from the enemy ;*
but as we do not find that he was able to bring the O’Neills,
or their allies, even to a show of submission, it is likely his
conquests were very limited, both in their extent and duration.

In such a state of warfare and confusion as that which
had prevailed since the invasion of Bruce, the state of the
inhabitants must have been miserable almost beyond description.
They were, however, destined to still further calamities; for, in
1386, the Scots came and burned the town;* but as the castle
is not noticed as sharing in this conflagration, it is probable that
it not only resisted the efforts of the enemy, but also served as
an asylum for the few inhabitants who still survived. Soon
after, we find the mayor and burgesses requesting assistance
from the lord deputy (Robert de Vere, marquis of Dublin) to
rebuild their town, declaring that they were unable of them-
selves. The deputy, in his order of the zoth April, the
following year, directs, “by the advice of our justices and
others,” Thomas Alwayn, treasurer of Ulster, to remit to them
the rents of the corporation, “ to build and repair the said towne,
totally burned by our enemies and the enemies of our Lord
the King, the Scotch.”®

This building, or repair, was perhaps scarcely completed,
when it again shared a like fate. In June, 1400, the English
fleet, commanded by the constable of Dublin castle, engaged

! MSS. Lambeth Library.

[* Elizabeth, ancestress of Edward IV., through whom the earldom
passed into the possession of the crown.]

2 Davis’s Historical Tracts. Lodge’s Peerage.

® Davis’s Historical Tracts.

¢ Close Rolls, Tower, London.

% Close Rolls, Tower, London.

3
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that of the Scots, off Strangford, county of Down; but the
former being defeated, the Scots and Irish again ravaged the
English possessions in Ulster.! This town appears to have
been again destroyed about this time; for in the patent office,
art. 74, part 7, is the following notice, which in all likelihood
has an allusion to this event. “ The King, &c. to all &c., health.
The Maior, &c. and three burgesses of the Towne of Crag-
Fergus, in Ireland, have supplicated us, that whereas the said
towne had been totally burned by our enemies, and they had
resolved on rebuilding it again, &c. As the said Towne was
wont, before the destruction mentioned above, to paye to Us
annually, 100 shillings for our protectinge it, we have excused
the said Maior, Burgesses, &c. from payinge the said revenue
due to us, for the space of one whole yeare. Witness, &c.
Seconde day of July, 1402.”

From the confusion of those times, we are not informed
how far the above persons succeeded in rebuilding the town;
but from their slender means, and the predatory visits of the
Irish and Scots, with whom it would seem they were in a state
of constant warfare, we may fairly infer that their progress
was both slow and imperfect.

In 1408, we find this warfare still continued with all the
horrid rigour of that age. This is strikingly exemplified in the
case of two brothers of the name of Savage, who were taken
prisoners, and a ransom soon after paid for their liberation;
yet they were murdered by an Irish chief called Mac Gilmore,
who in the following year was killed by the Savages in the
church of the Franciscans, Carrickfergus.?

In 1430, the bounds of that part of the kingdom commonly
called the English pale, extended no farther than Down;*® and
in 1460, we find all Ulster, save “ some few Places on the Sea-
Coast,” in possession of the Irish;* and the English settlers
who remained, obliged to compromise with them for their safety,
by paying an annual tribute called “ Black rent.”® 1471, only
the revenues of the manor of Carlingford were subject to the
crown of England;® and in 1476, the revenues of the pale were
in such a miserable state, that a standing army of 140 horsemen,

! Cox’s History of Ireland. Leland’s History of Ireland.
2 Ware’s Annals. Cox’s History of Ireland.

? Anthologia Hibernica.

¢ Cox’s History of Ireland.

? Cox’s History of Ireland.

¢ Harris’s Hibernica.
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the annual expenses of whom were valued at £s500, was thought
too great for the revenue of the Irish government.?

Under all these privations, the English appear to have still
kept their footing here, protected on all emergencies by the
castle ; its lofty and massy walls being easily defended. Except
in the extreme case of Bruce’s invasion, it appears to have
successfully resisted the efforts of all enemies, foreign and
domestic.

1481, This year we find John Bayne mayor; on the
22d June, same year, he was joined in a commission with
Patrick Holyborton, and Henry Pole, captain of the “ Fleet,”
to form “a league and friendship ” with Donald Gorme, ea*'
of Ross, and lord of the isles,> who at this time resisted the
claims of James V. to those titles and estates.®

1497, a dreadful famine raged in Ulster; and in 13500,
we find Ulster in open rebellion against the English, which was
same year suppressed for a time, by Gerald, earl of Kildare,
lord deputy. Autumn, 1503, the above deputy took the castle
of Belfast from the Irish, which he “ demolished,” and came to
Carrickfergus, where he placed a numerous garrison, leaving
one Stanton constable of the castle, and governor.*

In the two following years we find Ulster suffering under
the awful calamities of famine and pestilence: a wet summer
and autumn are assigned as the cause of the former.* In 1513,
a body of Scottish troops, under James Hamilton, first Earl of
Arran, landed on the adjoining coast ; they sailed from the Firth
of Forth on the 2oth of July. His Majesty James IV. was on
board, at the time of sailing, to animate the commanders and
men ; and continued in the ship Michael, until the fleet passed
the Isle of May. Regardless of his instructions, on the depar-
ture of his Majesty, Arran landed his troops near Carrickfergus,
which town he took and burned, with several villages, on the
same coast, in revenge for some depredations committed by the
Irish on the people of the Isle of Arran. It appears, from
respectable evidence, that this descent of the Scots was marked
by the utmost barbarity. Sir David Lindsay, a Scottish poet,
in his “History of Squayer Meldrum,” “ has celebrated in strains
far from fanciful,” the actions of the said “ Squayer,” in

! Harris’s Hibernica.’

3 Close Rolls, Tower, London.

* Lodge’s Peerage.

¢ Ware’s Annals.. Cox’s History of Ireland
* Ware’s Annals.
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protecting, on this occasion, the priest and friars from the
ruthless soldiery ; and his deliverance of a virgin from violence.

Speaking of the landing of the Scots, he says :—
‘“And as they passit be Ireland coist,
The Admiral gart land his oist,
And set Craigfergus into fyre,
And safet nouther barne nor byre;
It was greit pitie for to heir
Of the pepill the wailfull cheirs,
And how the land follkk were spwilyeit,
Fair woman under fute were fullivait,
But this young Squayer bauld and wright,
Savit all women, quhare he might,
All preistis and freiris he did save,
Till at the last he did persave, ’
Behind ane garding amiabill,
Ane woman's voce right lamentabill.”’
The “ Squayer” then proceeds to rescue the young lady from

two men. Soon after, Arran steered for Ayr, and landed his
plunder in safety." (See M‘Skimin’s Appendix.)

1522, we find the Scots again plundering the coasts of
Ulster ;> and two years afterward, John Allen, master of the
rolls, reporting to the king that his “ laws were not obeyed twenty
miles in compass.”® 1543, this town was garrisoned by the
forces under Thomas, the tenth earl of Ormond,* who same
year marched hence into Belfast, at which place his army is
stated to have “waded over on foot;* by which is doubtless
meant, crossing the ford, where the Long Bridge at that town
now is.

1551, Sir James Crofts, lord deputy, arrived here, and
soon after proceeded with part of his forces against the island
of Rathlin, or Raughery. The expedition proved highly
unfortunate ; his army was repulsed with considerable loss, and
himself and captain Bagnal taken prisoners by James and Col

! Lindsay’s Squayer Meldrum. Pinkerton’s History of Scotland.

* Ware’s Annals.

* Davis’s Historical Tracts.

¢ About November, 1545, Sir Anthony St. Ledger, lord deputy,
embarked 1,500 men at Dublin, under the command of Sir John Travecs
and the earl of Ormond, for the purpose of assisting the earl of Len:cx
In Scotland. They came to anchor at Olderflect, where a storm coming
on, they were obliged to cut their cables and masts, and make for the
Clyde; but were again driven back to the Irish coast, where, being
unable to proceed further, they landed their men. The troops were then
marched to Carrickfergus, from which place they soon set off for
Dublin. The weather was very severe, and the: Lagan frozen over, and
yet the men passed over on foot to Strangford, and from thence to
Dundatk. Travers, with his division, proceeded by the Ards, where he
had several skirmishes with the Irish.—Stanhurst. (See M‘Skimin’s App.)

% Hollinshed’s Chronicle.
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or Collus Mac Donnell: he also lost one of his vessels. The
deputy and Bagnal were soon after exchanged for Sorley-buy
Mac Donnell, brother to the above Mac Donnells, who, at the
time of their capture, was a prisoner in the castle of Dublin.?

In December, the following year, Hugh Mac Neal Oge,
of Clandeboy, submitted to the English government; which so

‘ gratified his majesty, that he granted him the Franciscan
monastery, Carrickfergus, with leave “to keep there secular
priests ; " certainly a great favour at that time, all religious
houses having been previously suppressed.

1555, the Scots, under James Mac Donnell, again landed
on the neighbouring coast, and laid siege to this town, which
they continued to invest till the following year. About the
beginning of July, 1556, the deputy, Thomas Ratcliff, lord
Fitz-Walter, marched from Dublin with an army, accompanied
by Sir Henry Sidney, and Thomas earl of Ormond. On the
18th same month, they arrived here, and defeated the Scots
with great slaughter; Sir Henry Sidney killed James Mac
Donnell with his own hand: many also were taken prisoners.
Immediately after, Sir John Stanley, who had distinguished
himself in this battle; was made lieutenant governor of Ulster;
and the deputy “ having decreed something to the advantage of
the publick peace in the City of Knockfergus,” and left ample
stores for the garrison, returned to Dublin.®

About the beginning of October, 1558, the lord deputy,
Thomas Ratcliff (by the death of his father, now earl of Sussex),
arrived here from his expedition against the Scots, during which
he had taken Rathlin, and placed a garrison and colony there;
but lost one of his ships on its rocks during a storm, in which
were some citizens of Dublin. He also ravaged Cantyre, Arran,
and the Comraes, and burned all such villages on the coast of
Ulster as belonged to the Scots.*

1568, February rsth, a large party of Scots, commanded
by Owen Mac Gillaspiche,® landed on the opposite shore of
Down, and proceeded to Castlereagh, to “enthrone” a new

! Ware’s Annals. Cox's History of Ireland.

*Cox’s History of Ireland.

? Cox’s History of Ireland. Ware’s Annals. Perhaps it is from the
above ‘‘ decrees,” that tradition states ‘‘ a parliament was held here.”’

* Cox’s History of Ireland. Ware’s Annals.

* From MSS. in the possession of the author, it is believed that this
person was Gillaspig Due Mac Donnell, a natural son of Nisse, and
grandson of Nisse Ieogh Mac Donnell.



22

king of Clandeboy. On the night of the 18th same month,
captain Peirs, governor, and part of the troops of this garrison,
marched hence with the utmost privacy, in order to surprise the
Scots; and, crossing the river Lagan, succeeded in taking
shelter in a wood, unperceived by the enemy who were at that
time busied in “ collecting a prey ; ” or in other words, plunder-
ing the English settlements. The following morning, captain
Peirs, issuing from the wood, attacked the Scots with vigour,
and obtained a complete victory, above 200 of the enemy being
killed, amongst whom was their commander. On the part of
the English fell Richard Hunt, much regretted as a brave
soldier ; and the ensign was “torne in Titters.”*

In September, the above vear, Sir Henry Sidney, lord
deputy, arrived here; to whom Turlough Lynogh of Tyrone,
a powerful Irish chief, who claimed to be chief of the O’Neills
on the death of his brother Shane,* came and made his sub-
mission, begging the deputy’s pardon with great humility.? At
the same time, some Scottish hostages were executed;® and
before leaving this town, the deputy passed some decrees for
its better government, for which see Appendix, No. 1.

This submission of Turlough Lynogh appears to have
been of short duration, as in the following year we find him
invading the pale; and the deputy, about the same time, writing
to the council in England, informs them that captain Selbie,
and Bawmforde, “ Clerke of the Checke,” going from Carrick-
fergus with fifty horsemen, were three times chased by the
.rish.*

1570, we find the Irish still in open rebellion, and collected
about this town, near which they were attacked and defeated
by captain William Peirs, who, for this “ Service, was by the

! Letters of Sir Henry Sidney.

[* Shane O’Neill was killed by Captain William Peirs, near Cushen-
dun, who cut off his head and pickled it in a pipkin, for which he was
rewarded by Queen Elizabeth with 1,000 marks.

Sunday, June 21st, 1908, a cairn was erected at Cushendun to the
memory of Shane O’Neill.]

? He had also made his submission the foregoing year. April, 1567,
Sir Henry Sidney, writing to the queen, says, ‘‘ Turloghe Lynoghe
sheweth himselfe a devote Subjecte to your Highness, dailie Embrouynge
himself in the Blood of the Rebells Followers.” He had previously
killed Alexander Mac Donnell, brother to Sorleybouy, and one of his
sons; and was married to the widow of James Mac Donnell.—Letters
of Sir Henry Sidney.

? Cox’s History of Ireland.

¢ Cox’s History of Ireland. Letters of Sir Henry Sidney.
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Queenes Order liberally Rewarded."1 In the following year,
we find this town noticed as an “important place for crubing
the Irish.”2

1573, on the 2gth May, the corporation addressed a letter
to the lord deputy Fitzwilliam, complaining of the conduct of
Thomas Smyth, governor in the absence of captain Peirs. They
state that he had abused them, and hindered their trade; and
conclude by requesting leave to sell their * wynes, aqua vita,
cloth, saffron, salt, and such lyke,” “to any, as well rebells as
others.” It is added, that the inhabitants “ are become So pore,
as the third parte of the said Towne is ruynate.” On the 6th
June, the deputy returned a polite answer to their memorial:
for both papers, copied from the records of this corporation,
see Appendix, No. 1I1.

Immediately after, the following notices appear in the
records of Carrickfergus: as they are brief and interesting,
we give them in full “1573, In this yeare the 2d daye of
June, was the Towne of Knockfergus for the most parte
destroyed by fier, by reason of Captain Smyth’s departure out
of the Same with his force, not leaving Sufficient force to defend
the Same, by Sur Brian M‘Phellime (O’Neill) & his Co-
partners.”

In the Same Yeare, aboughte the 2oth of August, came the
right honourable the Earle of Essexe®** into this land, as Lord

1Ware’s Annals.

2Ware’s Annals. Life of Sir Thomas Smyth.

3 Walter Devereux, Earl of Essex, has been appointed captain general
and governor of Ulster, and was at this time the chief of a band of military
adventurers. He had indentured with the queen to raise and maintain 200
horse and 400 foot soldiers, for two years ; and for this purpose he had mort-
gaged his estate in Essex to the queen for £10,000. Her majesty was also
to keep up an equal number of troops in said province ; and all fortifications
were to be made at the equal charge of the parties. To encourage adven-
turers, each horse volunteer, who would serve gratis two years, was to have
400 acres of land, at two pence per acre ; and each foot soldier 200 acres,
on the like terms. Lcave was also granted to cut timber in the woods of
Killulta ; to transport the growth of the country, for seven years, free of
duties ; and to import all English goods, custom free. The earl was to
plant his land with 1000 English settlers.

The lateness of the season when he landed, and the rawness of his
troops, prevented any great exploit being pertormed so soon as his friends
could have wished. Hence, many became dissatisfied. Lord Rich soon
after returned to England, as did Sir Henry Knowles, and many others, on
different pretences. On the first December, he wrote to the earl of Sussex
for fresh supplies ; but his enemy, the earl of Leicester, counteracted every
application of this kind. However, he made some advances into the
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Governour of the Province of Uister, accompanied with
many a lusty Gentleman, and landed in this Towne of Knock-
fergus.” “The Earl of Essexe, with the Lord Rich and other
Gentlemen embarked at Liverpoole ; after many perils, the
ship he was in made Copeman’s Island (Cogeland Isles), from
whence in a pinnace he reached Knockfergus. Lord Rich made
Kilicliffe Castle, and was then conducted to Inch Abby (Maister
Malbie’s house), from whence, with a guard of 150 horsemen,
beside fifty kerns that went on foot through the woods, he was
conducted safely to Knockfergus ; among these were thirty bows,
with a bagpipe ; the rest had darts.”!

Besides those already noticed, who on the 6th September
made their submission and offered their services to the
earl, were Rory Oge M‘Quillin O’Donnell, and the captain of
Killulta.? The earl brought with him some troops, both
horse and foot, and was accompanied by lords Darcy and Rich,
Sir Henry Knowles, and four of his brothers, relations of said

country, drove the island Scots out of Clandeboy, and ‘‘took the castle of
Liffer (Lifford) from Con O’Donnell” ; but, making little progress, and
receiving many angry messages from court, he resigned his command, and
retired to Dublin, where he died of a broken heart, Sept. 22, 1576.—Cox’s
History of Ireland. MSS. Lambeth Library. Life of Sty Thomas Smyth.
Camden’s Annals of Queen Elizabeth.

Within these few years there were some vestiges of the house in which
he dwelt in Carrickfergus, at the south end, east side of Essex-streer, other-
wise Cranagh-bawn ; the former of which names was taken from him. The
walk adjoining the house was also called, from him, Governor’s walk : lately
changed to Governor’s place. A double row of elm trees remained on this
walk till 1820. At the west end was an embattled bastion, called Essex-
mount ; perhaps from its being raised by him. The last of its battlements
and embrasures fell in the winter of 1801 ; but a small part of the west side
of the bastion still remains. Essex-street, or Cranaghbawn, was formerly
called ‘“the street to Essex’s mount.”

[No trace of the bastion now remains, ]

[#Several of Essex’s officers remained in this country, so that the enterprise
was not entirely fruitless as a colonising experiment. Of these are noticed the
founders of the noble families of Downshire, Templeton, Massereene, and also
Dalway, Dobbs, &c.

The Earl of Essex gives a general picture of the entire country in these
words : ‘“ At my arrival here I found the countries in arms, and no place out
of the hands of the Irish rebels or Scots, but only the town of Knockfergus,
which the townsmen meant to leave and abandon, having prepared all things
for their journey into the English Pale; but the townsmen, taking heart by the
bruit of her Majesty’s army to be sent under me, staid their determination, and
have now settled themselves in their habitation.”—See Carew MSS., 1515-
1574.]

- 1 Holingshed’s Chronicle.

2 Holingshed’s Chronicle.
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earl, Michael Carves, and Henry, William, and John Norris,
three sons of lord Norris.!

Soon after the earl’s arrival, Brian M‘Phellimy (O’Neill)
came and made his submission, congratulating the earl on his
arrival, and offering his services; as did Mac Gillespie, Mac
Guile, Hugh O’Neill, baron of Dungannon, and several other
Irish chiefs.> These visits appear to have been made for other
purposes than those of friendship, as Brian had previously
driven off all his cattle,} to the amount of thirty thousand, into
the interior of the country ; and now, seeing that the earl’s forces
were not so numerous as had been reported, again rebelled,
and joined Turlough Lynogh O’Neill, and the above Hugh, in
open rebellion.?

1574. The records of Carrickfergus, of this date, contain
the following interesting memorandums, which we deem highly
authentic, although in direct contradiction to all historical
authorities that we know of : we therefore give them verbatim.
“ 1574, Certaine Butlers delivered by the maior of Knockfergus
by Commission from the Lord of Essexe, unto Burkes, Clerke
of the Victualls, which Butlers were by the Sayd maior taken
upp in this Towne, the 8th daye of Novembre last past, by
the commandment of the Sayd Earle, Mr. John Norryes being
Generall under the Sayd Earle heare; which 8th daye, Sur
Brian M‘Phellime, (O’Neill) knight, chiefe of Clandeboy, &
Rowry Ogg M‘Quillin, chiefe of the Route, were at Belfaste
taken prisoner, & his Butlers, taken up by the Sayd Command-
ment as aforesayd, and delivered by Mr. Maior, which beareth
date the sth of February.”—*“ June 1575, In this Sayd month
Sur Brian M‘Phellime (O’Neill), & Rowry Ogg M‘Quillin, were
executed in this Towne.” #* The records are silent as to the
charges against those persons; but Camden, in his “ Annals of

1 Cox’s History of Ireland.

2 Camden’s Annals of Queen Elizabeth.

+ Brian Ballagh O’Neill having preyed the cattle of the inhabitants of
Carrickfergus, they offered to ransom them by giving him a certain quantity of
wine, silk, saffron; but Brian, getting hold of the wine beforehand, he ‘‘drank
the same wine,” and restored not one of the cattle, which was a ‘“‘greate
hyndrance and impediment to the sayd poore townesmen.”—MSS. See
M<Skimin’s Appendix.

3 Camden’s Annals of Queen Elizabeth. Cox’s History of Ireland.

4Camden, in his Annals of Queen Elizabeth. states that the above
Brian and Rowry Ogg were half hrothers, and that they were taken in
an engagement in which ‘‘ two hundred 7/75%2” were slain. Leland, in his
History of Ireland, quotes an Irish manuscript, which has the following
strange account: ‘‘ Anno 1574, a solemn peace and concord was made



26

Queen Elizabeth,” informs us that Brian had treacherously
killed an English captain called “Moore” and also secretly
formed a treaty with Turlough Lynogh O’'Neill, and the
“Hebridian Scotts.”

between the earl of Essex and Felim O'Neill. However, at a feast wherein
the earl entertained that chieftain, and at the end of their good cheer, O’Neill
and his wife were seized ; their friends who attended were put to the sword
before their faces ; Felim, together with his wife and brother, were conveyed
to Dublin, where they were cut up in quarters.”

Curry, in his Review of the Civil Wars in Ireland, has the following
notice on this subject, which he says is copied from an Irish manuscript in
Trinity College, Dublin ; likely the same alluded to by Leland. ‘¢ Walter,
earl of Essex, on the conclusion of a peace, invited Bryan O’Nial, of Clan-
deboy, with a great number of his relations, to an entertainment, where they
lived together in great harmony, making good cheer for three days and
nights ; when on a sudden, O’Nial was surprised with an arrest, together
with his brother and wife, by the earl’s order. His friends were put to the
sword before his faee, nor were the women and children spared; he was
himself, with his brother and wife, sent to Dublin, where they were cut in
quarters.”

We have laid these accounts before the reader, without comment. We
acknowledge that we prefer the account given in our records ; they were not
written to serve any party, and appear, throughout, merely matter of fact.

[* The assassination of Sir Brian MacFelim O’Neill is also noticed in the
Annals of the Four Masters, at the year 1574. Two hundred of O’Neill’s
followers, in attempting to save him, were put to the sword.]



CHAPTER I1].

N August, the last mentioned year, “ General John Norryes”
sailed hence with a body of troops to the island of Rathlin
or Raughery, which he took from the Scots by assault,

with its castle, ravaged the country, killed 240 men,! and left
a garrison in it to secure his conquest.?

On the 6th of September following, Sorlebuye Mac Donnell
attacked this town with a considerable force. The garrison,
consisting of “captain Norryes’ and Baker's companies,” also
such of the inhabitants as were able to bear arms, at length
succeeded in repulsing the Scots, after a desperate engagement,
in which captain Baker and several other officers, and about
100 soldiers, were killed, with Wolston Elderton, alderman,
‘Gregory Grafton, town-clerk, and fourteen other inhabitants.®
In October, same year, Sir Henry Sidney, lord deputy, arrived
here with 60oo horse and foot, and soon brought Mac Donnell
to submission, which was followed by that of Mac Mahon,
O’Donnell, Mac Guire, and Turlough Lynogh O’Neill.4

Respecting the visit of the’deputy, we find the following
notice in our records. “Octobre 8th, 1575, The 8th daye of
this month Sur Henry Sydneye, of the most noble Order
Knyght, Lord Deputye Generall of Irelande, came unto this
Towne and made Peace with the Skotts, & delivered the
Rawghlins to ther Custody, and called home the Ward ther
resydent.” > The deputy, writing to England, on the 14th
November, an account of this expedition, has the following
interesting account of his journey hither: on coming near
Belfast, he says, “ In the Confynes of this Countrie, (as I take
ity I was offered Skermishe by Mac Neill Brian Ertaugh,® at

! Records of Carrickfergus. Camden says 400 of the inhabitants were
killed. As in every other case, we prefer the account given in our records.

2 Camden’s Annals of Queen Elizabeth.

3 Records of Carrickfergus.

4 Ware’s Annals.

- ® The garrison consisted of a ward and 40 men; who, for want of pro-
visions, had been under the necessity of eating their horses. One of the
causes assigned by the deputy for its evacuation was the want of fresh water.
Letters of Sir Henry Sidney.—At present there are two fresh water lakes in
Rathlin, and several never-failing springs.

¢ This person appears to have been Neal Mac Brian Terlagh O’Neill,
father of Con, of Castlereagh— Grand Inquisition of the County Down.
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my Passage over the Water at Belfaste ; which I cawsed to be
answred, and passed over without Losse of Man or Horsse,
vet, by Reason of the Tyvdes extrordanarie Retorne, oure
Horsies swamme, and the Footemen, in the Passage waded
nye depe.” “The Towne of Carickfergus, I found moche
decaied and impoverished, no Ploughes going at all, where
before were manye, and great Store of Kyne and Cattle,
beloynge to the Towne, nowe few or none lefte, Churche and
Howsies, saving Castells, burned; the Inhabiteants fled, not
above five Howseholders of any Couentenance leaft
remayninge ; so that their miserable State, and servil Feare,
was to be pittied, yet the So comforted to heare of her Majesties
gracious Disposition to wall thir Towne (whereby they assured
themselves of Saffetye and quiett Dwellinge hereaftere), so that
Hope hathe, and doth procure, and drawye dyvers to resorte
and boyld there.”

1576. In April, we find the following notice in our
records :—*“ In this said Cowrt Myhill Savidg, John Savidg,
with others were fyned for neglecting ther duty in not answering
to assist the maior, being misused in the Streate, by Captain
Loovyd & his Soldiours.” Soon after, a commission was sent
to the mayor, the bishop of Down and Connor, and captain
William Peirs, “ Seniscall of the Country,” to make an inquiry
into this “ Garboyle.” By this court the soldiers were sentenced
to be punished, and put out of this garrison; and captain
Loovyd “to be disarmed in the market-place, as a note of
infamy,” and afterwards pilloried, with the following label on
his breast:—* For assulting the maior, smyting the Bishopp,
and for mutiny,” and afterwards banished from the town.?
About the same time we find Turlough Lynogh O’Neill
requesting to be made free of this corporation; but he was
afterwards dissuaded from it by his wife (widow of James
Mac Donnell), who alleged that he would not be able to keep
the oaths of admission; * a thing certainly not unlikely, when
we consider how often he had previously been engaged in
rebellion.

1578. The government having received account “of
treatrrous and hostile attempts,” being intended against this

1 Letters of Sir Henry Sidney.
2 Records of Carrickfergus.
3 Letters of Sir Henry Sidney.
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town, on the 16th June the lord deputy and council wrote to
the mayor, informing him of the same, and warning him to be
“carefull and circumspecte ; ” and to furnish them immediately
with a state of the town, ammunition, and provisions, and also
of the people capable of bearing arms, who were directed to
“redie and order the Walles, Towres, Rampiers, and dyches,”
as far as in their power, as for the contrary they should answer
at their extreme peril.!

1581. In the records of Carrickfergus of this date, we
find the following interesting notices; as they are short, we
give a copy. AR i

A Grey. By the L. Deputie.

Wereas we are geven to understand, that contrarie to
the Lawes and statutes of this Realme, ther ys a yearlie exacton
ymposed upon that hir majesties Town of Carigfergus, called
Breyne Balafs Erick. claimed by the Lord of that Countrey,
which Irishe exaccon as it is forbidden by hir majesties Lawes,
not to be used or such lyke amongst hir majesties good subjects ;
so in lyke sorte we straightlie chardge and comand you in hir
majesties name not to yeld thereunto henceforth; but for that
the same may be suppressed as a custome forbidden by Lawe,
and all other wrongful challandges and exaccons, as Loughe
ympies.® and other Irish buyngs forbidden by Lawe, and tacken
by force and extercionable meanes, we also will and comaund
you to see the same suppressed and not heareafter to be used,
as for the contrarie doings you will aunswree at your extreme
perills, geven at hir majesties Castell of Dublin the Tenthe
of Apnill 1581.

“To our welbeloved the maior and Inhabitants of hir

majesties Towne of Carigfergus.”

“A. Grey. By the Lord Deputie.
“Wereas we are geven to understand by the maior
and Inhabitaunts of hir majesties Towne of Carigfergus, that

1 Records of Carrickfergus.

2 The above mentioned custom appears to have been a fragment of the
Brechon law ; erick, or eriack, signifying a fine, or recompense, paid for a
murder committed.—See Spenszr’s View of Ireland.

3 Loughyempie, or loughhimpy, was a fine paid by an erenag’ to the bishop
his diocese, on the marrriage of any of his daughters.—See Davis’s Historical
Tracts.

[Brian O’Neill was engaged at the time he was killed in driving from
the Commons ‘“a prey of cattle®” belonging to the freemen of Carrickfergus,
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they have byn often prayed and spoyled as well of kyne and
horses as of other goodes by Con Mac Neal Oge, whiche goodes
are dispearsed up and downe the contrey without any restitucon
to the poore Inhabitaunts: for the recovery of which we have
thoughte good to authorise you and every of you to take up all
such kyne and horses, as were taken from the said Towne, and
which they shall fynd in the custodie of any hir majesties
subjects, and the same so taken up to converte to the use of
the partie from whome the said Goodes were taken; for doinge
whereof this shall be your warrant; geven at hir majesties
Castell of Dublin the roth of Aprill, 1581.

“To our welbeloved the maior of his majestics Towne of
Carigfergus and the aldermen of the same; and the
inhabitants thereof.”

In 1582 there “came out of France in one summer three
Barkes of forty tones a piece, discharged their lading of excellent
good Gascoygne wyne at Carrickfergus, the whiche they sowlde
for ix. cowes skynnes the hoggeshead.”

1583. The records of this year furnish a curious account
of several marauding excursions made on the inhabitants by
Hugh Mac Phelimy O'Neill, Cormac O'Neill, “capten of
Kilulta,” Donald Gorme Mac Donnell, and others; for a full
account of which, in answer to their complaints, see Appendix,
No. III.

1585. This year, two merchants of Carrickfergus were
plundered by “ Agnus Mac Connell (Donnell), and his People,”
on which a complaint was made to queen Elizabeth; who,
amongst other things, wrote to king James of Scotland on this
subject. His majesty, in his answer, dated St. Andrew’s, August
8th, same year, declares that he will have justice done in this
business, and forbid the parties from making “incursions and
Inroads upon that Country of Ireland,” and that all persons
doing the like should be deemed guilty of treason; and that he
would give orders to “ M ac Allen,” to treat them as such!

1591. Our records of May this year, contain a letter from
the lord deputy Fitzwilliam, to baron Slane, Sir Henry Bagnell,
and others, directing them to meet and settle the difference
between the inhabitants of this district, and Charles Egerton,

and the chieftains of Clanaboy continued for nearly two centuries to exact, in
punishment for his death, a cattle fine from the unfortunate burgesses. In
Elizabeth’s time this was £40 per annum.]

1 A manuscript letter of Queen Elizabeth to King James,
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the constable of her majesty’s castle here. For a copy of said
letter see Appendix, No. IV.

1592. A proclamation was issued here by Christopher
Carleill, governor of the Clandeboys, &c., respecting the holding
of markets within his government. As this document, copied
from our records, is highly interesting by throwing light on the
general state of the counties of Down and Antrim, prior to its
being issued, we have given a correct copy of it, in Appendix,
No. V.

1594. Captain Thomas Lee, writing to the queen, says,
the English forces in “ Knockfergus and the Claneboyes,”
amounted only to 1oo foot, and 25 horse.? Even those appear
to have been ill paid; as, in October the following year, the
troops here mutinied for want of provisions, and, taking their
arms, proceeded to leave the town. A meeting of the inhabitants
was immediately bheld to provide for their relief; when John
Charden, bishop of Down and Connor, then residing here, gave
them some cattle off his manor of Kilroot, which put a stop to
this mutiny.?

1597. November 4th, James Mac Sorely Mac Donnell
came near this town with a body of armed men, daring the
garrison ; when Sir John Chichester, governor, marched out to
attack the enemy, with such troops of the garrison as could be
spared. On this movement, Mac Donnell retreated; and Sir
Jobn, in the pursuit, fell into an ambuscade of Highlanders.
placed in the glen of Alffrackyn8 The party were instantly
surrounded, and nearly cut to pieces; and Sir John, being
taken prisoner, was beheaded by Mac Donnell, on a stone, near
“the Glynn."*

1600. The distracted state of the country at this time, is
evident from an extract of a letter from Sir Arthur Chichester

1 Curry’s Review of the Civil Wars in Ireland.

2 Records of Carrickfergus.

3 Altfrackyn is the Old Mill Glen, near Red-hall, on the estate of Richard
Gervas Ker, Esq.

[The Red-hall property remained in the family of Kerr until the 15th of
{anuary, 1869, when it and other properties of David Stewart Kerr were sold

y order of the Landed Estates Court. The purchaser of Red-hall and part
of Aldfrick and Forthill was John Macauley. In 1902 Red-hall was bought
by W. J. Porrit, of Torside and St. Ann’s-on-the-Sea, in Lancashire. ]

4 Lodge’s Peerage MSS.—In the following reign, Mac Donnell, having
obtained his pardon, and being in Carrickfergus, went to see the family
monument of the Chichesters, in St. Nicholas’ Church; and seeing the effigy
of Sir John Chichester, asked *‘ how the deil he cam to get his head again?
for he was sure he had anes taen it frae him.”’—ZLodge’s Peevage.
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to the lord deputy Mountjoy, dated from Carrickfergus in May,
in which he says, “divers Gentlemen and others did daily fly
from the Rebels, and resort unto him with their Goods, to the
Number of 1200 Cows, and more would come, but that he
doubted their Faithfulness. That to free himself of the
Imputation to keep James Mac Sorley an Enemy till he had
revenged on him his Brothers Death, he had imployed Colonel
Egerton to invite that Rebel to Submission, but received only
temporizing Answers; whereupon, according to his Lordship’s
Directions, he had written and sent a Messanger of purpose to
the Lord of Clantier an Islander Sco?, to stir him up against
James Mac Sorley, wrongfully possessing his rightful
Inheritance in those Parts of /reland; offering to join the
Queens Forces under his command,” “so as he would after
yield due Tribute and Obedience to her Majesty; ” but still,
as the king of Scots threatened to march against the said lord,
he feared that he would not be able to embrace this advantageous
offer. Sir Arthur adds, “ That he had received Con Mac Neal,
the son of Neal Mac Brian, and his Horsemen, into her Majestys
Pay, and would shortly waste his Father's Country, whence
Brian Mac Art (O’Neill) and some 4oo Bonnaghts, (or hired
Soldiers), were maintained and fed.” The lord deputy, in his
answer to the above, of the 1s5th June, directs Sir Arthur to
receive no more Irish, “but such as would simply submit ard
give good Pledges; ” and that he should treat with the Island
Scots, and Shane O’Neill. !

August, same year, the lord deputy, and all other English
commanders in Ulster, in order to suppress the rebels, proceeded
to burn the houses of the Trish, with all corn and other grain,
that they could not at that time use or carry off. In furtherance
of this work of destruction, about the above period, Sir Arthur
Chichester, with the troops of this garrison, laid waste all the
country within twenty miles of this town.* Those burnings
were succeeded by a dreadful famine. in which many thousands
of the wretched inhabitants died of hunger; and the miseries of
the few who survived, appear to have been attended with acts
too horrid for recital. Moryson, from whom we quote, says,

1 Moryson’s History of Ireland.

[*When Sir Arthur Chichester was preparing for the plantation he spared
neither “house, corne, nor creature, . . . . of what quality, age, or sex
soever; he slew all four-footed animals in their farmyards, burned the stacks
of grain, and in the spring time mowed down the growing crops.”]
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that in the following year, Sir Arthur Chichester saw children
eating their starved mother; and adds, that many people were
found dead about the fields and ditches, with their mouths
green by eating herbs, by which they had endeavoured to
prolong their wretched existence.!

160ox. Early in June, Sir Arthur Chichester marched
hence with troops in garrison, and on the 18th same month,
joined the lord deputy near Blackstaff; and receiving a
reinforcement of 2oo foot for this garrison, he returned here
a few days after.2 About this time we find this corporation
presenting a number of ¢ stafutes” to Sir Arthur Chichester,
governor, for his approval ; for which see Appendix, No. VI.

In July, same year, Sir Arthur Chichester proceeded hence
against Brian Mac Art O’Neill, and took his castle of Castle-
reagh; and in the following year, he marched with a part of
the garrison to Lough Neagh, and crossing it, joined the lord
deputy near Dungannon, and assisted in building the fort of
Mountjoy, of which he was made governor. 3

1603. Con O’Neill, chief of south or upper Clandeboy,
whose castle was that of Castlereagh, was confined here: the
cause of his detention was as follows. Having about Christmas,
1602, a “grand Debauch,” at Castlereagh, “ with his brothers,
friends, and followers,” he sent his servants to Belfast for more
wine ; but in returning, a quarrel took place between them and
some English soldiers, near the Knock church,t and they lost
their wine. Con inquiring into this transaction, learned from
themselves that their numbers exceeded that of the soldiers:
on which he swore “by his father, and the souls of his
ancestors,” they should never be servants of his till they had
beaten the “ buddagh Sassenagh soldiers.” On this threat they
returned, armed, and attacked the soldiers, several of whom
were killed in the affray; and Con was soon after taken up
as an abettor, and sent prisoner to Carrickfergus castle. The
severity of his first confinement was soon mitigated by a
permission to walk through the town during the day, attended
by a soldier, who returned him to the provost-marshal at night.
He at length obtained his liberty in the following manner.
Thomas Montgomery, master of a “barque” which traded

1 Moryson’s History of Ireland.
2 Moryson’s History of Ireland.
3 Moryson’s History of Ireland.
[T Now Holywood.]

4
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thither with meal for the garrison, was employed by Hugh
Montgomery, his relation, to endeavour to effect Con’s escape.’
Having got letters conveyed to Con, acquainting him of the
steps about to be taken, he began by making love to Annas
Dobbin, daughter of the provost-marshal; and marrying her,
through her effected Con’s escape, who was conveyed on board
Montgomery’s vessel, and landed at Largs, in Ayrshire.2*

1605, February 2sth, we find the corporation presenting
a number of “Greeffes,” to the lord deputy, Sir Arthur
Chichester, against the provost-marshal, the constable of his
majesty’s castle, and the receiver of the king’s customs; for
which, with his answer, see Appendix, No. VII. July 2gth,
the following year, the lord deputy, from his camp at
Monaghan, directs the mayor to levy “ Ten good and marketable
beeves,” on this corporation, for the use of the army ; for which
beeves they were to receive A1 6s. 8d. each, in “ karpes,” as
soon as money should come from England.

1636, August 12th, five dissenting ministers baving been
deposed at Belfast by Henry Leslie, Bishop of Down and Connor,
for not subscribing the Church Canons, resolved, with others, to
proceed to New England. Having got a vessel called the *“ Eagle-
Wing,” of about 115 tons burden [built at Groomsport], on the
gth of September the Rev. Robert Blair, Rev. John Livingston,
Rev. Robert Hamilton, and the Rev. John M'Clelland, with
about 140 other persons, amongst whom was John Stuart, Provost

1 MSS. of the Montgomery family.—In 1605, Con obtained his pardon
from James [., ai the suit of the above Hugh Montgomery, and James
Hamilton ; but for their effecting of his escape, and this service, he had pre-
viously made over most of his lands to them, of which they immediately
obtained a new parent from the crown. April 25, 1606, we find Con grant-
ing the lands of Ra/lyroshoye, in the Galliugh, between Castlereagh and
Belfast, to a | homas Montgomery, probably the above-mentioned Thomas, for
bis share in effecting his escape. — Grand Ingquisition of the County Down.

2 MSS. of the Montgomery family.

[¥It was Con’s wife who effected his escape. She had appointed a boat
to come from Bangor, and one day she came int: the castle (she having access
to him when she would) with two cheeses, the inside being taken out and filled
with cords. by which he might let himself out of the window at such a time
when, by moonlight, he might see the boat ready. In it he was conveyed to
Bangor church, and hid in an old steeple till he was conveyed to Scotland.

In 1637. Richard Spearpoint, Mayor, made a surrender of the third part
of the customs to the Crown for £3,000, which was to have been laid out in
the purchase o' lands for the use of this corporation; but no lands were pur-
chased. £ 1,300 of this money was lent on interest to John Davys, of Carrick-
fergus, who bougit an estate, and when called to account by the corporation
respecting the nicney, he brought them in one shilling in debt.—G#//s MSS.
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of Ayr, sailed from our bay; but, meeting with violent storms
when near Newfoundland, they were beaten back, and returned
-on the 3rd November. They were soon after obliged to fly into
Scotland from the persecution raised against them by the said
bishop.1

1 Strafford’s Letters. Life of Rev. John Livingston.

THE COMMON SEAL OF CARRICKFERGUS



CHAPTER IV.

ROM the last mentioned period until 1639, we find no
event connected with Carrickfergus, that we deem of
sufficient interest to lay before the reader in this division

of the work. In the above year, this place was highly conspicuous.
in the events of that period. The impolitic conduct of Charles I.
having goaded the Scottish Covenanters into acts of resistance
to the measures of the crown, many of them sought an asylum
in the counties of Down and Antrim. Though Charles had
been at length unsuccessful in his attempts to force episcopacy
upon the Scottish nation, and compelled to relinquish all open
hostility to the Covenant, still its adherents in Ireland justly
dreaded molestation from that quarter; Earl Strafford, whose
conduct had been already marked by intolerance and oppression,
being continued Lord Deputy. Nor were their fears ill
founded, for, about the beginning of May, 1,000 foot and 500
horse were ordered to Carrickfergus, to press upon the Scottish
settlers an oath against their revered Covenant; or, in the
smooth language of Strafford, to look on, whilst the oath was.
administered.* These proceedings created the greatest alarm
and disaffection, and some incautious persons near Larne,
having been betrayed by a spy into intemperate language, were
taken prisoners in May, and sent off to Dublin for examination.
One of these persons named Trueman, was soon after
transmitted here for trial, found guilty, and executed.
Respecting this affair, which even Strafford, in his letter to
secretary Coke, calls “ foolish,” and “extreme vain; ” Sir John
Clotworthy, afterwards Earl of Massereene, made the following
deposition on the trial of the Earl of Strafford. That one
Trueman, an Englishman, who dwelt near Carrickfergus, was
sent about the country to find out those who were attached to-
the Scots: “that he spake with one Captain Giles, who feigned

[ % This was the “ Black Oath,” for a copy of which see “Reid’s History
of the Presbyterian Church,” vol. i., p. 247.]
!Tradition. Hume’s History of England. Strafiord’s Letters. Adair's MS.
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himself a great friend to the Scottish nation; and said, that
he conceived that they were greatly distressed, and wished that
he could use means whereby they might be eased; hence he
discoursed with Trueman, who was but a silly fellow, and got
from him words whereby he discovered a goodwill to the Scotch
nation, and some discourse about the Castle of Carrickfergus; ”
and at length “ he got Trueman’s letter to recommend him into
Scotland, whither he pretended a desire to go, to serve under
their command.” Giles afterwards produced this letter on
Trueman’s trial, who a few days after suffered death as
related. ' On the scaffold he made a speech, in which he
disclosed how he had been betrayed by Giles, and, pointing to
Scotland, he said that his death would yet be avenged by that
country. He was hanged, and being cut up in quarters, they
were placed over the four gates of the town, and his head on a
pole on the top of the castle.—MS. About this time the Earl
of Antrim resided in Carrickfergus. Writing to the Lord
Deputy, on the 16th of May, he informs him that his cousin,
Sir Donnell Gorme M‘Donnell, had arrived from “ Kentire and
lla,” with at least 100 gentlemen of the same name, besides
their servants, in all about 300 men, for his Majesty’s service.
He requests that the Deputy would order them to be maintained
off “the goods and lands of those that have estates in this
kingdom and have forsaken it, that are well known to be
Covenanters.” His request was not complied with.?

1640. Early in this year rumours were industriously
circulated, that the disaffected in Scotland intended to invade
the northern part of this kingdom. This report was made the
pretext for raising 8,000 Irish Roman Catholic troops, who
in July were assembled at Carrickfergus, and afterwards
distributed along the coast opposite Scotland. Ships of war also
cruised in the channel to alarm the Scots, and if an opportunity
offered, to land these Irish troops near the entrance of the
Clyde. For some time the soldiers were employed in casting
up entrenchments, as if to repel an invasiont; but the real
object was to land them in Scotland, to oppose the Covenanters.
The plan, however, failed: the King, from the desperate state
of his affairs in England, being obliged to enter into an

1 Cox’s History of Ireland. Strafford’s Letters.
2 Strafford’s Letters.
t Some entrenchments cast up by them at Olderfleet still remain.
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ignominious compromise with the Scotch insurgents, so that this
army was rendered useless. The raising of those troops highly
incensed the English parliament, and heightened the discontent
of the Protestants in Ireland. It was discovered that had his
Majesty’s plan succeeded, 12,000 additional Roman Catholic
soldiers were to have been embodied for an invasion of England,
to assist the king against the parliament. Disappointed in this
grand project, Charles now entered into negotiation with the
king of Spain, to take 4,000 of these men into his service, but
the parliament objected strongly to this measure, and they were
disembodied in September. !

1641. On the 24th January, a treaty was entered into
with the Scottish commissioners in England, for 1,500 auxiliary
troops to garrison this town and castle. His majesty Charles
1. objected to the third article, as prejudicial to the interest of
the crown; but at length yielded to it on the remonstrance of
the said commissioners. He perhaps relinquished his objections.
the more readily that it had been agreed he was to have the
appointment of all the officers of this army, by which measure
he hoped to get rid of the most troublesome persons in Scotland,
and also please their countrymen at the same time.? On the
6th August, this year, another treaty was entered into with the
Scots, by which the number of troops was to be augmented to
10,000.> For a copy of the first treaty, which only differed
from the second in the number of men to be employed, see
Appendix, No. VIII.

1641. Saturday, October 23rd, about ten o'clock on this
night, Colonel Arthur Chichester, governor, received intelligence
of the intended rebellion, on which he ordered fires to be kindled
on the eminences near the town, and the drums of the garrison
to be beaten, to warn the neighbouring Protestants of their

1 Strafford’s Letters. Godwin’s History of the Commonwealth—Charles
had sent secret instructions to the Earls of Ormond and Antrim, requiring
that this army should not be disembodied.

2In November, 1641, his Majesty then at Edinburgh, created his enemy,
the Marquis of Hamilton, a duke, and General Lesley, whom he had pre-
viously appointed chief commander of those troops, Earl of Leven. The latter
was so transported with this unexpected and unmerited honour, that he pro-
tested upon his knees ‘‘he would never after bear arms against the king.”
He soon forgot his promise.—/Va/son. On the 8th of April, 1642, his Majesty
sent a message to parliament, declaring his intention to*go to Ireland to com-
mand those troops against the rebels, on which both Houses presented
petitions that he would not then visit Ireland ; he then relinquished his pur-
pose.—Cox’s History of Ireland.

3 Cox’s History of Ireland.: ' Memoirs of the Dukes of Hamilton.
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danger. In the course of the following day great numbers of
Protestants arrived from the country, bringing with them their
most valued, effects. Some of these were immediately armed,
formed into companies, and commanded by the most respectable
gentlemen who had fled here for safety; while from the crowded
state of the town many families left it by sea for Scotland.
On the evening of the 24th, Colonel Arthur Hill arrived, havmg
escaped from his house with difficulty.1

Sir Henry Mac O'Neill was to have surprised Carrick-
fergus, but from the early vigilance of the governor no attempt
of that kind was made. A brother of Sir Henry’s, Teigh
O’Hara, and some other leading persons among the Irish, being
sent for by the governor, were made prisoners on their arrival,
lest they should join the rebels. About the same time, Art Oge
O’Neill, of the Fuagh (Fevagh), came in to testify his loyalty,
but on his being dismissed he joined the rebels, and drew many
to their ranks. 2

On the 25th, Colonel Chichester proceeded with about 300
men to Belfast, leaving Captain Roger Lyndon, with only 50
to defend this garrison. At Belfast he was joined by 150 men
from Antrim, and on the following day he set out for Lisburn,
but an alarm arising, that the rebels had marched from Glenavy
to attack Carrickfergus, he returned to Belfast. This alarm
proved to be merely an attack on the house of Mr. Spencer,
Trumery, ¥ in which the rebels were beaten off. Colonel
Chichester was now joined by Sir Thomas Lucas, Sir Arthur
Tyrningham, Captain Blunt, and Captain Armstrong; on the
27th he marched to Lisburn, which had been appointed a
general rendezvous of the Protestants, who on this occasion
amounted to about 1,000 men, but without order or discipline.
On the 28th, Colonel Chichester, with his own division, Lord
Conway’s horse, and a troop under Captain Edmonston,
proceeded towards Dromore to reconnoitre, and saw at some
distance several parties of rebels in woods and bogs, but
perceiving that they could not be attacked without great
disadvantage, on the following day they returned to Lisburn;
and on the 31st, all the Protestant corps returned to their former
quarters.  About this time, Alexander M‘Donnell, alias,

1 Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond.

2 Ibid.—This person married a daughter of Cahal O’Hara, Creabilly, and
from him the Shanecastle family of O’Neill are descended.—A/S.

[ * Near Lough Neagh.]
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Collkitto, an experienced soldier, being sent for to Scotland, by
Friar Patrick O'Donnell, a jesuit, landed at Olderfleet. His
arrival coming to the ears of Colonel Chichester and Lord
Montgomery, a party of horse was despatched to bring him
prisoner to Carrickfergus. On his being taken he made many
fair promises and protestations of his innocence, and attachment
to the government, and Archibald Stuart, agent to the Earl of
Antrim, becoming security for his behaviour, he was liberated,
and immediately joined the disaffected in the Roufe. Soon
after, Friar O'Donnell was detected carrying a letter to Sir
Phelim O’Neill, on which he was made prisoner, and confined
here on the 23rd November. At this period, a large quantity
of arms and ammunition arrived at Carrickfergus, from Carlisle,
for the use of the Protestants.!

Next to Carrickfergus, the chief places of refuge for the
Protestants, in the county of Antrim, were the towns of Belfast,
Lisburn, Antrim, and Larne; with the castellated houses of
Templepatrick, Ballycastle, Edenduffcarrick, and Carncastle.”
But by the beginning of December, the Roman Catholic troops
of Bryan M‘Cormic, Art Oge O’Neill, Con Oge O’Neill, and
Toal O’Neill, were so completely masters of the country, that
they ravaged the houses of the Protestants, within sight of
those places.? Even within view of Carrickfergus the rebels
wasted the country with fire and sword, leaving not one house
standing on the lands of Captain Roger Lyndon ;* and in the
interior of the county of Antrim, 954 Protestants are stated to
have been butchered in one morning, and about 1,100 Or 1,200
afterwards, during the course of the rebellion.5

In the meantime, several regiments were embodied from the
Protestants who had fled to the above places. Those of Sir
John Clotworthy, Lord Conway, Colonel Arthur Chichester,
Archibald Stuart, and a body of horsemen under Adair,

! Carte’s life of the Duke of Ormond. Temple’s Irish Rebellion.

2 MSS. Rawdon Papers.

3 MS. Rawdon Papers.

4 Belfast News-Letter, 176.

5 Depositions of Dr. Robert Maxwell.

[“Owing to the reckless malice which the Irish bore against everything
British, the valuable stores of corn and cattle belonging to the latter were
wantonly squandered and destroyed, which caused a scarcity of food, and the
refusal of the rebels to bury the mangled corpses of their victims caused a
pestilential fever to break out, and many died.”—Reid’s History, vol. i.,

P- 329-]
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of Ballymena, are particularly mentioned for their valuable
services against the enemy.?

1642. On the evening or night of Sunday, January 8th,*
some horsemen belonging to one of the newly raised corps,
attached to the garrison of Carrickfergus, sallied out to the
neighbouring district of Island Magee, and massacred a number
of Roman Catholic inhabitants.?2 The oral history of Island
Magee clearly declares that the assassins were horsemen, who
came from Carrickfergus, and that this horrid deed was
perpetrated in retaliation for the murderous aggressions
committed by the Roman Catholics in other places. It is also
stated on the same traditional authority, that this massacre began
at the isthmus which connects Island Magee with the parish of
Braidisland, where a small rivulet is called Slaughter-ford, in
memory of the tragical event; that some of the sufferers were
driven over the Gabbons, a dreadful precipice on the south east
part of the island; and that several Roman Catholics were
preserved in a corn kiln by a Dissenter named Hill, some of
whose descendants still reside in the parish.

That “this deed of dreadful note” was perpetrated in
retaliation for similar excesses committed by the opposite party,
is amply confirmed by the historical evidences still in existence
relating to that unfortunate period. We shall therefore notice
a few of the most memorable massacres that preceded that of
Island Magee; limiting our inquiries to those of the County
of Antrim.

On the night of the 2nd January, 1642 (New Style), some
“ Irish Highlanders,”t belonging to a newly raised regiment,

1 Cox’s History of Ireland, MS.

% It is to be observed that prior to September, 1752, the year in Great
Britain and Ireland, usually began on the 25th March, instead of the st
January. However, it appears that there was often no regular period for its
commencement, which has been the cause of much confusion in modern
history. Those who began the year in March, generally, antedated events ;
thus with them the year 1000 commenced 25th March, 999. Others began
the year on the 25th December ; and some at Easter, and varied the begin-
ning of the year as Easter varied.

Gentleman's Magazine, 1788.

In “ Morrison’s History of Ireland,” frequent mention is made of *“ O/d
Style,” and *“ New Style,” in treating of events which took place in 1601-2,
and in ““ Thurlow’s State Pagers,” some of the official letters are dated ‘¢ O/d
Style,” some *‘ New Style,” and in many old books we find dates marked
thus, 1701-2, or 1703. Hence our Chronology is still in confusion from the
wuncertainty of dates.

2 MSS. Trinity College, Dublin, lettered, “ County of Antrim.”

+ Irish Mountaineers.
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commanded by Archibald Stuart, rose on Captain Glover's.
company, and some British of the same corps, who were
quartered in the parish of Billy, and massacred of them to ihe
number of sixty. The same night was also marked by a similar
bloody transaction. A body of “ Irish Highlanders,” under the
orders of Turlough O’Cahan, Alister M‘Coll M‘Donnell
(Collkitto), and James M‘Coll M‘Donnell, surprised a party of
Archibald Stuart’s regiment, under the command of Captain
Fergus M‘Dowell, who were stationed at Portna, on the Bann
side, and massacred between sixty and eighty of them in their
beds, without the least resistance. On the sth the same body
of rebels continued their ravages through the Roufe, putting all
Protestants to the sword from Portna to Ballintoy. In their
progress they made a furious attack on the mansion house of
the latter place, which was bravely defended by Archibald Boyd,
Mr. Fullerton, and a few Protestants who had escaped thither;
and the rebels finding that there was little chance of its speedy
surrender, after firing a few shots from their cannon, retired to-
Craigbalinoe. On the following day they proceeded to Dunluce,
and summoned that fortress to surrender, but Captain Digby,
governor, refusing to comply, they burned the village of Dunluce
and proceeded towards Oldstone, or Clough. By the way they
were met by Art Oge O’Neill with his company, and uniting
their forces, they advanced against the castle of Oldstone.
“ Walter Kennedy, governor, parlying with the rebels, declared,.
that he would never surrender a M‘Donnell's castle to an
O’Neill,” on which Colonel M‘Donnell (Collkitto) advanced,
and “swearing by the Cross of his sword, and the honour of a
gentleman, that none in the place should suffer in body or
goods,” the castle was given up. Immediately after, the women
and children found in the fortress were taken down the valley
towards Glenravil water, and butchered on the banks of that
river by Toole M‘Hugh O’Hara.?

The accounts of these massacres would probably reach:
Carrickfergus in a day or two after their perpetration, when
the tidings could not fail to excite a deep interest, and while-
the feelings of the inhabitants and soldiers were yet agitated
and warm, stir up a spirit of retaliation, which unfortunately
appears to have burst forth immediately after in the horrid
affair in Island Magee. Their thirst for vengeance was perhaps

T MSS. Trinit)} College, Dublin, lettered, *¢ County Antrim.”
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heightened by the circumstance that many of those then doing
military service in Carrickfergus were from the lower part of
the County of Antrim, who had been driven from their homes
by the rebels, and who, probably, at this time expected to hear
of the murder of some relation or friend. This conjecture is
in a great measure confirmed by the fact that, on an inquiry
some years after, it appeared that these very persons who
committed the massacre in Island Magee, were from the
neighbourhood of Ballymena. Yet as if the truth regarding
this transaction did not sufficiently disgrace its perpetrators, it
has been made the subject of the grossest misrepresentation. It
even continues to be mentioned as the first massacre committed
at that unhappy period, the cause of all the subsequent murders,
and the sufferers stated to have amounted to upwards of 3,000
persons !*¥ We shall here farther inquire into this transaction,
particularly as to the time it happened, and the numbers slain ;
and afterwards point out the facts of the case from sources
little known to the public.

The earliest account in which the Protestants are charged
as being the aggressors in the barbarities of 1641-2, appears in
an anonymous pamphlet entitled—“THE PoLITICIAN'S:
CateEcHisM,” by R. S., printed and published in London, in
1662 ; twenty-one years after the events are said to have
happened, which it pretends to describe. A short paragraph
in this tract has been the basis of all the gross misrepresentations.
that have been published on this subject. It is as follows.
“ About the beginning of November, 1641, the English and
Scotch forces in Knockfergus, murdered, in one night, all the
inhabitants of the territory of Island Magee, in number above
three thousand, men, women, and children, all innocent persons,
in a time when none of the Catholics of that country were in
arms or rebellion.” To this article is added the following note.
“This was the first massacre committed in Ireland, on either
side.” Here we plainly perceive gross misstatements, it being
notorious that the rebellion began on the 23d of the previous
October, and that the 24th of that month was marked on the
part of the Roman Catholics, by all the sanguinary atrocities.
of the period in question.!

% See Memoirs of Captain Rock. A View of the Roman Catholic
Question, by Sir Francis W. M*‘Naghten, pages 8o and 81.
! Borlase’s Irish Rebellion.
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It is worthy of remark, that the season chosen for the
publication of this slanderous and anonymous pamphlet, was
truly auspicious; the tide was turning fast from Puritanism to
Popery ; the Roman Catholics were a considerable body at court,
and both the King and the Duke of York had by several acts
evinced their partiality for that faith.!

Some years after the publication of this pamphlet by R. S.,
it was bound up as an appendix to Lord Clarendon’s “ HisTorRY
OF THE AFFAIRS OF IRELAND,” * doubtless, for the purpose of
giving its falsehoods weight and publicity, by their being
attached to a work bearing on its title the high authority of
his lordship’s name.

Of the slanders thus propagated the Protestants of that
time appear to have been well aware. Sir Audley Mervin,
speaker of the Irish House of Commons, in addressing the Duke
of Ormond, 13th February, 1662, says, “ The Roman Catholics
of this kingdom may get a reputation and credit to those
pamphlets which they have dispersed through Europe, that his
Majesty’s Protestant subjects first fell upon and murdered them.”

The next notice we have observed, on the same side, is
contained in a small work entitled, “ Tue GeEnvuINE HISTORY
oF IRELAND,” said on its title to be written by Hugh Reilly
(Dr. Nary), printed in London, in 1742. In this tract it is
said that the massacre in Island Magee happened early in
November, 1641, and that the number of sufferers amounted to
between two and three thousand persons; but it is admitted that
the rebellion began on the 23d October, 1641.

Incorrect as these accounts are, as to the time and the
number murdered, they are nevertheless repeated in a work
entitled—* A DIALOGUE OF THE REBELLION OF 1641,”
published in 1747 ; and also in a book entitled—* MEMOIRS
oF IRELAND, IN A LETTER To WALTER HArris, Esq.,” printed
in 1757. A similar statement is also given, on the authority
of Lord Clarendon, in “ DEsiDERATA CuUrRiOSA HIBERNICA,”
printed in Dublin in 1772; and likewise by Dr. Curry, a
Roman Catholic, in his “ReviEw or TtHE Civi. WaRrs oF
IreLanD,” published in 1775. Francis Plowden, Esq.,, an

1 Hume’s History of England.

[* It was in 1720 that the pamphlet of R.S. was reprinted by H. Wilford,
and bound up as an appendix to the work of Lord Clarendon.—See *¢ Fiction
Unmasked,” p. 166.]
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English Roman Catholic Barrister, also asserts the same in his
ponderous “ HisToriCAL VIEW OF THE STATE OF IRELAND,”
printed in 1803, in which, when noticing the bloody affair in
Island Magee, he says, “the truth of the fact is supported on
the high authority of Lord Clarendon; ” thus taking the
advantage of the falsehoods of the pamphlet of R. S., for his
lordship’s work states the very reverse. Lord Clarendon says
the rebellion began on a “ sudden, upon the 23d day of October,
1641, without the least pretence of quarrel or hostility, so much
as apprehended by the Protestants;” and that within the space
of ten days from the breaking out of the rebellion, the Roman
Catholics bhad “massacred an increditable number of
Protestants.”

Dr. Milner, an English Roman Catholic Prelate, has also
made the same erroneous statement, in his “ INQUIRY,” published
in 1803, giving Lord Clarendon as his authority ; although, in
reality, his lordship’s work is a complete refutation of his
assertions. A still later work, by an Irish Roman Catholic,
contains similar information; he gravely tells his readers, that,
he will not disgust them with an account of that atroctous
massacre, nor set down the terrible vengeance inflicted by the
Irish on their sanguinary enemies. This is saying pretty plainly
that the Protestants were the aggressors.

It is particularly worthy of remark, that the “ Remon-
STRANCE,” of the Roman Catholics, presented to the King's
Commissioners at Trim, in March, 1642, takes no notice of any
murders committed in Island Magee ; nor is any mention made
of them in the “ HumBLE Aporogy” of the Roman Catholics
to his Majesty, for their taking up arms; nor yet in the second
“ REMONSTRANCE,” presented to the king. From their silence
on this head, we may fairly infer, that had their accounts of
the massacre been true, as to time and numbers, it would have
formed a chief feature, not only in one of these documents,
but in them all.

It is not a little remarkable that Protestant writers should
have inadvertently fallen into a portion of the same error, as
to numbers, and have ascribed this massacre to the fanaticism
of the Scotch Puritan soldiers, when it appears from several
historical documents, that #o Scotch troops arrived at Carrick-
fergus till the following April.! Carte, in his “ LIFE OF THE

!} Thurloe’s State Papers. Cox’s History of Ireland. Carte’s Life of the
Duke of Ormond.
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Duxke oF OrRMOND,” mentions the massacre as committed by the
garrison of Carrickfergus, but speaks with uncertainty as to the
main points in dispute. Dr. Leland, in his “ HIsSTORY OF
IRELAND,” says that thirty families were massacred, but states
it to have been committed early in January, 1642, “ when the
followers of O’Neill had almost exhausted their barbarous
malice.” Since the time that Leland wrote the minor Protestant
historians appear to have contented themselves with merely
-quoting from one or the other of those authors.

Some years after the suppression of the rebellion of 1641-2,
this massacre, among other matters, attracted the notice of
government, and about 1650, an inquiry concerning it took
place. Bryan Magee, son of Owen, whose family was among
the chief sufferers, deposed, that about the 8th of January, 1641
(1642, according to our present calculation), he was living in
his father’s house in Island Magee, when nine of the family
were murdered by twenty persons, reputed Scotchmen, and their
goods carried off by them. That on the same day, in the house
-of his next neighbour,- Daniel Magee, the same Scotchmen (as
-one who escaped told him,) killed Daniel, and ten other persons ;
and that they all retired to Carrickfergus with prisoners; but
that Colonel Hill not being in the garrison, the Scotchmen took
them out of the gate, and killed three of them.

Elizabeth Gormally, deposed seeing Bryan Boye Magee, son
of the Magees, followed by drummers of the garrison of Carrick-
fergus, on the Monday affer the great murder, committed about
the end of December, and after the breaking out of the rebellion.

Finlay O'Donnell, deposed that it was the report of the
country, that the chief actors in this horrid business were
Scotchmen,* who came from the neighbourhood of Ballymena.
Another deponent also stated the same report, with the name of
the leader of the murderers, who it is said was from Ballymena.
Some of the deponents also gave the sirnames of several of
the assassins, with the weapons used by them; and relate that
one of the ruffians stabbing at a female with a dagger, killed
an infant in her arms.

The deposition of James Mitchel, of Island Magee, a
Dissenter, corresponds exactly, as to the time of the massacre,
by stating that it was in the afternoon of Sunday, 8th January.!

% In some parishes of the County Antrim, the people still disting 1ish the
different religious persuasions by the terms of Scotck and Irisk.
1 MSS. Trinity College, Dublin; dettered, f County, Avtrim.”
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While we must all deplore this horrid deed, we must also
reprobate that malignant spirit which even yet continues to
advance such gross exaggerations, which we think is sufficiently
apparent, even from the general population of the parish at
that period. In 1599, Fynes Moryson states, that the Island of
Magee was desolate ; and between that time and 1641, there was
little tranquility, Tyrone’s rebellion having rendered the greater
part of Ulster literally a desert. By the returns of the census
of 1819, Island Magee then only contained 1,931 inhabitants ;
and by that of 1821, 2,300 persons, probably eighteen or twenty
times the number of people at the period of the massacre; and
we see that some of them were Dissenters, and that a number
of Roman Catholics were preserved.

Before taking leave of this subject, it may not be amiss to
remark how easily 30 could be altered to 3,000, the number in
the pamphlet of R. S.; in which pamphlet the small peninsula
-of Island Magee is called a “ ferritory,” a word generally under-
stood to signify a large tract of country, rather than a mere
stripe, without either hamlet or village. Judging, therefore, by
the depositions of the survivors, the probability is that thirty
individuals were not under the number who suffered. *

[ * Froude and Reid also emphasise the following points :—1. That only
thirty people at the most lost their lives on the occasion referred to,—Froude’s
English in Ireland, i., p. 117. 2. That the raid was made in January, 1641-2.—
Ibid, i., p. 117. 3 That the Scotch Presbyterian soldier+ were not in Carrick-
fergus until the following April. —Reid’s History of the Presbyterian Church
in Ireland, vol i., p. 328, note.]



CHAPTER V.

1642, April 2d,t two thousand five hundred Scottish
auxiliary troops, under the command of General Robert Munroe,
landed at Carrickfergus; and, agreeable to previous stipulations,
the town and castle were delivered to their charge! On the
27th of the same month, General Monroe marched with a
considerable body of those troops for Malone; and on the
following day he was joined by the united forces of Lord
Conway and Colonel Arthur Chichester, consisting of 1,000 foot,
and 5 troop of horse. Proceeding to Lisburn, they were met at
that place by 8co foot, and 2 troops of cavalry, under the
orders of Lords Clandeboy and Ards; and dividing their forces,
Munroe advanced with 1,600 foot, and 5 troops of horse, to
the pass of Kilwarlin, where he defeated the forces of Lord
Iveagh, amounting to 2,500 foot, and 6o horse, 150 of whom
were slain. After this encounter, Munroe again united his forces,
and on the 3oth reached Loughbrickland, where he took an
island, and killed 6o rebels.?2 May 3d, he advanced towards
Newry, near which town he was for a short time opposed by
a body of insurgents, whom he defeated at the entrance of a
wood ; and entering Newry, he “put 6o men, 18 women, and
2 priests to death;” and leaving there a garrison of 300 men,
under Lieutenant Colonel Sinclair, on the 6th he proceeded to
Armagh. The city was then held by Sir Phelim O’Neill, who
aware of the approach of Munroe, evacuated the place, having
previously massacred a considerable number of Protestants, and
set fire to the city and its venerable cathedral.® On the 7th he
set out on his return to Carrickfergus, and passing into the
County of Down, he ravaged the country of Lord Iveagh, and
the Dufferin, or Mac Cartan’s country, taking 4,000 cattle, with
other plunder, which were to have been equally divided among

1 Cox says April 15th.

1 Thurloe’s State Papers.

2 MS. Cox’s History of Ireland.

? Life of the Rev. John Levingston. Warner’s History of the Irish
Rebellion. Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond.
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the different portions of the army on their arrival at Carrick-
fergus. But the night before this division was to have taken
place, Munroe shipped all off to Scotland, to the great discontent
of the other corps who had served with him, and who, in
consequence, never after liked to serve under his command. !

On the 16th June, Munroe being strengthened by the forces
of Sir John Clotworthy, made another plundering excursion,
with a force of 3,450 foot, and 5 troops of horse. Proceeding
northward he burned Glenarm, and drove off the cattle from the
country, and in his progress was met by the Earl of Argyle’s
regiment from Rathlin, which island they had taken from
Collkitto, and compelled him to retreat over the river Bann.?
Visiting the Earl of Antrim, at his castle of Dunluce, he was
entertained by him with great hospitality ; the earl offering his
services to maintain the peace of the country. Yet on a signal
Munroe’s followers made the earl prisoner, “on pretence that
some of his tenants were in the rebellion, but in reality to gratify
the passion of a great man in Scotland, and his own service.”
He also plundered his castle, and seized his estates, not permitting
his agent to receive any rents, though repeatedly ordered to
that effect by the king and Irish parliament.3 Sending the earl
prisoner to Carrickfergus, he placed Argyle’s regiment in his
castle, and remained in that neighbourhood inactive for several
weeks, while his army suffered so much for want of provisions,
that some of the soldiers returned home in a state of mutiny ;*
and the Irish are described as being so distressed from the same
cause, “that they eat their own dead.”® This dreadful calamity
was followed by a pestilential fever, which swept away vast
numbers, 2,500 persons being said to have died of this pestilence,
in Carrickfergus alone, in four months.®

July 1oth,* in this year the first Presbytery held in Ireland
met here, consisting of five ministers who had arrived with the
Scottish forces, on the previous April, and four ruling elders.+

1 Warner’s History of the Irish Rebellion. Carte’s Life of the Duke
of Ormond.

2 Cox’s History of Ireland. MS. Warner’s History of the Irish Rebellion.

3 Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond.

4 Adair's MS. Ibid.

3 Cox’s History of Ireland.

8 A MS. quoted in ‘“ HisTORICAL COLLECTIONS relative to the TOWN
OF BELFAST,” printed 1817.

[* M‘Skimin follows Kirkpatrick in giving 1oth July. Reid and Latimer
follow Adair in giving 10th June.]

+ A MS. in the Armagh Library, says 20 elders, and 4 deacons.

S
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Their names were Rev. Hugh Cunningham, of Glencairn’s
regiment ; Rev. John Baird, Campbell’s regiment ; Rev. Thomas
Peebles, Eglinton’s regiment; Rev. James Simpson, Sinclair’s
regiment ; John Scott, John Aird, and three others whose names
are not given. Mr. Baird preached from Psalm 51, last verse;
a moderator was appointed, and Mr. Peebles chosen clerk.1
Soon after, this Presbytery, at the request of the different
parishes, sent out ministers to the following places, giving them
“a right of Tithes,” in their respective stations;} Ballymena,
Antrim, Carncastle, Templepatrick, Larne, Belfast, Carrick-
fergus, Ballywalter, Portaferry, Newtownards, Donaghadee,
Killileagh, Comber, Holywood, and Bangor. At the same time
“ divers ministers and others, who had taken the Black ocath,}
and been instrumental in ensnaring others,” on being sent for
by the Presbytery, came and owned their “sinful defection,”
and made similar declarations in their parishes, on which they
were received into communion.?

August g4th, the same year, Alexander Lesley, Earl of
Leven, commander in chief of the Scotch auxiliary forces, landed
at Carrickfergus with the remainder of these troops;§ on which
he and Munroe soon after set out for Derry, and in crossing
the river Bann they had a smart skirmish with the Irish, under
General Donnell Geulagh O'Cahan. They penetrated into
Tyrone, and after a short stay returned to their former quarters ;
and the Earl of Leven soon after sailed for Scotland.® About
this time the country was so completely exhausted by the
plunderings of the Scottish army, that their forces were obliged

1 Adair’s MS.

+ This was no more than, merely, reinstating them, for so early as the
reign of James I. they joined both churches and tithes without their using the
church liturgy,  with the same privilege as the rest of the Established Clergy.”

Leland's History of Ireland, Vol. 11.

+ This was an oath against the Cowvenant, that had been imposed on the
Presbyterians by Earl Strafford. [See Reid, vol. 1, p. 247.]

2 Adair’s MS.

§ The Scottish soldiers then serving in Ireland consisted of 16 regiments,
who were mostly raised in the southern counties, and on their enlistment each
private was promised eight shillings (Scots Money,) per day.—Spalding. The
names of these regiments were :—Earl of Leven’s, Earl of Lothian’s, Col.
Sir Duncan Campbell’s, of Auchinbreck, Isle of Slait, Col. James Mont-
gomery’s, Earl of Cassillis’, Lord Sinclair’s, Earl of Lindsay’s, Col. Lauder’s,
Lord Lowden’s, Earl of Eglinton’s, Col. Dalzell’s, Laird of Lare's, Col.
Hume’s, Marquis of Argyle’s, General Robert Munroe’s, and Lord Glencairn’s.

[The date of the erection of the first session in Belfast is 1644.]

3 Spalding. D. Cur. Hib. Vol. II.
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to be supplied with provisions from home. In the latter end
of December, the Earl of Antrim, who had been confined six
months in the castle of Carrickfergus, effected his escape into
England.! “ Having obtained the General’s pass for a sick
man, two of his servants carried him on a bed, as sick, to the
shore, and got him boated for Carlisle, whence he went to
York.” 2

1643. Early in the spring Munroe began to muster his
forces for active service, and about the beginning of May he
moved from Carrickfergus with 2,000 foot, and 300 horse, and
making forced marches chiefly by night, he arrived unobserved
by the enemy in the vicinity of Charlemont, when he was
discovered by the Irish General Owen Roe O’Neill, who was out
hunting. On this discovery a smart action took place between
the Scots and O’Neill's guards, and that active officer effecting
his retreat into Charlemont, and Munroe having no artillery to
besiege the fortress, burned Loughgall, and returned here soon
after.®

In the latter end of May, the Earl of Antrim, returning to
Ireland, from a conference with the Queen at York, arrived in
a smack from the Isle of Man, off Newcastle, county of Down,
and sent his servant on shore to learn if a landing could be
effected with safety. Munroe, having received a message from
the parliament that the earl might be expected to land in that
quarter, was at Newcastle at this time, and made the servant
prisoner ; who being threatened with instant death, discovered
the private signal between him and his master, which being made,
the earl came on shore, and was immediately secured. On his
person were found papers respecting his intention of sending
troops to Scotland, to assist Montrose; on this discovery, the
earl with his servant was transmitted to their former quarters in
the castle of Carrickfergus, and given in charge to Captain
Wallace, a decided Puritan. The servant, named Stewart, was
soon after tried for assisting in the former escape of his master
from hence, found guilty, and executed.*

In July, Munroe made another excursion by night into
Armagh, in hopes of surprising O'Neill, who from the smallness

1 Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond.

2 Baillie’s Letters.

3 Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond

1 Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond. Carte’s Letters. Spalding. A
Letter from General Robert Munroe.
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of his army was unable to oppose him in the field, and who
being thus harassed by a superior force, left a garrrison in
Charlemont, and retired with about 1,600 men into the County
of Longford.!

About the end of October, the Earl of Antrim, having found
means to seduce a Lieutenant Gordon, attached to one of the
Scotch regiments, then in this garrison, again effected his escape,
by letting himself down by ropes over the walls of the castle.
A servant of Lord Chichester conveyed him on foot to Charle-
mont, where he was well received by Owen Roe O’Neill; from
thence he proceeded to Kilkenny, where he was offered a
command by the Supreme Council, which he then declined; and
setting out for England, on the 16th December, he joined the
king at Oxford, where in January following he was created
Marquis of Antrim.> Lijeutenant George P. Gordon, formerly
mentioned, was soon after married to the Earl’s sister, Rose
M‘Donnell ; his escape was therefore probably connected with
a love affair. This Gordon was a brother to the Earl of
Sutherland. *

1644. February 2oth, four regiments of the Scottish
auxiliary troops embarked on their return home. The remaining
corps suffering much from want of maintenance, a meeting of
their officers was held at Carrickfergus in March, to concert
measures for their immediate departure to Scotland. At the time
of their deliberations, four Scotch ministers arrived from the
General Assembly, to preach about the country; and at a
Presbytery held here on the first of April, they communicated
a letter from the said Assembly to the ministers of the army,
directing them immediately to administer the sacrament to the
troops.* On the same day, a vessel arrived at our quay with a
charitable contribution of provisions, sent by the inhabitants of
Zealand, for the use of the distressed Protestant inhabitants ;
but the cargo was seized by Munroe, for his army, and the
people left to their starving fate.® *

! Desiderata Cur. Hib. Vol. II.

2 Spalding. Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond.

3 Douglass’s Peerage.

4 Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond. Adair's MS.

5 Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond.

[*At this time the Committee of the House of Commons ordered
430,000 to be shipped by the 3oth April, 1644, from hence to Carrick-
fergus, for the use of the Scottish army. £r10,000 to be paid to
John Campbell, Commissary of the Scotch Army, or in his absence to
Major-General Munro, for the use of the said army, and that the
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Agreeably to the instructions of the General Assembly, on
the 4th April the troops were assembled in the church of St.
Nicholas, and the sacrament administered to them by the Rev.
John Weir, and taken by all except Major Dalzell. Many
persons of the town and neighbourhood also attended, renounced
the dlack oath, and took the covenant. Soon after, Messrs.
Adair and Weir visited Braidisland, Belfast, Antrim, Ballymena,
Coleraine,! Billy, Dunluce, and Derry, preaching and adminis-
tering the covenant.?

On these events being known in Dublin, on the 13th April,
the government issued a proclamation forbidding the taking of
the covenant, a copy of which swas sent to the Mayor of Carrick-
fergus, and to all colonels of the army, ordering them not longer
to delay publishing their order to that effect. From the influence
of the Scottish army here at that period, this order was not then
complied with; for which neglect the mayor * was afterwards
summoned before the Irish House of Lords, and fined.®

Early on the morning of the r4th May, General Munroe
marched from Carrickfergus for Belfast, which he entered
without opposition, the North gate being opened to him on his
approach, by the serjeant of the guard who had it in charge.
Belfast, at the time of this surprise, was held by Colonel Arthur
Chichester, and in it were then met the principal Protestant
officers serving in Ulster, who were deliberating whether they

I.ord Admiral (Warwick) do nominate some fit person to accompany
the 410,000 to be sent to the Scottish army in Ireland. It is referred
to the Committee of the Goldsmiths’ Hall to reward John Davis for
his pains and travels to Carrickfergus to see it safely delivered. Sce
Calendar of State Papers, pp. 80, 201, 230, 3566.]

¥ The first person in Coleraine who took the covenant, was the Recv.
‘Thomas Vesy, minister of that parish, who acknowledged the sinfulness of the
black oatk, * and the cursed course of conformity,” in which he was followed
by the mayor and many of the inhabitants. Though Vesy at this time ex-
pressed great contrition for his former conformity, yet he soon after began to
sow dissention among the Presbyterians, by the erection of a Presbytery in
the Roofe, in opposition to that of Carrickfergns, which at that period managed
the affairs of the Presbyterians in Ireland. Defeated in this project, in 1645
he and some others equally disaffected, accused the Iresbytery to the Parlia-
‘mentary Commissioners, ¢ of bringing in a foreign jurisdiction against the
laws of Ireland ;” but after an inquiry held this charge was dismissed as false
and frivolous, on which he was for some time suspended from the ministry.
In 1660, he again conformed to the tenets of the Episcopal church, was made
chaplain to the Irish House of Lords, and died Arckbishop of Tuam.—
Adair’s MS. Ware’s Bishogs. [Sce note in Appendix.]

2 Adair’s MS.

[*Roger Lynden was the mayor at this time, and he was obliged
to give security that he would sece the Covenant burnt.]

3 Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond. Journals of the Irish House of Lords.
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would act under Munroe, in his new commission just received
from the English parliament, appointing him chief commander
of the English and Scotch forces in the province. Astonished
at the conduct of Munroe, the officers immediately waited on
him, to learn the cause of his surprising the town. He replied
that Colonel Chichester had not only forbid the taking of the
covenant, but also published a proclamation to that effect, in
which all who had taken the same were declared traitors; that
he had refused to admit Scottish soldiers into his garrison,
where he deemed it necessary to place his countrymen. He
concluded Dby ordering the immediate departure of all troops
from the town, except those who had arrived with him that
morning ; on which Colonel Chichester, with his family, and
some of his men, set out for Dublin.?

Munroe, having thus secured Belfast, marched with four
regiments for Lisburn; but Sir Theo. Jones, governor of that
town, was so well prepared against surprise, that he was obliged
to return to Belfast without effecting his purpose; where leaving
Colonel Hume in command, he retired to his headquarters at
Carrickfergus.?

1645. In the spring of this year, a division of the Scottish
troops amounting to 1,400 men, returned to their native country,
to assist in opposing the Marquis of Montrose, whose surprising
victories at this time seemed about to overwhelm the interest of
the Covenanters in Scotland. A few weeks after, these men were
cut to pieces by Montrose, at Straden, near Aberdeen, on which
Munroe was called home with the remaining corps. but he
continued in his quarters, inflicting on the miserable inhabitants
“the most notorious extortions and oppressions ever laid upon a
people.” 3

1646. ‘The Marquis of Argyle arrived here with orders
from the Scottish Parliament, recalling their forces from this
kingdom ; which order, however. appears to have been only
partially carried into execution, Munroe still retaining possession
of the principal garrisons in the counties of Down and Antrim.*
About November, a considerable reinforcement of English
troops arrived in the bay of Carrickfergus. under the direction
of British parliamentary commissioners; but the Scotch, being

! Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond. Carte’s Letters.

2 Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond.

3 Carte's Life of the Duke of Ormond. Borlaise’s Irish Rebellion.
* Pouglass’s Scotch Peerage.
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on the eve of relinquishing the cause of the English parliament,
and embracing that of the king, refused to permit them to
land.! ]

1648. In June, Sir John Macdougal, Sir William Coghran,
and [Alexander] Crawford, Scottish commissioners, came over to
hasten the return of their troops, to aid the cause of his Majesty
(Charles I.) by an invasion of England; and soon after,
General Sir George Munroe, with 1,200 horse and 2,100 foot,
embarked for Scotland.? These proceedings gave great offence
to the rigid Presbyterians in the latter kingdom, who hated the
king, and were resolved he should have no assistance unless he
subscribed the covenant. On this force landing, the ministers
railed against them from their pulpits, and exhorted the people
not to give them the smallest assistance ; the soldiers being thus
exasperated, and left without proper quarters, were guilty of
great excesses. They at length joined the other Scottish troops
under the Duke of Hamilton, at Kendal, and on the 18th
August were defeated at Preston, by Oliver Cromwell. Munroe
effected his retreat to Stirling, where on the 8th October a treaty
was entered into, in which it was agreed that his army should
be disbanded. Detested on account of their former excesses, and
the cause in which they had been engaged. they made their way
to Ireland, and at Glasgow and Ayr they were beaten and
plundered by the inhabitants.3

While these events were passing in Britain, the affairs of
the Scottish auxiliaries still remaining in Ireland, were equally
unfortunate. Those persons who still adhered to the interests
of the Commonwealth, were highly exasperated at the perfidious
conduct of the Scotch, in sending their troops, paid by the
Government in Ireland, to fight against the English Parliament ;
and those who remained here, being now discontented, and few
in number, plans were formed to wrest from them such places
as they yet retained in Ulster, the chief of which was Carrick-
fergus. * ‘To obtain possession of this place was now a matter
of considerable interest to the Commonwealth; and general
Robert Munroe having offended major Knox, captain Brice
Coghran, and some other officers of Glencairn’s regiment then in

1 Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond.

2 Memoirs of the Dukes of Hamilton.

3 Hume’s History of England. Memoirs of the Dukes of Hamilton.
Thurloe’s State Papers.

1 Cox’s History of Ireland. Montgomery’s MSS.



56

garrison, they, fearing he would join Sir George Munroe then
on his way from Scotland with his disbanded troops, mutually
agreed to betray the town to General Monk then at Lisburn. In
consequence of their information, on the night of the 13th
September, Sir Robert Adair with a troop of horse was
despatched from Lisburn on this special service.* Taking an
unfrequented tract across the mountains, he arrived at the
North gate about daylight, which having been purposely
left open, he entered without opposition and surprised
General Munroe in his bed, who was soon after sent
prisoner to England.! The English parliament were so
well pleased with the conduct of Monk, that on the 4th October
following, they appointed him governor of this garrison, and
also presented him with £500.* About the latter end of
December, General Sir George Munroe landed in the northern
part of the County of Antrim, and soon after attached himself
to the party of the Duke of Ormond, who still espoused the
royal cause.?

1649. Early in this year we find Carrickfergus garrisoned
by the Parliamentary forces, commanded by Major Edmond
Ellis. About the latter end of June, Sir George Munroe, by
the direction of the Duke of Ormond, appeared before the town
with a body of Irish troops. Though there could be no doubt
of his hostile intentions, the Presbytery then met here, sent out
a message to learn if he would take the Covenant.t he replied,
“The Devil take the Covenant and you too,” which answer amply

% Sir Robert being a Scotchman entered on this service with great
reluctance ; and the Presbytery afterwards refused to admit him to their
sittings, though an elder, until he explained that he had been compelled to
act.—Adair’s MS.

1 Adair’s MS. Cox’s History of Ireland.

2 Charnock’s Biographia Navalis. Adair’s MS.

[*They also directed all the ministers in I.ondon and Westminster
to return thanks to God on next Lord’s Day for this great ‘‘ mercy of
surprising the said garrison, and taking the Scots prisoners.”—Com.
Journals, Vol. 6, 37-41.]

[tThere were three Scottish Covenants. The first was the National
Covenant, 1581; it was simply an abjuration of popery and an engagement to
support the protestant religion. 1638—The National Covenant was renewed
with an added bond by which the subscribers bound themselves to adhere to
the true religion, and labour to recover the purity and liberty of the Gospel as
formerly professed and established before certain innovations had been intro-
duced. ~ 1643—The Solemn League and Covenant. Those who signed this
document pledged themselves to maintain the Reformed religion, to ‘ extirpate
Popery and Prelacy, to preserve the liberties of the kingdom, and to lead holy
lives personally.”—Latimer’s History, p. 93.]
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testified his design against the place. On the 29th June, the
Presbytery wrote to the Lord of Ards, then in Belfast, accusing
him as the origin of all their evils. They also reminded him that
he had formerly been forward to renew the Covenant, and had
also promised to do nothing without their approbation and advice
—they add, “ Who could have believed that your Lordship would
have avowed a Commission from the King, when he yet refuses
as much as his Father, to secure Religion, but follows wicked
counsel, and so avowedly to violate that Article of your Declara-
tion ; or that you would own a wicked association of /risk Papists,
and under cover of strengthening, should have betrayed that
garrison of Belfast. We must be faithful in warning your lord-
ship (though the Lord knows what heaviness it is to us,) that
the Lord will reward you if you repent not for such a betraying
of the faithful servants of God, who would have plucked out
their eyes for you, and the Lord will visit your famalie with
sudden ruin, and irrepairable desolation, for that you have been
so grand an instrument to destroy the work of God here. We
exhort your lordship, in the name of the living God, to whom
you must give an account, in haste to forsake that infamous and
ungodly course you are in, and adhere to your former profession,
otherwayes all the calamities that will ensue will be laid to your
score. The Lord himselfe and all the faithful will set themselves
against you, and we will testifie of your unfaithfulnesse to the
World so long as the Lord shall give us strength.” His lordship,
in his answer, dated Belfast, June 3oth, says that he is not the
author of the distractions in the country, and that he wished to
secure the garrisons of the north from Sir George Munroe, and
to advance religion according to the Covenant. The Presbytery,
in their answer, dated from Carrickfergus, July 2d, declare, that
they were fully aware of the connexion between his lordship and
Munroe, “ who lyes before this garrison to destroy it,” that they
could not perceive how he was for the good of religion and the
Covenant, and that they would “ denounce judgment ” upon him
and his party, “till the Lord perswade your heart to return.”
On the following day his lordship, with a body of troops, joined
Sir George Munroe before this town, and the garrison being now
closely pressed without any hopes of relief, surrendered on the
4th July, on honourable terms. Immediately after, all persons
were ordered to give up their arms on pain of being plundered;

! Montgomery’s MSS. The Complaint of the Bovtefev.
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and the soldiers, who had just surrendered, were solicited to joim
his service.!

On the settlement of those affairs regarding the troops, his
Lordship was joined by the Lagan forces, and proceeded to
Londonderry, to which place he laid siege ; but on the 8th August
he was obliged to raise the same by Owen Roe O’Neill 2

November 2d, the above year, colonel Thomas Dallyel,
governor, agreed to surrender the town and castle, by the 13th
December, to the parliamentary forces of Sir Charles Coote and
Robert Venables, even before the foot of the latter came up.3

! Montgomery’s MSS.  For the article of capitulation, see the detached
papers at the end of this book.

2 Cox’s History of Ireland.

3 Articles agreed upon betw:en the Right Hon. Sir Charles Coote,
knight and baronet, lovd president of Connanght, and Colonel Robert
Venables on the one part, and Colonel Thomas Dallyel, the governor
of the town and Castle of Carrickfergus, on the other part, for the
surrender of said town and castle, November 2, 1649.

1. That the said Colonel Dallyel, shall and will surrender into the hands
of the said Colonel Venables, or any other of the chief commanders of the
parliament forces, the town and castle of Carrickfergus, and that the artillery,
except such as shall be spent before the surrender of the same, shall be
delivered up as aforesaid, and the surrender is to be made six weeks after the
signing of these articles, being the 13th day of December next ensuing by
twelve of the clock.

II. It shall be lawful for the said governor, with the rest of his officers
and soldiers to march out of the town with flying colours, drums beating, and
all the marks of honour whatsoever, and that no soldier of what nation soever,
though he had been formerly in the enemy’s service, shall be questioned by
any cause or pretext whatsoever.

HI. That the governor, with all officers and souldiers under his com-
mand, without exception, shall have free liberty to march out with their wives,
children and servants, horses, arms, bag and baggage, or any other 1heir
goods whatsoever, into any place or garrison, now kept for their party, and
that there be a safe and free conduct for this effect.

IV. That all officers and soldiers resolving to go out of this kingdomn
shall have free passage and shipping for their transportation.

V. That all officers and soldiers resolving to live in the country, shall
peaceably enjoy their own, without being troubled with any cost, or any
other extraordinary burthen for one whole year, and afterwards they shall
enjoy them as the other inhabitants of the country do.

VI. That no officers or souldiers shall be arrested in his person, or goods
for any thing taking by them in garrison, since the last taking of the town
before ; and that all claim by way of debt, to any of the inhabitants of the
town, shall be void for one whole year.

VII. That the prisoners taken at Coleraine, shall suffer no dangerin their
person, but be capable of being ransomed or exchanged according to the
usual custom.

VIIL That a cessation may be, that no hoastility be committed by either
party, until the performance of these articles ; and if any quarrels do happen
betwixt private persons, it is not to be interperated a breach of these articles,
but it is to be judged and punished by an equal number of officers on both sides.

IX. That after the signing of these articles it shall be lawful for
the governor, tossend. lientenant colonel Mudroe; to Sir/George Munroe-
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Venables was immediately appointed governor by Sir Charles
Coote; and, on the 6th December, defeated Munroe near
Lisburn. !

major general to the army under the command of the Marquiss of
Ormond, to go and come, and not to be interrupted by any of the
parliaments party, but is to have a pass, if desired, throughout the
quarters.

X. That what provision of victual now in the castle, that was
taken from any of the inhabitants, shall be delivered to the true
owners.

XI. That the frigate in the harbour shall be delivered to the true
owners.

XII. That the ofticers and soldiers shall be permitted to carry with
them, twenty days provisions for their march.

XIIE. The straitest and nearest way to Cloghwaghter, or any
party or army the governor shall think fit, and that horses be provided
for carrying said provisions, and the officer’s and soldiers baggage.

X1V. That they of the garrison shall neither fortify, demolish, or
destroy in and about the same, or take any forces, horses or foot, or
any victuals, arms, ammunition or warlike provisions, or in ways join
in acts of hostility, unless they be assaulted by the garrison, before
the day appointed for the delivery of them up;: and in the mean time
there is no act of hostility to be done to the said garrison, or any
belonging them, by the forces of the parliament by sea or land.

XV. That the day before the surrender of the garrison, the country
shall be ordered to pay unto all officers six weeks pay, according as
they usually received, and the soldiers a months, as they received,
and that in the mean time none of the said garrison shall entermeddie
with, or molest any person, residing within the same.

XVI. That before the surrender of the garrison, a feild officer shall
be given on each side.

XVII. That the hostages given on the behalf of the besiegers, shall
be sent to Charlemont or Enniskillen, and there to remain until our
safe arrival at Cloghwater, or at any other place according to these
articles, at which time he is to return safe back with the convoy of
horse, whereupon both hostages are to be delivered back.

Lastly, all these articles are to be truly and really observed by both
parties, provided always that if in the mean time such an army or
party shall march into these quarters to the relief of said garrison
as shall overpower the said party besieging, and thereby become
masters of the feild in these quarters of the country, then these articles
shall be void, and the garrison in its former cendition. In confirmation
and ratification of all which, to be truly and really performed, on both
parts, we have hereunto interchangeably set our hands and seals, this
2d day of November, 1649.

Signed and sealed,
DALLYEL.

1 Cox’s History of Ireland. Borlase’s Irish Rebellion.



CHAPTER VI.

1650. This year the Presbyterian ministers of the counties
of Down and Antrim, displayed considerable opposition to the
Commonwealth of England, by their preaching and praying in
favour of the royal cause. To deter them from the like practices,
they were summoned, in May, before colonel Venables, on which
some of them fled, or kept out of the way; but those who
appeared, boldly declared their attachment to king, lords,
and commons, as the only legal authority. They were then made
prisoners, and those of the former county confined at Belfast,
the latter at Carrickfergus.! * Same year, George Sexton,
formerly quarter master general to the Irish army commanded
by the Roman Catholic Bishop of Clogher, and who had been
taken prisoner by Sir Charles Coote, at Letterkenny, was executed
here.?

1651. In March this year a council of war was held at
Carrickfergus by the officers of the parliamentary forces, who
passed an act of banishment against the Presbyterian ministers ;
on which many fled to Scotland, but some remained in secret
about the country. This act declared that the chief cause was
their keeping alive the interest of the king among the people,
and representing those in power as traitors and breakers of the
Covenant.3

1653. The ministers and gentlement of the Presbyterian
church of Ireland were assembled here, being summoned before
the Commissioners of the Rump—colonels Venables, Barrow,

! Presbyterian Loyalty.

2Desu.lerata Curiosa Hiberniea.

3 A Sample of Jet Black Prelatic Calumny.

[*Nearly 70 Presbyterian ministers were then eJecled from their livings in
Ulster. Ten were imprisoned in Carrickfergus Castle, and seven were con-
fined in Carlingford Castle. The ministers confined in Carrickfergus were—
Thomas HHall, Larne: William Keyes, Belfast; fohin Douglas, Broughshane;
Robert Hamllton, Killead; James Cunningham, Antrim; Jobn Couthart,
Drumal; Jobn Shaw, Ahogh:ll James Shaw, Carnmoney, Hugh Wilson,
Castlereagh and Robert Hogsyeard, Ballyrashane. Besides these there were
Andrew Wike (Baptist) and Tlmothy Taylor (Independent.)— Latimer’s
“History of the Irish Presbyterians,” p. 138.]

[*For a list of the gertlemen to be transported from Carrickfergus,
Broadisland, Islandmagee, &c., see Reid’s History of the Presbyterian
Church, Vol. 2, app. 3.]
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Jones, and Hill, and majors Morgan and Allan. The cause of
this summoning was to get them to take, instead of the oaths of
allegiance and supremacy, an oath called the Engagement, by
which they were to abjure king, lords, and commons. - When
assembled, they loyally refused to take the oath, and declared
that the then ruling government was a usurpation: upon which
the commissioners formed a design of transporting them to
Munster, and had a ship lying off for that purpose; but accounts
arriving of Cromwell having dissolved the Rump, the design was
abandoned. Among those gentlemen who refused to take the
oath, was Arthur Upton, esq., ancestor to Lord Templeton.1

About 1662, some Quakers settled at Crossgreen, near
Carrickfergus; and in the following year, we find a remarkable
instance of their being persecuted here, in the case of Miles
Grey, who was taken up and cast into prison by Colonel
Charles Meredith, for exhorting in the street. On the following
day he was banished from the town, and beaten by George
Spring, gaoler, as he drove him thence.?

1666. In April, the garrison, consisting of four com-
panies of foot, mutinied for want of their pay, but were soon
quelled. It is likely, however, that their grievances were not
redressed ; for the mutiny again broke out with greater violence
on the 22d of the following month. Choosing one Corporal

1 Presbyterian Loyalty. Lodge’s Peerage.

[In 1661, the parliament of Ireland followed that of England in
restoring the former government and worship, and in passing an act for
burning the Solemn League and Covenant, the magistrates in every
place being directors and witnesses. The only magistrate in the King-
dom who hesitated to burn the Covenant was Captain John Dalway,
Mayor of Carrickfergus. On the 29th July, 1661, he was brought on
his knees to the Bar of the House of Lords and fined £100o for not
causing the Covenant to be burned; but on producing a certificate that
he had duly complied with the order of Parliament, the fine was to be
remitted, and he was discharged on payment of his fees.—Lords’
Journals, Vol. 1, 273.]

2 Rutty’s Persccutions of the Quakers—In 1680, it was intended
to build a Quaker mecting-house at Crossgreen; and a transferred
lease of ten perches of ground, for this purpose, and for a burying-
ground, was obtained from Robert Hoop and John Woods, to John
Flandcock and others. The witnesses to this lease were, William
Pickin, Patrick Agnew, Mathias Calvart, and William Porter.
However, no meeting-house was built ; and the Quakers ceased to mect
here about 1684, having fallen into disrepute from the improper
conduct of some of their members, particularly one Ralph Sharpley.
The patch of ground alluded to, served for some time as a burying-
ground to the above sect. It lay on the bank of a small rivulet, near
Prospect : it was enclosed with a hedge, and long known as the
Quakers’ burying ground.
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Dillon for their commander, they prepared for defending them-
selves. They drew out a list of their grievances, inviting other
garrisons to join them, and sent a copy to the earl of Donegall,
then in the town; upon which he waited on them, and did
his utmost to bring them to order, but without effect. On the
25th same month, the earl of Arran, son to the duke of
Ormond, arrived at Carrickfergus in the Dartmouth frigate,
with four companies of foot guards; and on the 27th, his
grace of Ormond arrived with ten troops of horse. In the
evening, a general assault was made on the town, the earl of
Arran attacking it by sea, and Sir William Flowers by land;
on which the mutineers retreated into the castle, with the loss
of Dillon, their commander, and two others. The assailaats
had two killed and six wounded. Same evening, the earl of
Donegall and the mayor effected their escape from the town ;
and so many of the mutineers deserted, that their number was
reduced to 120 men. On the next day, they hung out a white
flag, and desired to capitulate; and on the earl’s assurance of
safety, one Proctor and another mutineer were let down the
castle wall, to treat of terms; but the earl refusing to listen
to any proposal short of unconditional submission, they
returned into the castle. The mutineers, however, although they
had still a month’s provisions, surrendered at discretion the
same day, about 2 o'clock.

On the 3oth. 110 persons were tried, nine of whom were
executed, and the others sent to Dublin, whence they were
transported. The companies to which they belonged were also
reduced. Two companies of the guards being left in garrison,
his grace returned to Dublin, on which the House of Commons
appointed a deputation of their body to wait on him with their
thanks for suppressing this mutiny.' The corporation received
the thanks of government for their loyalty on this occasion,
and gave a splendid entertainment to the earl of Arran; and
in the following July, a company of militia being raised for the
defence of Carrickfergus, the mayor for the time being was
appointed to the command.? For the letter of his appointment,
see Appendix, No. ITX.

In the MSS. of Henry Gill, esq., we find some additional

1Cox’s History of Ireland. Carte’s Life of the Duke of Ormond.
Journals of the Irish House of Commons.
2 Records of Carrickfergus.
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and interesting particulars of this mutiny, from which it
appears that the above soldiers had been treated with the most
cruel neglect; having been kept without pay upwards of three
months, and the inhabitants having long refused to credit them.
For some time prior to the mutiny, they had existed wholly
on such fish as they could find on the shore, and even sea
plants, which they boiled. Just before proceeding to extremes,
they waited on Hugh Smyth, treasurer of this corporation, and
humbly requested two shillings and six pence for each man;
but he refusing any aid, they proceeded as just related. On the
nine men being ordered for execution, the common hangman
refused to do his office, and left the town, declaring that “he
would rather be hanged himself, than hang men who had been
so badly treated.” However, James Spring, an inhabitant of
the town, performed this hateful office, on being promised, by
Sir William Flowers, £5 for each man; not one farthing of
which he ever received. Mr. Gill adds, that had this mean
wretch possessed the humanity of the common hangman, ihe
men would have been saved; as a reprieve came for all, a few
hours after they were executed.

1670. This summer, the regular army being all drawn to
an encampment on the Curragh of Kildare, the town and castle
of Carrickfergus were garrisoned by the militia company o»f
this place, Anthony Horsman, mayor, commanding.!

1688. About the beginning of March, a number of
protestant noblemen and gentlemen assembled at Hillsborough,
the chief of whom was lord Blaney. At this meeting they
“formed a design against Carrickfergus,” then held by those
attached to king James; but it failed through treachery.? The
records of Carrickfergus of the above vyear contain the
following notice. “ Decemb* the 2d being Sunday 1688, The
Lord Eveagh and two other Captains entered this Towne with
3 Companies of new raysed foote unarmed, and then parte
resceaved armes, and had the Castle delivered unto them
(according to order), by Capt." George Talbot Capt." of
Granadeers, then Governor; and next day the Said Capt.n
Talbot, Capt.® S.r Patrick Barnwall, Capt> Newgent, and
Capt ® Shurlock, marched towards Dublin with their Com-
panies.”

1 Records of Carrickfergus.
2 Memoires of Ireland.
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1689. In January, a plan was formed by the protestants
of Belfast and neighbourhood, to surprise this town and castle,
then held by the Roman catholic troops, commanded by the
earl of Antrim. This design was intended to have been effected
by 150 protestant soldiers, of Sir Thomas Newcombe’s regiment,
advancing to Carrickfergus, pretending they had been sent to
assist in garrisoning the town; and, when admitted, to seize
the gates, and receive the other protestants. When about to be
carried into execution, it was laid aside by the timidity of some
of their leaders; on which the soldiers who had embarked in
the above scheme deserted. This, with some other circumstances
that transpired about the same time, gave such an alarm to the
adherents of James, that they evacuated Belfast.'" Another
plan was soon after laid by the protestants, to obtain possession
of this garrison, with no better success. On the night of the
21st February, same year, 1000 men* marched from Belfast,
commanded by Colonel Bermingham, but the stratagem by which
they had hoped to gain possession, failing, a cessation of arms
was agreed upon between the parties. Soon after, the protestant
forces in the adjacent country, overpowered by those of the
opposite army, either dispersed or removed to Colerain.?

On the 15th of the following April, colonel Mark Talbot
marched hence with part of the troops in garrison, and being
joined by other detachments, the whole amounting to near
5000 men, proceeded to the Ards against captain Henry
Hunter, who had collected an irregular force of the peasantry,
amounting to near 3000 men, to oppose the plunderings of the
catholic troops, under col. Bryan Magennis and col. Francis
Wahup. Hunter, having no intelligence of the enemy’s motions,
was surprised near Comlir (perhaps Comber); “and the Irish
put all they couw'd come at to the Sword,” Hunter himself
escaping to the isle of Man.?

1 A Faithful History of the Northern Transactions.

[¥On their arrival at Carrickfergus, Mark Talbot, Lieutenant-
Colonel to the Earl of Antrim, desired to know the meaning of their
coming. “‘He was told that they came to demand the place for the
Prince of Orange, to check the insolencies and robberies of the
soldiers, and to put the town and castle, and the stores contained in
them, under the command of a protestant Governor.”’—Harris’s Life of
King William, Vol. 2, p. 233.]

2 A Faithful History of the Northern Transactions. Mackenzie’s
Narrative of the Siege of Derry

3 Memoires of Ireland.



65

Tuesday August 13th, the same year, duke Schomberg*
arrived in the bay, with a fleet of about go vessels, having on
board near 10,000 men, and same evening began to disembark
his troops at Groomsport, near Bangor. The army remained
in the field during the night, upon their arms; and the
following day the duke sent forward a party of 250 men, “to
see what posture the enemy were in about Belfast.” At the
same time the Irish troops in Carrickfergus burned the suburbs
of the town, “ apprehending a siege.” ?

Colonel Thomas Maxwell, governor of Carrickfergus for
king James, on hearing the duke was coming to besiege the
garrison, left the town, giving his charge to col. Mac Carty
More, whose regiment, and that of Cormac O’Neil], he left for
its defence. The duke took possession of Belfast, from whick
the enemy had retired towards Lisburn. On the zoth, five
regiments of foot were sent to besiege Carrickfergus; “and
next day seven more went, who almost surrounded it,” and
began to cast entrenchments, and plant cannon and mortars.®
The following journal of this siege is copied from a work
entitled “ An Impartial History of the Wars of Ireland,”
written by George Story, an eye-witness.

“The Town desired a Parley, and sent out Lieutenant
Gibbons, with Propositions in Writing; He presented them
very submissively, and the Duke went into a Tent to read them ;
but when he found they desired time to send to the late King
for Succours, or leave to surrender, he sent the Paper out, and
ordered the Lieutenant to be gone, and then their Cannon plaid
directly at the Tent where he left the Duke, doing some Damage
thereabouts, but the Duke was gone abroad. Our cannon were

[*The same day, Duke Schomberg writes a letter to King William,
and describes the “departure of the troops from Hoylake, and their
arrival in the Bay of Carrickfergus. He said, ‘“ The enemy has a
tolerably large force of cavalry, but they have suffered loss in their
infantry : that of Enniskillen having been killed in a battle of which
your Majesty will learn by way of Scotland. Captain Rouck (Rooke)
whom I met in Ireland, fold me he had sent an account of it to the
Duke of Hamilton. I believe your Majesty will approve of strict order
being taken that the soldiers do not pillage as they desire to do. The
inhabitants are all protestants (‘ gens de la religion ’) mostly °presbi-
teriens’; there are few papists.”” “Is glad to learn that the cavalry
regiment, composed of French refugee officers, has given the King
satisfaction.”’—Calendar of State Papers, 1689-90, p. 220.]

1 Story’s Impartial History of the Wars of Ireland.

2 Memoirs of James II.

* Story’s Impartial History of the Wars of Ireland.

6
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as ready as theirs, for we begun to play upon my Lord Done-
gall's House in the Town, on which the Enemy had planted
two Guns which disturbed our camp. Before next morning our
men drew their Trenches several Paces nearer the Wall, which
occasioned very warm firing on both sides all Night; We lost
some men, and had two Officers wounded; and a Drummer,
that made his escape over the Wall, gave the Duke an Account
that there were about thirty killed in the Town that Night.

Thursday the 22d was employed in running the Trenches
nearer, the Mortars and Cannon still playing upon the Town,
and upon the Half-moon, that was to the Right of the Castle.
This Day came a Fleet of about Fifty Sail into the Lough,
which brought over four Regiments of Foot, and one of Horse.
The day and night were spent in smart firing, four Regiments
of Foot mounting the Trenches.

Friday the 23d, the Besieged desired another Parley, and
would have marched out with Bag and Baggage, Drums
beating, and Colours flying, &c.; But the Duke would allow
no other Terms, but to make them Prisoners of War. During
this Parley, the Duke visited all the Trenches, and observed
the Walls of the Castle, and a poor Dutchman was shot from
the Walls, making his Returns to Reproaches against the Prince
of Orange, our King, saying, That their King was a Tinker
King, he had nothing but Brass Money: he was not nimble
enough at getting off when the Parley was over, and so lost
his Life for his Jests sake. After this the Duke gave orders
for the Engineers and Gunners to go on as vigorously as
possible. Before we had only two Batteries, one in the Wind-
mill Hill (with Mortars,) before the castle, Westward ; the other
of four Guns against the North-gate. The Duke then ordered
a very large Mortar to be placed under the Walls, upon a New
Battery, near the Lord Donegalls House (with two Small Guns)
which did great Execution: This Night was spent in continual
firing of great and small Shot, and next morning the Town was
all over smothered with Dust and Smoak occasioned by the
Bombs; Collonel Richards was carried to Belfast, being
wounded in the Trenches the Night before; and there was one
Mr. Spring that made his escape out of the Town, who told
the Duke, That all the Soldiers lay continually on the Walls,
so that the Bombs only plagued the Protestants in Town; a$
also that Mackarty Moor, and Owen Mackarty, were the only
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two that hindered the Town to be surrendred; and that they
resolved, if we stormed the Town, to retire all to the Castle, in
order to which they had laid in great store of Corn, Beef, Salt,
and other Provisions proportionable. He gave also an account,
that they were straitned for Ammunition, having only at first
30 or 32 Barrels of Powder, with other things suitable. This
Afternoon several of them were observed to be buisy on the
top of the Castle; it was believed at first they were planting
‘Guns there, but we understood afterwards, that they were
pulling off the Lead to make Bullets.

Sunday the 25th, The Siege continued, and the Breaches
were made wider, particularly one a little to the East of the
North-gate, and yet the Irish were very industerius in making
up at Night, what we beat down in the day.

Next morning our Guns plaid furiously, and the Breach
(notwithstanding all their cunning) was increased; which the
Irish seeing, and fearing that our men would enter, they found
out this stratagem, (viz.) They got a great number of Cattle,
and drove them all as near the top of the Breach as they could
force them to go, keeping themselves close behind them; and
this served in some measure to secure the Breach; for several
of the Cattle were killed by our shot, and as they fell, the
Irish threw Earth, Stones and Wood upon them; but this they
thought would not hold long, and so they desired another
Parley, which the Duke would not hear of, but ordered the
mortars and Cannon to play without ceasing, and the Men of
War had orders to play their Guns from the sea upon the
Castle, which so terrified the Irish, that at Six a Clock next
morning, they put out their white Flag again, and sent their
Proposals to the Duke, which at length he agreed to, having
more business before him, and the Season of the Year
beginning to alter. He gave them leave therefore to march out
with their Arms, and some baggage, and they were to be
conducted with a Guard to the next Irish Garrison, which then
was Newry.”

! Articles of Agreement between Frederick Duke of Schomberg,

General of Their Majesties’ Forces, and Col. Charles Mackarty

Moore, Governor of Carrickfergus, August 27, 1689.

1. That the Garrison shall march out with flying Colours, Arms,
lighted Matches, and their own Baggage, to-morrow by Ten a Clock.

11. That in regard the Garrison are in such Disorders, none be
admitted into the Town, but such a Guard as we think fit to send to
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“ When firing ceased on both sides, several of our Officers
went into the Town, and were treated by the Irish with Wine
and other things in the Castle, and the Articles were scarce
agreed to, till Mackarty Moor was in the Duke’s Kitchen, in
the Camp; which the Duke smiled at, and did not invite him
to Dinner ; Saying, if he had staid like a Soldier with his men,
he would have sent to him; but if he would go and eat with
Servants in a Kitchen, let him be doing.

We took possession of the Stores, the Irish had but one
Barrel of Powder left, tho some say they threw several more
into the Sea to save their Credit.!

On Wednesday the 28th of August, about Ten o'Clock, the
Irish marched out, and had Sir William Russel, a Captain in
Collonel Coy’s Regiment, with a Party of Horse, appointed
for their Guard; but the Countrey people were so inveterate
against them (remembering how they had served them some
days before) that they stript most part of the Women, and
forced a great many Arms from the Men; and took it very ill
that the Duke did not order them all to be put to Death,
notwithstanding the Articles: But he knew better things; and

one of the Gates, which shall immediately be delivered to us,
according to the Custom of War.

II1. That the Garrison shall march out to-morrow by Ten a
Clock, and be conducted by a Squadron of Horse to the nearest
Garrison of the Enemy; and there shall be no crowding nor confusion
when they march out.

IV. That nothing be carried out of the Town, which belongs to
the Protestants, or other Inhabitants.

V. That the Governor obliges himself to deliver all Cannon, and
other sort of Arms, Munition, Victuals of any kind, into the hands of
such a Commissary as shall be ordered by us to receive them to-morrow
morning.

VI. That if there be any thing due from the Garrison to the
Inhabitants of the Protestant Religion, it shall be paid; and what has
been taken from them shall be restored.

VIl. That a safe Conduct for all the Inhabitants of the Countrey,
and such of the Roman Catholic Clergy that came for shelter to this
Garrison, shall be allowed, that they go to their respective habitations,
together with their Goods, and there be protected, pursuant to King
William’s Declaration, bearing date the 22d of February last past.

VIII. That care shall be taken of the sick and wounded men of
the Garrison that cannot go along with their Regiments; and that
ghen they are in a condition to follow the rest, they shall have our

ass.
SCHOMBERG.

! The London Gazette, No. 2582, informs us that at the time of
this surrender, there were only 14 pieces of cannon mounted, no
ammunition, 250 barrels of oats, 315 stone of wool, but no provisions.
Wool was formerly used to cover soldiers from the effect of small arms.
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$0 rude were the Irish Scots, that the Duke was forced to ride
in among them, with his Pistol in his hand, to keep the Irish
from being murdered. The poor Irish were forced to fly to
the Soldiers for protection, else the Country people would have
certainly used them most severely; so angry were they one at
another, tho they live all in a Countrey. However, this was laid
at the General's Door, by the great Officers in the Irish Army,
and they would say, That he had lost his Honour, by engaging
in so ill a Cause. The Governor of the Town was Mackarty
Moor, but Owen Mackarty had a great Ascendant over both
him and the Garrison. The Garrison consisted of two Regi-
ments of Foot, lusty strong Fellows, but ill clad, and to give
them their due they did not behave themselves ill in that Seige.
They had about One Hundred and Fifty killed and wounded
in Town, and we had near that number killed, and about Sixty
wounded.”

Leaving Sir Henry Inglesby’s regiment in garrison here,
the army marched for Belfast on the 28th, and the heavy
artillery was shipped for Carlingford.*

From a very rare pamphlet entitled “ A Journal of what
passed in the North of Ireland,” the following is another
account of the siege:—* The garrison no sooner saw our fleet
than they burned the suburbs, and seized the Protestants in that
place, made fast the gates, and put themselves in a posture of
defence. About three in the afternoon on Tuesday, August
13th, the General with part of the fleet that was with him put
into Groomsport, and that evening landed all the soldiers, and
forthwith sent parties to Killileagh, Hillsborough, Lisnagarvey,
and Belfast, in which places they found not one papist to resist
them. This night the General, with the rest encamped near
Bangor.

Wednesday, 14th, early in the morning his Grace decamped
to Belfast, and encamped there until the remainder of the fleet
came, which was not until the 19th, and then they landed their
men at Belfast, where having refreshed themselves, on the 2oth
they marched towards Carrickfergus, eight miles—the géneral
at the same time ordering the men of war, which were seven or
eight, to draw up before the town, and as soon as they saw the
army by land come before it to play on it with their cannon:—

1 Story’s Impartial History of the Wars of Ireland.
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accordingly they began at six in the afternoon, and continued
firing until the enemy had raised their batteries one upon the
East and another on the North side of the town, where a vast
number of horses and other cattle, all of which fell into the
soldiers hands, as an encouragement to go further.

Captain George of Lord Lisburn’s regiment with great
courage and bravery fetched off very great booty.

The batteries being finished, the cannon and mortars began
to play that night, and continued playing until next morning,
when the general for want of a trumpet, sent in the morning
a drum into the town, to demand a surrender upon discretion,
which they refused to do otherwise than with bag and baggage,
drums beating, trumpets sounding, and colours flying, and a
convey to conduct them safe to their own party.

The parley was no sooner over than there came into the
camp 500 horse from Enniskillen, some without boots and
pistols ; others with pistols, but without carabines; some with
one pistol and a carabine, without sword ; others without all.

The general himself until twelve at night, was marching
up and down in person, giving necessary orders, and going over
the batteries, and no more concerned at the enemies’ bullets
humming and whissing about his ears, than if it had been music
of peace. I saw myself several of the enemies’ ball to fall
close to him, and go over into the trenches.

I stood all night in the camp, to please my eyes and ears
with the sight and noise of our bombs and cannon, and small
shot, which played continually on the town, like incessant
showers of hail, with which they beat down the gate on the
north side of the town, and great part of the wall adjoining,
and much of the half-moon by the castle; and a drummer and
others who stole out said it killed their principal gunner, by
dismantling a piece of cannon upon him when he was leveling
at our battery, on the half-moon. About five next morning,
I returned to Belfast, and found that a Protestant may already
safely and without any danger, march through the whole
province of Ulster, without a staff in his hand, not a papist
being anywhere to be found in it except about 2,000, who are
fled to the Red Glen* or Glenarrif, between the mountains,

* Red-Bay, or Glenariff, the place where the Irish halted for the
first night after their leaving Carrickfergus, is still pointed out on the
banks of the Six-mile-water, Ballyboley.
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about 20 miles north of this place, for fear of being despoiled
by the Protestants (who they had so served already); they have
few arms except Pikes and Skeans. To our great surprise and
no less joy, we found the country full of corn, and all manner
of provisions. We bave no certain account of the enemies’
army, but it is confidently reported that they are now at
Lurgan-Race, and have made from thence to Newry.

The country all hereabouts offer their service as one man
to the general, to go against the enemy, as yet but here and
there a man has been accepted.

On the afternoon of the 23rd the garrison sent out an
officer with an order of surrender, upon the terms offered them,
but the general refused to do so, otherwise than upon discretion,
and that unless they sent out all the Protestants safe and well,
he would put every papist to the sword, he should take, this
they also rejected, and the cannon and bombs, have played all
night, and this morning as I am writing hereof I saw the town
on fire, so that by the next you may here of its surrender.” *

Our records of this date contain the following additional
information respecting this siege :—

“When King William’s Army under General Schomberg
invested this Towne (being possessed by the Irish) the zoth of
August, 1689, I was upon the first appearance of the army
committed Prisoner in the Vault next to the mayn Guard, and
next day was committed to the common Gaole, into which I
had this Book, and the Towne Chest, (wherein all the Records,
Deeds & Charters of the Towne were), brought into the Gaole,
where they remayned till the Towne was delivered the 27th,
and the English entered: next day I delivered the Sword
(which was hid by my Serjant) to General Schomberg, in the
markett place, whoe was pleased to restore it unto mee; and
I continued till the 29th September, 16g0.

Ricuarp DogBss, mayor.”

! M‘Skimin’s Appendix.
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1690, Saturday June 14th, about 4 o'clock afternoon,
king William * landed at this quay from the Mary yacht,
attended by prince George of Denmark, the duke of Ormond,
the earls of Oxford, Scarborough, and Manchester, the hon.
Mr. Boyle, and many persons of distinction.>? He walked
through “part of the town,” and, about half an hour after
landing, set off in Duke Schomberg’s carriage to Belfast, near
which place he was met in state by the sovereign and burgesses.
The former presented a very loyal address to his majesty, in
the name of the corporation, and other inhabitants, which his
majesty received with much seeming satisfaction.? Concerning
this visit, Dr. Adam Clarke, in a Life written by himself,
says:—"“ My great-great-grandfather, William Clarke, was an
estated gentleman, of Grange, in the County of Antrim, and was
appointed in 16go, to receive the Prince of Orange, when he
came to Carrickfergus. He had received the principles of
George Fox, and as he could not uncover his head to any man,
before he came near to the Prince, he took off his hat and laid
it on a stone by the way-side, and walked forward. When he
met the Prince, he accosted him thus, ‘William, thou art
welcome to this Kingdom.” ‘I thank you, sir,” replied the
Prince; and the interview was so satisfactory to the Prince
that he said, ‘ You are, sir, the best bred gentleman I have ever
met.” His son John married Miss Horseman, of Carrick-
fergus. ®

[“ *In the first week of June King William left Kensington, and
eight days afterwards he sailed from Hoylake, near Liverpool, under
the convoy of six men of war, commanded by Sir Cloudsley Shovel,
His Majesty being on board the yacht Mary, and the noblemen and
gentlemen composing his suit in the other vessels.'’ ‘“ On his landing
at Carrickfergus the King immediately mounted and rode on horseback
through the main street of the town, which was lined on both sides
with innumerable crowds of people, who bid his Majesty welcome with
continual shouts and acclamations.”—From a rare work entitled
‘“‘ Villare Hibernicum,’’ 1690.]

A large stone at the point of the quay is still called ‘ King
William’s stone,”’ from his having set his foot on it when landing.

2 Records of Carrickfergus. Records of Belfast.

* M‘Skimin’s Appendix.
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1704, The duke of Ormond arrived here, and was
splendidly entertained by Edward Clements, mayor. This
corporation also presented his grace, by the hands of Edward
Lyndon, recorder, with the freedom of the place, in a gold box,
value £18.!

1711.  March 31st, Janet Mean, of Braid-island, Janet
Latimer, Irish-quarter, Carrickfergus, Janet Millar, Scotch-
quarter, Carrickfergus, Margaret Mitchel, Kilroot, Catharine
M‘Calmond, Janet Liston, alias Seller, Elizabeth Seller, and
Janet Carson, the four last from Island Magee, were tried here,
in the county of Antrim court, for witchcraft. Their alleged
crime was tormenting a young woman called Mary Dunbar,
about eighteen years of age, at the house of James Hattridge,
Island Magee, and at other places to which she was removed.
The circumstances sworn on their trial were as follow:—

The afflicted person being, in the month of February,
1711, in the house of James Hattridge,* Island Magee, (which
had been for some time believed to be haunted by evil spirits)
found an apron in the parlour floor, that had been missing some
time, tied with five strange knots, which she loosened. On the
following day she was suddenly seized with a violent pain in
her thigh, and afterwards fell into fits and ravings; and on
recovering, said she was tormented by several women, whose
dress and personal appearance she minutely described. Shortly
after, she was again seized with the like fits ; and on recovering,
she accused five other women of tormenting her, describing them
also. The accused persons being brought from different parts
of the country, she appeared to suffer extreme fear, and
additional torture, as they approached the house. It was also
deposed, that strange noises, as of whistling, scratching, &ec.
were heard in the house, and that a sulphureous smell was
observed in the rooms; that stones, turf, and the like, were
thrown about the house, and the coverlets, &c. frequently taken
off the beds, and made up in the shape of a corpse; and that
a bolster once walked out of the room into the kitchen, with a
night gown about it! It likewise appeared in evidence, that
in some of her fits, three strong men were scarcely able to hold
her in the bed; that at times she vomited feathers, cotton yarn,

!'Records of Carrickfergus. e

[*The man whose house was supposed to be haunted by evil spirits
was Mr. James Haltridge (not Hattridge), son of the Rev. John
Haltridge, Presbyterian clergyman of Islandmagee.]
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pins, and buttons; and that on one occasion she slid off the
bed, and was laid on the floor, as if supported and drawn by
an invisible power. The afflicted person was unable to give
any evidence on the trial, being during that time dumb; but
had no violent fit during its continuance.

The evidence sworn upon this trial were, Rev.
Skevington, Rev. William Ogilvie, William Fenton, John
Smith, John Blair, James Blythe, William Hartley, Charles
Lennon, John Wilson, Hugh Wilson, Hugh Donaldson, James
Hill, James Haltridge, Mrs. Haltridge, Rev. Patrick Adair,
Rev. James Cobham, Patrick Ferguson, James Edmonston, and
Jamison.

In defence of the accused, it appeared that they were
mostly sober industrious people, who attended public worship,
could repeat the Lord’s prayer, and had been known to pray
both in public and private; and that some of them had lately
received the communion.

Judge Upton charged the jury, and observed the regular
attendance of the accused on public worship; remarking, that
he thought it improbable that real witches could so far retain
the form of religion, as to frequent the religious worship of
God, both publicly and privately, which had been proved in
favour of the accused. He concluded by giving his opinion,
“that the jury could not bring them in guilty, upon the sole
testimony of the afflicted person’s visionary images.” He was
followed by Justice Macartney, who differed from him in
opinion, “and thought the jury might, from the evidence, bring
them in guilty ; which they accordingly did.”

This trial * lasted from six o'clock in the morning till two
in the afternoon; and the prisoners were sentenced to be
imprisoned twelve months, and to stand four times in the
pillory in Carrickfergus.?

Tradition says, that the people were much exasperated
against these unfortunate persons, who were severely pelted in
the pillory, with boiled eggs, cabbage stalks, and the like, by
which one of them had an eye beaten out.

For some time both before and after the last noticed
year, Carrickfergus appears to have been distracted by the

[*The Rev. William Tisdall, D.D., Vicar of Belfast, was present,
and an account of the trial, written by him, appeared in the ‘“‘Hibernian
Magazine,’’ for January, 1775.] /

'From a rare manuscript lately published by the author of this
work—price sd.
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factions of Whig and Tory; the former almost exclusively
dissenters, the latter chiefly belonging to the established church.
The violent tories were distinguished by the name of kigh-flyers;
and were strenuous advocates for the doctrine of passive
obedience and non-resistance, as promulgated by the noted
Sacheverell. They openly accused the whigs of an intention to
pull down the only true protestant church, and of a design to
subvert the constitution.! We shall briefly notice a few of the
most remarkable incidents that took place here in connexion
with these bickerings of political and religious party.

About 1708, the repeal of the Test Act, by which the
dissenters laboured under several disabilities, became a favourite
object with that sect; and at a meeting of the quarter sessions
grand jury of this county, it was unanimously agreed to address
her majesty respecting its repeal. This address was afterwards
signed by three of the resident burgesses, and other inhabitants,
some of whom belonged to the episcopal church: it was
presented to her Majesty by the earl of Pembroke, graciously
received, and published in the London Gazette of May 24,
1708.2

Such a distinction did not pass unnoticed by the Tories;
who immediately industriously propagated, and afterwards
published in the Flying Post for Sept. 30, 1708, and entered
in the records of the corporation, that the said address was
published without the knowledge of the corporation, and was
not the address “made at this Quarter Sessions; ” and, in a
pamphlet published about this time, entitled “ The Conduct of
the Dissenters,” it was asserted, that the address was
“ clandestinely procured ” by the Rev. Patrick Adair, dissenting
minister of Carrickfergus, and only signed by a “few of the
Town-jury ; ” which falsehoods were afterwards publicly
contradicted in a paper signed by each juror.

! These feuds were probably not a little owing to the conduct of
the established clergy of that time. Bishop Burnet, in his History of
His Own Time, vol. 2, p. 315, says, that the greater part of the
clergy were ‘“ Enemies to the Toleration, and soured against the
Dissenters.”’

? Presbyterian Loyalty.

3Conduct of the Dissenters. Records of Carrickfergus. ) Presby-
terian Loyalty.—The names of the jurors were, William M‘Hendry,
James Watson, William Fairfoote, John Brown, William Bell, James
Irwin, David Morison, Josiah Hamilton, John Campbell, ]ohn.]ackson,
James Morison, John Mathews, Daniel M‘Kirk, William Jafn.e. John
Macomb, the other juror, was dead at the time of signing this seco.nd
paper. The burgesses who signed were, John Brown, James Irwin,
and David Hood.—Presbyterian Loyalty.
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About the same time another circumstance occurred, that
gave room for a further display of party rancour. The
government being apprehensive that the Pretender meditated
the invasion of some part of these kingdoms, an array of the
militia of this place was ordered, in common with those of the
county of Antrim. Soon after, the Rev. Edward Mathews,
curate of Carrickfergus, circulated a report, that the Rev.
Patrick Adair had left the town when the militia were about to
be sworn in, although requested to stay by the Mayor, who
dreaded a disturbance among the dissenters, on account of a
false report having gone abroad, that “they must all Swear to
be Churchmen.”1 This statement, on the suthority of Mr.
Mathews, also appeared in the pamphlet called “ The Conduct
of the Dissenters ; ” but was immediately contradicted, not only
by Mr. Adair, but also by Richard Horseman, mayor, and
William Wilkinson, a respectable inhabitant. 2 These false
reports, as might be expected, led to some disagreeable incidents.
Mr. Mathews and Mr. Adair, meeting soon after at the south
end of Essex-street, had such warm words respecting the above
statement, that blows ensued,—when the former is said to have
been overcome.?

Tradition likewise affirms, that in the summer of 1714,
the tories went so far as to take up by force the Dissenters’
Catechism, when exposed for sale in the market-place, and even
threatened to nail up their place of worship; and that a
military officer, proceeding to put this threat into execution, fell
dead on Gravott’s bridge, West-street.

The rancorous spirit of intolerance and persecution appears
to have been pretty generally abroad about this time. On the
17th July, same year, the Grand Jury of the county of Antrim,
assembled at assize, with other gentlemen and freeholders of
said county, prepared an address, to be presented to her Majesty
Queen Anne. In this address they highly approved of the
before-mentioned test ; strongly reprobated any secession from
the established church; and declared their unshaken loyalty to
her “ Sacred Majesty,” in opposition to those who, as they said,
would “transfer it to zkeir Sovereign Lord—THE PeoPLE.”
They concluded by declaring that they would, “ with the utmost
zeal and indignation pursue those factious spirits ” whom they

1The Conduct of the Dissenters.
2 Presbyterian. Loyalty.
3 Tradition of old Inhabitants.
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represented as endeavouring to undermine the throne.l Her
majesty died on the 1st August following, and this address*
fell to the ground.

The news of her Majesty’s decease was received here by
those parties with very opposite sensations. Some of the whigs
flew to the parish church, and began ringing, on its bell, “a
merry peal;” while a party of the leading tories, who were at
dinner in a Mrs. Young’s, in High-street, are reported to have
been affected in a very different manner. 2

The death of the queen, the accession of the House of
Hanover, and the introduction of the whigs into power,
completely cooled, or at least silenced, the intemperate zeal of
the tories; and from this time we learn no more of the excesses
of either faction; the progressive growth of liberality banishing
all such paltry distinctions. 3

1714. In a manuscript of this date, written in Carrick-
fergus, we find the following memorandums: “1714, after a
mild winter such an excessive dry and hot summer followed, as
was not then in the memory of man. From early in May to
the 16th July, not one drop of rain. It destroyed all the grass,
and occasioned an extreme scarcity of water for the cattle,
which farmers had often to drive several miles. For want
of food and water the cattle mostly went dry, and many of
them died. The harvest proved early but not plentiful,
especially in oats and summer barley, the latter entirely ruined.”
It is added that butter was then selling in Belfast at £z4 per
ton, which it is observed is very dear.

1715. In April, this year, Mathew Moiler, a dragoon, was
executed here for a robbery and assault. The circumstances
were as follow. On the evening of the robbery, he had observed -
a countryman receive some money for barley sold in this town;
on which he waylaid him near Bridewell, knocked him down,
and abused him much, and took from him fwo pence kalfpenny;

IMSS. To this paper, amongst others are signed the names of
Henry Magee, John Davies, and John Bashford, who probably
belonged to Carrickfergus. .

[* This address with all the names of the supporters is printed in
the Belfast News-Letter for November 3oth, 1792.]

2 Tradition of old Inhabitants.

3Customs often continue when the cause from which they
originated has long ceased. The fanaticism of Sacheverell gave rise
to a new head-dress, which was worn by the ladies attached to the
tory faction. Within our memory, several women here wore what was
called the Sacheverell cap:—it was particularly distinguished by a
little peak in front, formed by a large plait on each side.
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the man having expended all save that sum. After sentence of
death was passed on him, he sold his body to W. A. Cunning-
ham, surgeon, and lived well on the money while it lasted. He
was a very tall man; and as he walked out to execution, he
placed himself against the south side of the Irish-gate, and
requested one of the by-standers to mark his height, which was
done. The mark remained there on a stone for many years,
a monument of his insensibility of mind, as well as the gigantic
stature of his body.!

1724, The corporation protested strongly against Wood's
halfpence,* about which a national outcry had been raised.
“ He seems,” say they, “the great Alchymist who has found out
the Secret of turning Copper into Gold;” and they declare,
that it is a shame “to enrich a single Stranger, who must build
his Fortune on the Ruins of an wunfortunate People’ ®

1732, April 2s5th, the duke of Dorset (lord lieutenant of
Ireland,) the dutchess of Dorset, lord Forbes, and Sir Molden
Lambert, landed at the Ranbuy, being driven into this lough by
a storm. During their stay, they lodged at the house of Arthur
Dobbs, esq. They embarked on the 28th same month, and
sailed for Pargate.®

1737, Samuel and Richard Chaplin, merchants of this
place, fitted out a ship, and commenced a very promising whale
fishery in the bay of Killybegs, and near St. John’s point,
county Donegall. They continued this fishery several years.*
In the journals of the Irish House of Commons, of 1739, we

! Records of Carrickfergus. Tradition of old Inhabitants.
[*As Ireland had been of late without a small copper coinage,
and as much inconvenience had arisen from the want of halfpence and
farthings, Walpole, as the head of the Treasury, had issued a patent
to William Wood, of Wolverhampton, who had extensive iron and
copper works, authorising him to coin £90,000 in copper for circulation
in Ireland. A cry arose in Ireland against these coins. The profits
of the undertaking were calculated to put £40,000 into the pockets
of the King and Duchess of Kendal. It was asserted that they were
so small and of such base metal that the ninety thousand would be
worth little more than nine. Both houses of the Irish Parliament
presented to the King addresses on the subject, which proved
unavailing. Dean Swift, in five letters called the ‘‘ Drapier Letters,”
inveighed in homely, powerful language against the evil results of the
Wood coinage. ‘‘As far as the true value of these halfpence,” said
he, *‘ any person may expect to get a quart of two-penny ale for thirty-
six of them.’”” In the end the King found it prudent to cancel the
patent to Wood, who received as compensation a grant of £3,000 a
year for twelve years.]

2 Records of Carrickfergus.

* Gill’s MSS. London Gentleman’s Magazine.

¢London Gentleman’s Magazine. Tradition.
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find the following notice :—* Resolved, that it is the Opinion
of this Committee, that the sum of 500 be granted to
Lieutenant Samuel Chaplin, to enable him to prosecute the
Discovery he has made of a Whale Fishery on the West Coast
of this Kingdom.” Mr. Chaplin died about this time, and no
part of the above grant was ever received by his family.

February 1738, the Belfast News-Letter of this date
records a very remarkable instance of what was then deemed
an exhorbitant price for provisions. James Granger, dealer,
Scotch-quarter, having advanced the price of his oatmeal from
1s. 1d. to 1s. 4d. the peck, or 18 lb.; the people were so much
enraged that they dragged his effigy, as a mark of disgrace,
through the streets and lanes of the town.

1739. On the evening of Dec. 26, a great frost com-
menced, accompanied by a high piercing wind.” The frost
continued till the 15th February, and was afterwards called
the black frost, from the unusually dark appearance of the ice,
and because the sun seldom shone during its continuance.?

The following particulars of the great frosts of 1684-5,
and 1739-40, are copied from the MSS. of Henry Gill, Esq.
“On the 26th of December, 1739, the air sensibly altered, and
became cooler, with a fresh breeze of wind which encreased
every day, until the 29th of the same month, when it did blow
violently, as also the day after; and what was most extra-
ordinary, that it froze most intensely during the time of the
high winds; and the cold was so exquisite, that it was almost
mmpossible to face it, or even to keep warm in the closest room,
although with plenty of fire. Said frost continued without any
sensible thaw, until the 15th February following. The oldest
man now living, does not remember so intense a frost, for the
great frost that came on in the year 1684, on the 16th
December, and continued until the 17th of March following,
the air after a few days was mild, considering the vast quantity
of snow and frost; but during the continuance of the above
frost it continued extremely cold.” 1741, a very cheap year,
wheat sold for 4s. per cwt. and beef at 1d. per Ib.

1744. The autumn of this year was uncommonly wet and
cold, and much grain was spoiled in the fields, all over the
north of Ireland; from which this was called zke 7oz year.
Provisions were scarce and dear the following spring, and a

*Gill’s MSS. Tradition.
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considerable mortality arose among the cattle, from the bad
quality of their food. !

1745. In January, an additional company of militia was
formed at Carrickfergus, of which Davys Wilson was captain.
In October, same year, an alarm prevailed, that the Pretender,
then in Scotland, intended to land a body of highlanders on
the adjoining coast, as a diversion to prevent government from
sending troops out of Ireland against him. Accordingly, on
the 28th of the month, this town and castle were garrisoned by
the militia of the place, and a company of Belfast volunteers.
The latter, who had been armed, clothed and disciplined at
their own expense, continued here ten days.—Linen yarn at this
time sold so low as from 3d. to 4d. per hank.2

1747. About October, oatmeal sold here at 4s. 1od. per
cwt. of 112 lbs. :

1750, January zgth, there happened an extraordinary high
tide. Near the Water-gate it swept away the road, part of the
town wall, and several houses, and left the quay a heap of
ruins.

1750—April 10th, nine men and one woman were lost near
the White-house, by the over-setting of a boat. In July, same
year, vast quantities of herrings were taken off the Black-head.

1752. October 12, Richard Taylor, Andrew Granger,
Samuel M‘Cullen, and Daniel Kirk, inhabitants of this place,
were killed at the castle, by the bursting of an old cannon ; the
gunner having wadded it with wet hay, to cause a loud report.

1756. September 2d was rendered memorable by a
remarkably high wind, which did considerable damage to the
ripened grain, much being shaken off. This caused a dearth
the following year, during which oatmeal sold at three shillings
and sixpence per 18 lbs. and potatoes at two shillings per -
bushel. Both were scarce, and Barley meal was the general
food of the lower classes; hence this was called zZe barley meal
summer. On the day of the above storm, the Patriot Club of
the county Antrim met in this town; Arthur Upton, Esq. one
of the representatives in Parliament for Carrickfergus, in the
chair. Forty two members were present, and “A plan of
association was formed and subscribed.” “declaring their
readiness to defend the King and Constitution,” but at the same

1Tradition of old Inhabitants. b
2Record of Carrickfergus. MSS. Tradition of old Inhabitants.
3 London Gentleman’s Magazine.
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time expressing their determination inflexibly to oppose “all
measures tending to infringe the sacred Right of the People.”

1760. Thursday, February. 2zist, about 10 o'clock A.M.,
commodore Thourot arrived in this bay, with the following
ships; Belleisle, 44 guns, Le Bland, 32, and Terpsichore, 24 ;
and detaining two fishing boats belonging to the Scotch quarter,*
proceeded to land between 700 and 8co men, at Kilroot point,
about two miles east of Carrickfergus.

As the men landed, they were formed into two divisions,
and immediately advanced by different routes to attack the
town ; the one crossing the fields towards the North-gate, and
the other by the Scotch-quarter, or Water-gate.

At this, time the troops in garrison consisted of a detach-
ment of General Strode’s regiment (62d, mostly recruits)
commanded by Lieutenant Colonel Jennings; who, on the first
report that the men who had landed were enemies, sent out a
party to reconnoitre them. Same time, some French prisoners
who had been confined in the castle, were sent off to Belfast,
under an escort of 4o armed inhabitants, commanded by Mr.
James M‘Ilwain. 2

About the same period, Willoughby Chaplin, mayor,
waited on Colonel Jennings, to learn if he meant to defend the
place. He replied, that from the smallness of his force, and
the ruinous state of the castle,? he deemed resistance rather
unnecessary. Mr. Chaplin said, that he must defend the
garrison, or his conduct should be reported to government; on
which the Colonel retired into the castle, and made the best
disposition possible for its defence. Mr. Chaplin, Lieutenant
Hercules Ellis, and a few other inhabitants, entered the castle,
and joined the military.

By this time the parties were warmly engaged in the
Scotch-quarter, and near the North-gate, which was for some
time defended from the town wall. General Flobert, com-
mander in chief of the enemy, being wounded in the leg, about
the centre of the Scotch-quarter, was carried into the house of
Mr. James Craig. This party entered by the Water-gate, and
after some firing in High-street,® were joined in the Market-

! Fishers detained by Thourot: John Steen, Wm. Cullogh, Wm.
Scott, Daniel Caughey, John Davison, and Henry Bishop.

2There was a breach towards the sea of near go feet wide, and
not a cannon mounted.—Tradition of old Inhabitants.

3As the enemy advanced in High-street, the following remarkable
circumstance took place, which we record. as perhaps an unequalled

7
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place, by the division that had forced their way down North-
street, with the loss of an officer and several men.

They now advanced in the most determined manner to
assault the castle, and forced the upper gate, which had not
been sufficiently secured by the troops after their hurried
entrance. ‘They were, however, soon driven back with loss.
At this period of the action, the gallant officer who led the
advanced division, was slain; ! and the assailants were obliged
to take refuge under cover of the adjoining houses, and an old
wall north of the castle.

Of this cessation the brave garrison were unable to take
any advantage, having expended nearly all their ammunition.
A parley was therefore beaten, and the garrison capitulated
upon honourable terms, stipulating that the town should not be
plundered. The capitulation®* was signed by Colonel Jennings,
and Colonel Dusulier, in the house of William Wilkinson,
High-street. M. Thourot was present on this occasion: he
spoke English fluently, and was very polite, but appeared much
fatigued, and slept for a short time in the house of Mr. Jame
Cobham.? *

instance of heroism and humanity. The parties being engaged, and the
English retreating, Thomas Secds, a child, son of John Sceds, Sheriff,
ran playfully between them; which being observed by the French officer
who commanded the advanced division, he took up the child, ran with
it to the nearest door, which happened to be its father’s, and
immediately returning, resumed his hostilities.—Tradition of old
Inhabitants.

It was he who took up the child, as just related.—On the gate
obeing forced open, he was the first who entered; at which time he was
observed to kiss a miniature picture that he took from his bosom. He
fell between the gates. He is said to have been of a noble family, by
name D’Esterees; and is described to have becen a remarkably fine
looking man.—Tradition of old Inhabitants. In a work lately
published, entitled, ‘“ NavaL aND MiLiTaARY ANECDOTES,”’ he is called
the Marquis De Scordeck, and said to have been a native of Switzer-
land. 2

[*In Part I. of Volume X. of the Ulster Journal of Archeology
Dr. John S. Crone gives the Articles of Capitulation.

On May sth, 1760, the Rev. John Wesley paid his third visit to
Carrickfergus. He accepted an invitation from Mr. Cobham, a
merchant in the town, to stop at his house, where he had an
opportunity of meeting Licutcnant General Cavaignac. Here Wesley
learned full particulars of the landing of the Irench, and wrote soon
after that they, when in the town, ‘‘ neither hurt nor affronted man,
woman, nor child, nor did any mischief for mischicf’s sake.”” —Wesley’s
Journal, Dent’s Edition, Vol. 2, p. 507.

20On this day the mayor was invited to dinner by the French
officers ; after which, the glass having circulated pretty frecly, Thourot
requested Mr. Chaplin to sing a song; who, after some intreaties from
the different officers, complied, and sung, with much spirit, ‘‘ The
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The number of troops who surrendered amounted to 10
officers, 11 serjeants, 10 corporals, 5 drummers, and 102 rank
and file. They had only two killed and three wounded. One
was killed on the half-moon; and from the wound being in
the back of his head, it was believed that he had been shot
accidentally, by some of those who fired from the top of the
castle.

The enemy had about 50 killed, among whom were three
officers; and about the same number wounded. Their killed
were buried close by the castle, in the ground now occupied as
a garden by the ordnance storekeeper.

It is said that M. Thourot wished to land at White-house,
and surprise Belfast; but that the general objected, fearing to
be harassed by a garrison left in his rear.

On the first alarm of an enemy intending to attack the
town, some timid people fled; and those who remained,
generally shut up their doors and windows, and quietly
remained within. In the evening, guards were stationed on the
different roads leading into town, and sentinels placed on the
houses of some of the principal inhabitants, to prevent their
being plundered; yet many houses were broken into, and
despoiled of their most valuable effects; * and even the church
was robbed of its plate.? During the night, so many of the
enemy were intoxicated in houses, and about the streets, that
fifty resolute men could have made them all prisoners.

Friday. Early this morning, John Hagan, servant to the
mayor, was killed near lower Woodburn bridge. He had been

British Grenadiers.” Thourot heard him out with perfect good nature ;
but some of the officers, who understood English, were rather ruffled.

!Two French soldiers going into the house of an old woman called
Mave Dempsey, one of them took her silk handkerchigf, and was
putting it into his pocket; when Mave, who was a pious Roman
Catholic, presented her beads at him, doubtless expecting t}'nat he \‘vould
be struck with compunction by such a forcible appeal to his conscience.
““Ah!" said the soldier, with a significant shrug, ‘' dat be good for
your soul—dis be good for my body.”’ It was observed, that thc
French soldiers never lost their national politeness. On one occasion,
in taking a lady’s ear-rings, the soldier who requested to have them
made as many bows, scrapes, and motions with his hand, as one of
our most consummate dandies, on entering a drawing-room.

20n the 21st of the following October, the Irish House of
Commons granted full compensation to the inhabitants for their losses
by the French. The sum granted was £4,285 12 o}; about 4600 of
which was afterwards returned to government. Among the items was
£17 for the church plate. In June, the following year, an additional
4200 was paid to Mr. John Campbell, surgeon, fo.r his losses.—
Journals of the Irish House of Commons. Parish Registry.
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hiding his master’s plate, when called on by a sentinel to stand;
but hastening his pace, he was fired at and shot. The few
casks of gunpowder remaining in the magazine were taken out
and staved in the outer yard of the castle. A soldier passing
in the act of smoking, a spark blew from his pipe into the
powder, by which accident four or five of his comrades were
blown into the sea.

The town being inadequate to supply the enemy with the
provisions wanted, the Rev. David Fullerton, dissenting
minister, and a French officer, were sent to Belfast on this day,
with a flag of truce, and a letter to the Sovereign of that town.
In this letter they demanded provisions to the amount of about
41200, declaring, that if not immediately sent, they would
burn both Belfast and Carrickfergus. After some deliberation,
an answer was returned, that their wishes would be complied
with as soon as possible ; and a part of the provisions demanded
were shipped on board two lighters, but the weather being
rough, they could not sail that evening.

On this day the French liberated the greater part of the
prisoners confined in the county of Antrim gaol. The only
person confined in the prison of the county of the town of
Carrickfergus, was a woman, for the murder of her bastard
child, whom they would not liberate, expressing the utmost
detestation of the crime with which she stood charged.

Saturday. This morning, a flag of truce arrived from
Belfast, letting the French commander know the cause of delay,
and that the lighter would sail, if possible, with the evening
tide. One of the lighters accordingly sailed that evening, but
was stopped by a tender in Garmoyle. Some parties of very
irregular militia, who had assembled at Belfast and Bellahill.?

! The following corps of militia had assembled at Bellahill, under
the care and direction of Robert Dalway, esq. by whom both officers:
and men were treated with great hospitality :—Island Magee, Raloo,
Glynn, Templecoran, Kilroot, Bellahill, and liberties of Carrickfergus,
amounting to 200 men. These assembled on Friday; they were mostly
armed, and commanded as follows: captain, Mariott Dalway, esq.;
lieutenants, Rev. James Dunbar, Messrs. Patrick Allan and Edward
Hudson.—Larne, 115 men, of lord Antrim’s regiment; captain, Adam
Johnston, esq.; lieutenants, Messrs. James Agnew and James Blair:
arrived on Friday.— Glenarm, 120 men, of lord Antrim’s regiment;
captain, James Myres, esq.; lieutenants, Messrs. John Mitchell and
William Higginson ; ensign, Rev. Thomas Reid: arrived on Sunday,
armed, and in uniform.—Belfast News-Letter, 1760.

[Fifty-five men of the Carnmoney Volunteer Company, commanded
by Henry Langford Burleigh, were at Carrickfergus on the 2s5th of
February, at Thourot's invasion.—Belfast News- Letter, March 28th, 1760.]
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being seen this day by the enemy’s scouts some miles from the
town, created much alarm and late in the evening, the
provisions not having arrived as expected, they became
impatient and exasperated, and another flag of truce was
despatched to Belfast, with a letter from Mr. Fullerton to the
Sovereign, letting him know that if the provisions were not
sent down early next morning, they would burn Carrickfergus,
put the inhabitants to the sword, and march to Belfast.

These threats had the desired effect; for, early on Sunday
some cars arrived from Belfast, with part of the promised
provisions, and a number of live bullocks, with which arrived,
as drovers, some of the inhabitants who had guarded the
French prisoners to Belfast. The lighter that had been
detained, also arrived about the same time, and the enemy were
very busy this evening in getting provisions and fresh water on
board.

Monday, they continued actively employed as above, and
evidently were in some confusion; it was believed they had
received notice of the troops marching against them.

Tuesday, the last of the French re-embarked from our
quay,® about 4 P. M., carrying along with them Willoughby
Chaplin, mayor, George Spaight, port-surveyor, and the Rev.
David Fullerton. The latter gentleman, being much indisposed,
was afterwards put on shore at Kilroot; the others were on
board the Belleisle when taken on the following Thursday.
Both were treated by M. Thourot with the utmost politeness.
On the 27th, the French ships lay still at their anchorage, the
wind blowing so hard from the N. W. as to prevent them
getting out of the bay. They sailed about one o’clock on the
morning of the 28th, during a strong northerly wind; at which
time the lights of the English squadron, then bearing down
the channel, could be discerned from the high lands near
Donaghadee.?

They had scarcely left the town, when the advanced guard
of the English forces arrived from Belfast, whither the

! The French forces consisted of volunteer draughts from regular
regiments; which draughts were commanded as follow: French
Guards, Le Comte De Kersalls, commandant, M. De Cavenac, colonel;
Swiss Guards, Cassailas, commandant; Regiment of Burgundy, De
Roussilly, commandant; Regiment of Camkise, Frechcan, com-
mandant ; Hussars, Le Comte De Skerdeck, commandant; Voluntaures
Estrangers, , commandant.

3 Tradition. Belfast News-Letter, 6o.
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following regiments had been marched, with all speed, from
different parts of the kingdom: Pole’s, Anstruther’s, Sandford’s,
and Seabright’s foot; and Mostyn’s, Yorke’s and Whitley’s
dragoons.

The French squadron was attacked and captured on the
28th, off the Isle of Mann, by the Zolus, Pallas, and
Brilliant frigates, under the command of Captain Elliott.
Commodore Thourot ! was killed in the action, which lasted an
hour and a half. The French had nearly 300 killed and
wounded; the English, 3 killed, 31 wounded.?

*M. Thourot was born in Boulogne. His paternal grandfather,
captain Farrell, was a native of Ireland, and an officer in the army of
James 1I. With that monarch he fled to France, where he died. His
widow survived but a very short time, during which she gave birth to
a son, in Boulogne, who was left to the care of her family, and went
by their name of Thourot. Remaining in Boulogne many years, he
became acquainted with one Farrell, an Irish smuggler, who claimed
relationship with him. His son (afterwards commodore Thourot), who
was then about fifteen years of age, embarked with Farrell for
Limerick ; but, stopping at the Isle of Mann, a dispute took place
between them, and young Thourot hired himself to a gentleman of
Anglesea. This person was an experienced smuggler, and had several
vessels in the trade, in one of which Thourot sometimes went. Upon
onc occasion, he was sent to Cariingford, where he remained almost
a year, to manage some business of importance. At Carlingford he
acquired a tolerable knowledge of the English language; and instead
of returning to his master, set off for Dublin, with only a few shillings
in his pocket. There he entered into the service of lord B——, with
whom he lived nearly two years, under the name of Dauphine.- He
next entered into the service of the earl of Antrim, and went with the
family to Glenarm, where, falling in with some smugglers, he soon
joined them, and made several trips between Ireland and Scotland.
Having acquired some money, he proceeded to Edinburgh, where he
became acquainted with a Mr. V- , and was for some time master
of one of his sloops, called the Annie, which traded to London.
From 1748 till 1752, he traded between England and France, and
chiefly to Boulogne, where at last he was arrested as a smuggler.
Having remained for some time in prison at Dunkirk, he was trans-
mitted to Paris, where he underwent an examination as to the most
effectual means of checking the contraband trade.—Through the
interest of M. Tallard, the son of his godmother, he not only obtained
his liberty, but also the command of a sloop of war; and in 1739,
owing to his knowledge of the channel, was selected to command the
squadron, which was captured as above.—Annual Register, 1760.

M. Thourot’s watch, a single cased gold one, was till latcly in
the posscssion of a gentleman near Belfast, and keeping time accurately.

[Commodore Thurot was early killed in action. He was ‘sewed
up in one of the silk velvet carpets of his cabin and cast into the sea.

On the 1st March some bodies came to land between Eggnerness
and Barrowhead on the Galloway Coast. Thurot was known by his
uniform and by the initials on his body linen. He was buried with
full military honours in the old Churchyard of Kirkmaden, Sir Wm.
Maxwell, of Montrcith, being chief mourner. —British Battles by Land
and Sea.]

2 Captain - Elliott’s ) Despatch . to the Lord, L.ieutenant.
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On the 1st March, the Pallas frigate arrived in this bay,
and landed at our quay part of the French prisoners* taken,
amounting to 15 officers, and 216 private men.t They were
immediately sent to Belfast, where they remained till the
following April. The other vessels proceeded with the prizes
to Cork.

Soon after, the garrison received the thanks of both houses
of parliament, for their gallant conduct on this occasion. On
the 12th March, the gentlemen of this town and neighbourhood
returned their public thanks to Colonel Jennings, and the officers
and soldiers under his command, for their decided bravery;
and they also received the public thanks of the grand jury
of the county Antrim, at the lent assize following, for their
excellent conduct; signed James Leslie, foreman. The
weavers’ guild, Carrickfergus, returned their public thanks to
Lieutenant Benjamin Hall, for his personal bravery, and
presented him with the freedom of their guild, in an elegant
silver box. !

1763, April 16th.—William Martin, a soldier of the 2qth
regiment, was to have been executed in Carrickfergus this day,
for the murder of Hugh M‘Clugan, on the 2oth of the preceding
October, in a quarrel at Belfast; but the grenadier company to
which he belonged, then quartered in Belfast, resolved to effect
his liberation. About one o’clock in the morning of the above
day, they entered this town; and proceeding to the gaol, broke
open the dungeon doors with sledges, and took out said Martin,
and Robert M‘Gulliaham, who was to have been executed same
day, for a burglary in Lisburn. In the adjoining cell was
Sarah Dogherty, under the like sentence for poisoning John
M‘Aravy, in Belfast. She was very clamorous to be released;
but on learning her crime, they refused any assistance, and
she was hanged next morning. The prisoners released were
carried out of town, when their irons were struck off, and the

[* The French prisoners taken after Thurot’s defeat, and ponﬁm:d
in Belfast, received very bad treatment. See a pamphlet reprinted in
the Ulster Journal of Archaology, Vol. X, Part II1.] 3

[+ The Belfast News-Letter of March 7th, 1760, gives a list of 23
officers and 416 men who were landed at the quay.] X

1Belfast News-Letter, 1760. Tradition of old Inhabitants.—
Immediately after, a ballad was written and _publlshed ,}'1e1:e by a
William Magennis, called ‘“ The Siege of Carnckfgrgus; in 1764,
a play was published in Belfast, bearing the same title; and in 1770,
a pantomime was presented on the Belfast stage, by the name of
‘*“ Thourot, or the Siege of Carrickfergus.”
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party returned to Belfast, as silently as they came. None of
the prisoners were retaken; but seventeen of the soldiers soon
after deserted, to escape punishment for this rescue.

1770. About the beginning of this year, the peaceable
inhabitants of Carrickfergus, in common with those of the
surrounding country, were alarmed by the Hearts of Steel, an
armed body, who, under the specious pretext of redressing
grievances, such as the high rent of lands, had organised a very
extensive system of depredation; burning houses, houghing
cattle, &c. They also levied contributions for the support Of
their association, by sending letters about the country, ordering
those to whom they were addressed to lay the sums therein
named at such and such places, on pain of having their property
destroyed.

In March, they burned a house in the North East Division,
the property of Edward Brice, and destroyed the trees and
fences on said farm; and escaping punishment for these and
other depredations, they sent, in February, 1771, threatening
letters into this town, directed to William Boyd and Robert
Martin, respectable inhabitants. In these letters, the above
persons were directed to lay a specified sum of money, on a
certain night, at a place called the Priests Bush, on the
Commons; or ir default thereof, they threatened to lay the
town in ashes.

There being no military here at this time, late on the
evening that the money was to have been left, 70 volunteer
inhabitants, well armed, proceeded, by direction of the mayor.
to the Priest’s Bush, and succeeded in apprehending Stafford
Love, a leader, and seven other Hearts of Steel, who had come
to receive the money. The prisoners were brought to this
town, but were allowed to escape; two of them were nephews
to William Boyd, just mentioned. About this time, a house was
burned in the Middle Division, the property of Marriott
Dalway.2

1772. May oth, George M‘Keown, John Campbell, John
Clark, and James M‘Neilly, Hearts of Steel, were executed here.

! Belfast News-Letter. Records of the County of Antrim. Tradition
of old Inhabitants.

2 The amount of the value of this house was afterwards laid on
the county by assessment. As Roman Catholics were not implicated in
these depredations, it was levied, according to the statute of Wm. III.,
‘“ of the Protestant inhabitants.’’—Records of Carrickfergus.
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The last person suffered for the burning of the house in the
Middle Division, Carrickfergus;! the others belonged to the
county Antrim, and suffered for acts committed in said county.
On the 16th same month, Hugh M‘Tlpatrick, John Black,
Thomas Stewart, and Thomas Ward, Hearts of Steel, were
likewise executed; and on the 1gth of the following September,
John Blair, a leader of the Hearts of Steel, likewise suffered.
These persons were also from the county Antrim. From this
time, all burnings, and other atrocities of the like nature, ceased.
Many who were accused of the crime of being Steel-men, fled
to America. 2

1775, September 2d, about two o’clock, P.M., a large black
cloud, of an ominous appearance, was observed suspended over
Divis mountain, near Belfast. A short time after its first
appearance it separated into two distinct parts, the one taking
the northern side of said mountain, the other lowering towards
Shankhill. At Shankhill bridge it commenced its work of
destruction, by carrying off ten cocks of hay from the adjoining
meadows, and also such corn as was cut; the reapers flying
from the fields in the utmost terror. Keeping a north east
course, it did considerable damage near Whitehouse; and
entering the lower part of the parish of Carrickfergus, carried
away all the hay and corn that were cut in the fields it passed
over, having twirled them in the air in a most singular manner.
Near lower Woodburn bridge, it tore several large trees out of
root, and at the Windmill-hill some persons who were passing
were lifted from the ground, and thrown into an adjoining
ditch. Continuing its devastations, it swept a considerable
quantity of corn and hay from the adjacent fields; several hay-
ricks were entirely carried away, and appeared to gambol as
they took their departure. Some houses were also injured; at
Duff’s-hill it entered the door of a house that was open, and
carried away its rear, leaving the front standing.

Crossing Kilroot and Braid-island, it seemed to gain vigour.
In the latter, it conveyed away a hay stack that was nearly
completed, while the people who had been putting it up were
at dinner ; and at Larne lough, it lifted up the waters till they

1 M‘Neilly most solemnly declared that he was innocent. It was
said that his sister, disguised in his clothes, committed the act for
which he suffered.

2 Belfast News-Letter. Tradition of old Inhabitants. Records of
the County of Antrim.
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appeared like floating white clouds, and transported them to a
considerable distance. Having touched a small part of Island
Magee, where it did also much damage, it was at length lost
in the channel.

This tornado was succeeded by vivid lightning, and most
tremendous peals of thunder, accompanied with a heavy fall of
rain and hail. The hail, or rather masses of ice, fell in a
great variety of irregular shapes: several pieces measured
upwards of six inches in circumference. The ground over which
this hurricane passed scarcely exceeded half a mile in breadth.!

! Belfast News-Letter. Tradition of old Inhabitants. The part that
took the northern side of the mountain, did some damage in the
upper part of the parish of Templepatrick.—Belfast News-Letter.

-

NORTH GATE, CARRICKFERGUS.



CHAPTER VIII.

1778.  April 2oth, the Ranger, an American vessel,
commanded by the celebrated Paul Jones, arrived at the
entrance of Carrickfergus bay, and hoisting signal for a pilot,
a fishing boat belonging to the Scotch-quarter went alongside,
the crew of which were immediately made prisoners.! These
men the commander examined separately, respecting the force
of the garrison, and the number of guns carried by the Drake,
an armed vessel then lying opposite the castle; and being
informed of her force, he lay off till night, when he entered the
bay with an intention to board the Drake by surprise. Flood
tide, and a brisk gale during a snow shower, prevented his
laying the Ranger alongside the Drake; on which he left this
bay, and proceeding to Whitehaven, he landed there at 12
o'clock on the night of the 22d, with about fifty men, spiked
the guns on the batteries, burned several vessels in the harbour,
and retired without the loss of a man. At 10 Oclock on the
morning of the 23d, he arrived off St. Mary’s isle, near
Kirkcudbright, and landed with about forty men, intending to
take lord Selkirk prisoner; but learning that his lordship was
from home, he walked for some time on the beach, while his
lieutenants and men visited the castle of lord Selkirk, and
demanded his plate; which was delivered to them by lady
Selkirk. '

Early on the morning of the 24th, he again appeared at
the entrance of this bay. The Drake had sent out a boat, with
an officer and six men, to reconnoitre; but they were captured
by the Ranger, off the Black head. Soon after, the Drake
bore down upon the Ranger, and an engagement ensued, about
mid-channel. Captain Burden, who commanded the Drake, was
killed early in the action; lieutenant Dobbs, second in command,

1 Fishers taken,—David Milliken, John Davison, John Burchall,
James Peelin, and David M‘Calpin.
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was mortally wounded; * and the vessel being much cut up in
her rigging, the men, who were mostly young hands, got into
confusion, and she was forced to strike to the Ranger, after an
action of one hour and fifteen minutes. The Drake had two
men killed, and twenty-five wounded; the Ranger three killed,
and five wounded. The comparative force of the vessels, with
respect to guns, was nearly equal. The Drake carried twenty
guns, four pounders: the Ranger eighteen six pounders, besides
swivels. On board the Ranger were 155 able seamen, some of
whom were Irishmen—one a native of Carrickfergus: the Drake
had fewer hands, most of whom were ordinary seamen.?
Shortly after the action, Paul Jones liberated the fishermen,
giving them a boat, with provisions to carry them home, and
also the main-sail of the Drake. On his arrival at Brest, lord
Selkirk’s plate was sold for the benefit of the captors; but it
was bought in by Paul Jones, who, in March, 1785, returned
it all safe to lord Selkirk, and even paid for its carriage home.

* This gentleman was son of the Rev. Dr. Richard Dobbs, Lisburn,
and brother to the Rev. Richard Dobbs, Dean of Connor, and Francis
Dobbs, barrister at law. He was a volunteer on this occasion, and
joined the Drake a little before the action, early in which he received
a mortal wound. While alive, he was treated with great kindness by
Paul Jones; he was much esteemed, and had only been married a few
days. A monument is erected to his memory in the parish church of
Lisburn.

2 From accounts of the Fishermen who were taken by Paul Jones—
Paul Jones, in his letter to lady Selkirk, dated Brest, May 8th, 1778,
says, the Drake had *‘ more than her full complement of officers and
men, besides a number of Volunteers who came out from Carriek-
fergus.”” This is a direct falsehood. Lieutenant Dobbs was the only
person on board who did not belong to her; she being really short of
her complement of officers and men. Her first lieutenant, Studdard,
had been interred the evening before at Carrickfergus, and lieutenant
Jelf, and six men, were prisoners on board the Ranger, as already
mentioned.—From accounts of the Fishermen who were taken by Paul
Jones.
3From accounts of the above Fishers. London Gentleman’s
Magazine. Paul Jones was the son of Robert Craik, an officer of
excise, of Arliggling, county of Dumfries. His mother was a servant;
and as Mr. Craik did not wish that he should take his name, the one
he was known by was that of his gardener. At the age of 13 he
sailed for America; and in the service of the United States, displayed
uncommon intrepidity, for which he received the thanks of Congress,
and a gold medal. In 1788, he entered into the service of Russia. He
died at Paris in 1792, and the National Assembly ordered a deputation
of their body to attend his funeral. He left a considerable sum of
money, which was remitted to his sisters in Scotland.—Monthly
Magasine. Edinburgh Magasine.

[Paul Jones was buried in St. Louis’s Cemetery, Paris. In 1903,
his grave was discovered by General Porter, U.S. Ambassador to
France; his bones removed to Annapolis, U.S.A., and buried with full
military honours.]
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1785. August 3d, commodore Gower, in the Hebe frigate,
arrived in Carrickfergus bay, on board which vessel prince
William Henry, his majesty’s third son, was a lieutenant. It
being expected that he would land, the Carrickfergus Royal
"Volunteers addressed the commodore, requesting him to permit
them to receive his Royal Highness under arms, and to be his
guard of honour while on shore. To this request a very polite
answer was returned, that if his Royal Highness landed, he
wished to be quite private, “as had already been done at
Portsmouth.” He did not land.!

1786, August 11th. About 4 o'clock this morning, several
slight shocks of an earthquake were felt in this town: tables,
chairs, &c., were observed to be agitated during its continuance.
The like was also felt about the same time at Holywood, in the
county of Down ?

1787. August 7th, Charles Manners, Duke of Rutland,
lord Lieutenant of Ireland, landed at this quay from Bangor,
accompanied by lord Hillsborough, the bishop of Down and
Connor, and other eminent persons. He was received on the
quay by the different members of the corporation, and presented
by the mayor with the freedom of the town in a gold box,
accompanied with a suitable address. In the evening, his
Excellency and suite, with a numerous company of gentlemen,
were splendidly entertained by the corporation; on which
occasion his excellency conferred the honour of knighthood on
William Kirk, esq., then mayor. Seventeen gentlemen who were
present at this entertainment, were presented with the freedom
of this corporation in silver boxes. 2

1796. September 16th, William Weir, Dunmurry, James
Fitzgerald, Sandybay, and James Brady, Lisburn, were brought
prisoners to Carrickfergus, and lodged in the county Antrim
gaol, charged with offences of a treasonable nature, as United
Irishmen. Those were the first persons confined in this kingdom,
belonging to those memorable societies. Same month, William
Orr, John Alexander, John M‘Clelland, Hugh Dinsmore, and
Robert Saunderson, with several others, were lodged in the same
prison, on similar charges.

1797. April 28th, oatmeal sold here at from 1s. 5d. to
1s. 6d. per peck of 18 lbs.; potatoes, from 6d. to 7d. per
bushel ; and new milk, 1d. per quart.

1London Gentleman’s Magazine. MS.
2 Tradition of old Inhabitants. Belfast News-Letter.
3 Belfast News-Letter. Records of Carrickfergus.
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About this time, a considerable ferment prevailed through-
out this kingdom, of which Carrickfergus was not without its
share. Some of the troops quartered in the castle, having been
detected in a confederacy with the disaffected, several of them
were confined ; two deserted ; and some inhabitants, accused of
seducing the military from their allegiance, either fled, or were
committed to prison. June 7th, Judges Yelverton and
Chamberlaine arrived with a special commission, when some of
the prisoners charged with treasonable practices were arraigned ;
they accordingly declared themselves ready for trial. The
crown lawyers signifying that they were not prepared, the
judges soon after returned to Dublin without doing any
business here, save administering the oath of allegiance to 333
persons, in the county of Antrim hall.

At the assizes held on September 18th following, many
prisoners charged as above, were liberated, on taking the oath
of allegiance, and giving bail; and a few were transmitted to
Dublin.  William Orr* was found guilty, under the
Insurrection Act, of administering the oath of a United
Irishman to two soldiers of the Fifeshire Fencibles, in Antrim,

[* William Orr was a respectable farmer from Farranshane, near
Antrim, whose trial excited remarkable interest. He was defended by
Curran, the greatest forensic orator whom Ireland has ever produced.
At seven o’clock in the evening the jury retired to consider the verdict,
and they remained in their room until six in the morning. How they
spent the night is a matter of history. It is recorded that numerous
bottles of whiskey were passed through the window into the jury
room. At first the jury could not agree to a verdict, but ultimately
those in favour of an acquittal were, by intimidation, it was suggested,
forced to concur in a finding against Orr. When the sentence of death
was passed the judge wept freely, the people sobbed, but Orr stood
unmoved. At the close of Judge Velverton's sentence he was taken
back to gaol, there to await the final scene. Saturday morning, the
14th of October, dawned clear and bright. In the houses blinds were
drawn, shops closed : everywhere signs of sorrow and mourning were
visible. At about 3 o’clock William Orr emerged from his prison cell:
a carriage was provided to drive to the place of execution. He expressed
the wish to have the company of the Rev. Wm. Staveley, Knock-
bracken, Co. Down, and the Rev. Adam Hill, Ballynure, upon his
journey to the scaffold, and these gentlemen were permitted to sit with
him in the carriage. The High Sheriff on horseback preceded the
carriage, and the Sub-sheriff also on horseback followed it. The whole
proceeded in solemn, slow procession from the gaol to the place of
execution, about three-quarters of a mile from Carrickfergus. When
the gallows was reached, Orr shook hands with his friends; and after
the rope had been put about his neck, he exclaimed: ‘I am no traitor !
I am persecuted for my country! I die in the true faith of a Presby-
terian !’ After the execution, the body was taken from the gallows
to a house called * Wilson's slatehouse,”’’ after a man of that name
who was its occupier, and every means adopted for the restoration of
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and received sentence of death. From the respectability of this
man, the acknowledged severity of the act under which he was
found guilty, and the weighty influence of the Union System
at this period, great interest was used to avert the sentence;
but although a respite was granted, it was carried into execution
on the 14th October. A large military force attended, but the
number of the people was considerably less than is usual on like
occasions. At the place of execution he distributed a printed
declaration, wherein he declared his innocence; and concluded
by hoping that his “ virtuous countrymen” would bear him “in
their kind remembrance, and continue true and faithful to each
other,” as he had “been to all of them.”

1798. The spring of this year was marked by alarms
and agitations ; persons being almost daily brought in prisoners
from the country, charged with seditious or treasonable practices.
Those persons were lodged in the gaol, or in military guard-
houses, and were generally liberated, on giving bail to appear
when called upon, and taking the oath of allegiance.

Early in May, 14 persons of this town and neighbourhood
were taken prisoners, and without any specific charge, put on
board a prison-ship, then lying in Garmoyle. A few days
after, a guard was stationed in the market-house; the Carrick-
fergus yeomen cavalry were placed on permanent duty; the
inhabitants were ordered to put up their names on their doors,
to be called over as often as the military might deem it proper;
the arrival of strangers to be immediately added, and announced
to the mayor or commanding officer ; and none to be out of their
houses from nine o'clock in the evening till five in the morning.

life, including bleeding, but without avail, as the neck was broken.
The house is on the land side of the road opposite the Gallows Green,
and is still standing. The body was then placed on a cart bedded with
straw, and a start made for Ballynure. The corpse was brought by the
road up the mountain-side, past Duncrue, over Briantang brae, and
across the commons of Carrickfergus, through Straid to Ballynure
Meeting-house, where the body was dressed and coffined, and the wake
held. On Sunday his remains were buried in the old churchyard of
Templepatrick by his Masonic brethren, of which honourable craft he
was a member. The government, in consideration of the death of her
husband, settled an annuity on his widow. Mourning rings, with Orr’s
hair set in them, and the words ‘‘ Remember Orr,”’ were constantly
worn. Even the black crape cap which was drawn over his face on
the scaffold was cut into pieces and distributed to his friends. Memorial
cards were printed secretly—it was death to be found with one of them
in '08. Not in Ireland alone was Orr mourned, but in the capital of
England. At a public dinner given in honour of Fox’s birthday, two
of the toasts were—*The memory of Orr—basely murdered’’ and
“ May the Irish Cabinet soon take the place of William Orr.”’]
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All persons were strictly commanded to surrender every kind
of fire arms, pikes, swords, or ammunition, under pain of
military execution. Soon after, considerable quantities of arms
were brought in here from the country, having been surrendered
to persons appointed to receive them.

Thursday, June 7th. Early this morning, a number of
blacksmiths were brought in prisoners, suspected of making
pikes. Same morning, about nine o'clock, the drums of the
Tay Fencible regiment, quartered here, beat to arms, an express
having arrived that the country was in open rebellion.? The
shops in the town were immediately shut, and about fifty
suspected persons were arrested and confined in the castle;
guards were placed on the different roads leading from the town,
and no persons were suffered to depart without a written pass-
port, signed by the mayor, or commanding officer. On the same
day, about 70 inhabitants offered their services to co-operate
with the military ; they were accepted, and were commanded-by
gentlemen of the town and neighbourhood. Their only uniform
was a black cockade worn on the hat.

About three o'clock, noon, a strong detachment of the army,
with two pieces of cannon, marched for Ballyclare, where the
insurgents were said to be assembled. They returned on the
following day without seeing the enemy, bringing with them
several prisoners, and having burned or destroyed some houses
in Ballyclare, of those said to have been leaders of the
insurgents, who had been defeated in the battle which took
place at Antrim, on the 7th. Very few persons from Carrick-
fergus were in arms on the 7th, either at Antrim or Dunagore-
hill ; but on the night of the 7th, a number of persons under
arms assembled on the Commons, who were to have proceeded
that night to the grand rendezvous on Dunagore-hill. 1In the
mean time two stragglers arrived, who had been there, with the
disastrous news from Antrim ; on which their deliberations were
suspended, and all returned to their homes.

Early on Sunday, about 300 of the military, with two
pieces of cannon, set out for Ballyclare: where they burned a
number of houses, and also burned and destroyed some others
in Doagh and Ballyeaston; and in several instances those
unconnected with the rebellion were the chief sufferers. The

* Three days before, a woman had given information that such an
event would take place on the above day, but she was not credited.
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country at this time, about the above places, appeared almost
deserted: scarcely a man was seen, and very few women or
children. In the evening the military returned, many of them
loaded with plunder, taken from the houses that had been
burned or demolished. On this and the following day, some
guns and pikes were brought in and surrendered.

Tuesday. Early this morning, 200 of the Tay Fencibles
marched for Belfast, to replace a part of the troops of that
garrison, who set off about 10 o'clock, same morning, to attack
the insurgents in the county of Down, who were said to be
encamped near Saintfield. This evening, the noise of an
engagement was distinctly heard here, between the army and the
rebels near Ballynahinch. At the same time, the Lancashire
Fencible dragoons landed at our quay; and the packet-boat
from Portpatrick arrived with the mails, the insurgents having
taken possession of Donaghadee and Bangor. The mails
continued to be landed here till the following October.

On Wednesday morning, the dragoons who had dis-
embarked, marched for Belfast; on Thursday the Durham
Fencible dragoons landed; and early on the 18th, the
Sutherland Highlanders, a Fencible regiment 1,100 strong, also
arrived from Scotland: * both regiments immediately proceeded
to Belfast. A few days after, the Royal Scots also landed at
our quay, and set forward on the same destination. The country
people who came into town about this time, commonly wore a
piece of red riband in their hats, as a badge of loyalty.

The inhabitants who had been made prisoners on the first
alarm, were mostly liberated before the 18th June, and the
guards were taken off the roads soon after; but many persons
still remained in confinement from the adjacent country, and
prisoners were daily brought in on various charges connected
with the rebellion.

About the beginning of July, a court-martial assembled in
the county of Antrim court-house, for the trial of persons
charged with rebellion. By their sentence, four persons received
dreadful flagellation, and one lad was executed. None of
these persons were inhabitants of Carrickfergus: nor was a
house burned or destroyed in the county of the town, during
the rebellion.

On the 28th August, intelligence was received of the French

'In this regiment were 104 persons of the name of John Mackay.
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having landed at Killala; and the troops in this garrison were
ordered to be ready at a moment’s warning. September gth,
the Essex Fencible dragoons landed here, and on the x3th, the
Breadalbane Highland Fencibles ; both, immediately on landing,
marched for Belfast.

October 12th. The action between the English and French
fleets, off Tory Isle, was heard distinctly in this town; and on
the 21st same month, L’Ambuscade and La Coquille, two French
prizes taken in the action, arrived in this bay, under convoy of
his Majesty’s ship Magnanime.

1799. On the 25th February, a numerous meeting of the
inhabitants was held in the town-hall, who entered into
resolutions against a legislative union with Great Britain; and
at the same time the thanks of the meeting were returned to
Ez. D. Wilson, Esq., M.P., for opposing that measure in
parliament. March rzxth this year, a meeting of the magistrates
of the counties of Antrim and Carrickfergus, was held in this
town, who unanimously resolved (from the disturbed state of the
former county), to declare both out of the peace. On the
following day an order was issued by General Nugent, com-
manding the northern district, for all persons to put up the
names of the inmates of their houses on some conspicuous place,
and that no persons should be out of their doors, one hour after
sunset, nor before sunrise; and that all arms should be
immediately delivered up, under pain of military execution.

This year was remarkably cold and wet, and the
frost and snow setting in earlier than usual, the crops were
very defective both in quantity and quality. In the following
spring, markets advanced rapidly; in May, oatmeal sold at
5s. 8d. per peck, and the potatoes at 2s. 8d. per bushel ; and in
June, the former, of a very bad quality, sold at from 7s. 4d.
to 8s. per peck, and the latter at 3s. 6d. per bushel; all other
provisions were high in proportion.

The succeeding year was almost equally disastrous to the
crops, from an excessive dry summer; the potato crop was
particularly defective, as, by reason of the drought, few came
to perfection, save in the middle of the ridges. In November,
oatmeal sold at 5s. 8d. per peck, and potatoes at 2s. 83d. per
bushel; and in the course of the winter, provisions nearly
resumed their former enormous prices. Early in the spring,
large quantities of Indian corn meal, and rye flour, were
imported by the government, or on a bounty; which served
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much to allay this famine. During these years, subscriptions
were entered into by the landholders, gentlemen, and ladies of
Carrickfergus, for the support of their poor. The subscriptions,
in 1800, from January till August, amounted to £403 3s. 5d.
About November, 1801, oatmeal sold at 1s. 10d. per peck; and
potatoes at 8d. per bushel.*

18r2. In April, potatoes sold at three shillings per bushel,
and in July, oatmeal advanced to 6s. rod. per peck.

1813, December z5th. On this evening a frost commenced,
which continued hoary all the following day, and by the 3oth
it had become very hard. In January it increased, and on the
4th of that month, the ground was covered with snow, of which,
on the nights of the 8th and gth, there fell a considerable
quantity. On the 1oth, 1rth, and 12th, it snowed almost without

[*At the spring assizes at Carrickfergus, March, 1808, Mary

Butters, Carrickfergus, was put forward on the charge of witchcraft.

‘“ The fellest fortune-teller e’er was seen,
A witch that, for sma’ price,
Cou’d cast her cantrips, and gi’e them advice.”

The Belfast News-Letter of Friday, the 21st August, 1807, notes:—A
melancholy event took place on Tuesday night in the house of Alexander
Montgomery, tailor, at Carnmoney Meeting House. Montgomery, it
appears, had a cow which continued to give milk as usual, but of late
no butter could be produced from the milk. An opinion, which had
been too long entertained by many people in the country, was
unfortunately instilled into the mind of Montgomery’s wife, that
whenever such circumstances occurred, it was occasioned by the cow
having been bewitched. In this opinion she was fortified by the
concurring testimony of every old woman in the parish, each of whom
contributed her story of what she had seen and known in former times.
At length the family were informed of a woman named Mary Butters,
who resided at Carrickfergus. They accordingly went to her, and
brought her to their house, for the purpose of curing the cow. It is
not known what stratagems she employed to work her pretended
enchantment, but the house had a strong sulphureous smell, and on the
fire was a large pot in which were some milk, needles, pins, and
crooked nails. Montgomery’s wife, son, and an old woman named
Margaret Lee were suffocated, but Mary Butters, the sorceress, being
thrown out on a dunghill, where she received some hearty kicks, soon
after recovered, and was sent to Carrickfergus jail. At the inquest
held on the 1g9th August, at Carnmoney, on the bodies of Elizabeth
Montgomery, David Montgomery, and Margaret Lee, the jury stated
that they came by their death from suffocation, occasioned by a woman
named Mary Butters, in her making use of some noxious ingredients,
in the manner of a charm, to recover a cow, the property of Alexander
Montgomery. At the assizes, Mary Butters, the witch of Carnmoney,
was discharged by proclamation.

At the spring assizes at Carrickfergus, March, 1810, Hugh
Kennedy, Bernard Kane, William M‘Clurkan, Bryan Harrigan, and
James Brown, were indicted for attempting to rob the house of the
Rev. John Thompson, Carnmoney, and for assault on Mr. M‘Cle]]and.
The prisoners were all acquitted, but ordered to find bail.—Belfast
Magazine.]
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intermission ; from which time the roads were choked up, the
snow in many places being upwards of twenty feet deep. The
frost continuing, the cold was at times very intense; it was
remarked that the greatest cold was always about sunrise. On
the morning of the 13th, the thermometer stood at 14, which
was the greatest cold observed. On the 25th and 26th there
were showers of snow, sleet, and rain, and on the 29th and 3oth,
some snow fell: there was also a very severe frost.

February 1st and 2d, there were frequent showers of snow,
and a slight thaw; and on the 4th, the roads having been
beaten by horses and foot passengers, and cleared by men in
various places, the stage coaches from Larne to Belfast, that
had been stopped from the 1oth January, began to run. Some
carts also passed from hence to Belfast same day ; this journey,
however, was one of extreme difficulty. On the 8th and gth,
the thaw continued, with showers of snow and hail, and from
the latter till the 14th, there were frequent heavy falls of
rain, and a gradual thaw; yet some of the snmow that fell in
the beginning of the storm, remained in low grounds till the end
of March. Loughmourne was entirely frozen over for several
weeks, during this frost; and people passed on foot between
the counties of Down and Antrim, upwards of half a mile below
the quay of Belfast. Lough-Neagh was so completely frozen
over, that multitudes of people walked, and some rode, on the
ice, to Ram’s-Island.

1814. September 11th, between 8 and g o'clock at night,
a luminous bow, shaped exactly like a rainbow, appeared in
the horizon. It was of a whitish colour, extended nearly north
and south, and continued visible about an hour. The night
was calm and bright, particularly in the north: there was no
moon light.

1816. September 24th, this night, between the hours of
8 and g o'clock, a bow appeared in the air, stretching east to
west. It exactly resembled that noticed above, and continued,
with some variation in brightness, till about ten o'clock; its
eastern end veering a little more eastward than when first
observed: its west end was longest visible. The night was
calm and clear; northward it seemed as if day was breaking.

Both summer and autumn of this year were cold and wet:
hence the crops were retarded in ripening, far beyond their
usual season. On the 16th September, the reaping of com
commenced here, but very little was cut before the middle of
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October, and on the 1st November many had not even begun
their harvest. In December, much grain still remained in the
fields, and some was even to be seen out in January. Markets
of course advanced. On the 1sth May, 1817, oatmeal sold at
ss. 5d., and wheatmeal at 4s. 2d. per peck; both were bad in
quality. The ports being now open, a considerable quantity of
rye flour was imported into Belfast from America, which was
of much service. On the 11th June, oatmeal sold at 6s. 4d. per
peck, and all other provisions were high in proportion. The
calamity occasioned by this dearth, was much heightened by
many tradesmen and labourers being destitute of employment,
and a typhus fever setting in early in the spring of 1817,
reduced many of the working classes to a state of the greatest
misery. In September and October the fever increased to an
alarming degree, and a meeting of the most respectable inhabi-
tants of Carrickfergus was held, who entered into a subscription
for the relief of the poor, and to establish a fever hospital, which
was opened on the 4th November, during which, and the two
following months, the fever raged with the greatest violence.
From February, 1818, the fever gradually declined, and on the
3d June the hospital was closed.! The distributions to the poor
also ceased about same time ; the committee appointed for their
relief having expended /4815 7s. 53d. Of this sum, £r120 was
obtained from the government ; the Assembly of this corporation
gave £164 out of their funds; the Marquis of Donegall gave
A100; and Sir Arthur Chichester, representative in parliament
for this place, £so.

1818. The summer of this year was remarkably warm:
the following was the range of the thermometer in the shade,
on the days annexed. May 2s5th, 70; June 6th, 72; oth, 73;
11th, 78}; 12th, 83, about three o'clock, P.M., being the
greatest heat observed for many years; July 16th, 76.

The harvest this year was remarkably early ; many farmers
in this parish had done reaping on the 8th September, and on
the 14th December the weather was so very mild, that goose-
berries were shaped in most gardens near the town.

! This hospital was about one mile from the town, in the Middle
Division. The total number of patients admitted was 114, 108 of whom
were dismissed cured, the other 6 died there; the greatest number of
patients in the hospital at one time was 26. It was computed that
about 600 persons had the fever in this parish, 61 of whom died
between March, 1817, and June, 1818; and several fell victims to it
soon afterwards,—some in 1819.
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1819. February rgth, from 8 till 10 o'clock on this night,
a bow was seen in the horizon, extending north-east by south-
west ; it exactly resembled those already noticed, and appeared
brightest about half-past nine o'clock. The night was calm
and a bright Aurora Borealis, northward. September 15th,
same year, a bow similar to the above, appeared in the air
between 8 and 9 o'clock at night. It stretched north-east by
south-west, and was neither so large nor so bright as any of
the ones already noticed; the south-west end appeared forked.
On the following night a similar bow appeared, at the same
hour; on the 22nd of this month, another bow was seen at
the same hour and place as the two former; and the like
appearance was also observed on.24th. The three last were
gradually each a degree fainter than that seen on the 1sth.

April, 1820. The houses of the town and quarters were
numbered, and a wall separating the Governor’s walk from the
street removed, and the walk and land thrown into one street.
In 1821 a large elm that grew in this walk was blown down.
This was the last of a double row that had been cut down the
season before.

1821. April 17th, a beautiful lunar rainbow was observed
this night about 12 o'clock. It seemed to stretch nearly east
and west; near it the clouds were remarkably black, but at a
distance clear; the moon also was shining. From the 24th
May till the oth July, only two slight showers fell in this
parish, viz.,, on the sth June and 6th July; and about the
beginning of the latter month, hoar frost was to be seen every
morning on the mountains.

1822. On the ist November, the following were the
prices of provisions in this town. Oatmeal from 1s. 6d. to
1s. 8d. per peck, potatoes from 5d. to 6d. per bushel, beef from
14d. to 3d. per lb. and fresh butter 10od. per lb. of 18 oz.

[August 29, 1819. The old gallows, which were situated at
Gallows Green, Lower Woodburn, being no longer required, were sold
by public auction, and brought s5/10.

August, 1821. King George 1V. visited Ireland. He was presented
with a most loyal address from the Corporation of Carrickfergus.

1822. The splendid body of police, known as the Royal Irish
Constabulary, dates from this year, when an Act of Parliament
constituted the force. . ¥

July 12, 1823. Three lodges of Orangemen walked in procession
in Carrickfergus, being the first procession of that kind here.

July 12, 1823. A body of Orangemen proceeding to walk were
dispersed by the Mayor, who took a sword from the Tyler; their drum
was also broken.]
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1826. March 29th, on this night between the hours of
eight and nine o'clock, a luminous bow appeared in the air
stretching east and west, and exactly resembling those already
described. The summer of the above year was remarkably warm
and dry, very few showers having fallen from early in May till
the 8th of October. On the 1oth of June the thermometer in
the shade stood at 8z; on the 14th at 84, and on the 26th
at 85. During summer the grass became so parched, on dry or
poor soils, that the cattle suffered much for want of food; and
in autumn many cows, particularly on mountain tracts, were
suddenly attacked by swellings in their throats, of which many
died* The wheat crop was remarkably abundant; but
potatoes, barley, and oats were far from an average produce:
the latter in many places was so short and thin, that it could not
be reaped in the usual manner, but was pulled up by the hand.
Flax except in boggy grounds was a complete failure; and hay
was so very deficient that in the following spring it sold from
4s. 6d. to 5s. per cwt. By the 1oth of July, oats were reaped
in several parishes of the county of Antrim; and harvest was
generally over by the 12th of August. On the 1gth July, the
English and Irish monies were assimilated at Carrickfergus,
and were for some time the cause of much complaint and
confusion, between buyer and seller.

1827. March and April, of this year, were cold and
tempestuous, with frequent falls of snow: on the 24th of April,
the snow, in many places, was from six to eight feet deep. May
was remarkably fine.

1832. On the 20th August, a procession of the

[In 1829, the Catholic Emancipation Bill was passed. On the 13th
April it received the Royal Assent, and thus became law. By this Act
Catholics obtained the right of sitting in either the Lords or the
Commons, upon taking a certain oath; and became entitled to hold
any civil, military, or corporate office, except the position of Regent,
Lord Chancellor, and Lord Lieutenant.] A f

[July 7, 1830. William IV. was proclaimed King with great
pageantry. The Marquis of Donegall, Mayor; John Campbell, Willow-
field, and John M‘Cance, Suffolk, Sheriffs, with the Aldermen and
Burgesses, all on horseback and wearing cloaks, proceeded to the
Castle Gate, and there caused the Proclamation to be read by the
Town Clerk. After this the Mayor drew his sworq ot: honour, each
gentleman in company drawing his sword. Until this time the Mayor
merely carried the Rod of Mayorality. . . . When all was over the
great guns at the Castle were fired.]

* It is not a little remarkable, that after the dry and warm summer
of 1748, a similar fatal distemper prevailed amongst the cattle.—
London Gentleman’s Magazine.
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Incorporated Guilds and other inhabitants took place, in
consequence of the passing of the Irish Reform Bill. Each
Guild bore a flag, with a suitable motto, and several persons
wore ribands of orange and green. The parties walked through
the streets of the town, accompanied by a band of music, and
afterwards dispersed in the greatest harmony.

The Cholera Morbus made its appearance here in July.
In the same year 73 persons emigrated from the parish to
America.

In March and April, 1834, the army and military stores
in the castle were removed to Dublin and Charlemont, and the
storekeeper and armourer discharged.

1836, April 7th, a branch of the Northern Bank, Belfast,
was opened in this town.

1837, April 25th, the new market in North Street opened,
on the site of an old distillery.

1838, August 2nd. Workmen began to level and open a
new road, or entrance, into the town from Belfast, by the
Governor's Walk or Place. In levelling the ground, the
foundations of the castle of Patrick Savage were discovered,
and part of the ancient wet ditch by which the town was
formerly encompassed, as seen in the plan of the town in 1550.
An ancient urn was found, part of a human skeleton, and a
few old coins. The road was opened to the public at Christmas.

On the 28th of November there was an extraordinary high
tide at night, which did much damage. For some hours the
road leading to Belfast, near the seventh milestone, was
impassable. A wall that had been erected the previous summer,
to keep off the tide, was thrown down, and the road covered
with sand and seaweed.

[In June, 1833, Mr. Daniel O’Connell brought in a bill in
Parliament for the disfranchisement of the borough, which was read,
and ordered to be read a second time on July 3rd. This bill did not
Dass.

December 31, same year. A dreadful storm is recorded coming
from the N.W., which did considerable damage, blowing down chimneys
and the like. There was also a very high tide. In Belfast several streets
were flooded as far up as Skipper Street, and boats plied in Tomb
Street, where the water was six feet deep.—Records of Carrickfergus.]

[With this Chapter the first part of the old edition ends, and the
following additional ‘annals are culled from the pages of the Belfast
News-Letter, Northern Whig, and the Carrickfergus Advertiser.—EDp.]



CHAPTER IX.

HE “Big Wind” of 1839 is now passing into tradition,
but there are still those left, scattered up and down the
country, who date many events of their lives therefrom.

About eleven o'clock on Sunday night, the 6th January, 1839, a
violent storm of wind commenced from the W.N.W., which,
as it increased, changed to direct S.W. It appeared at its
greatest height from three to six o'clock on the morning of the
seventh, and at daylight the clouds presented a singular, brazen,
and terrific appearance. It suddenly calmed about two o'clock
in the evening, after a snow shower. In the town several houses
were unroofed, and many damaged; and in the country corn
and hay stacks were thrown down and trees broken or torn up
by the roots. In Belfast Lough eight vessels were wrecked or
sunk, in Larne Lough five. The oldest person living had never
witnessed a storm so awfully furious. It was general through-
out the counties of Down and Antrim, and the greater portion
of the Kingdom. :

In 1841-2, Carrickfergus was deprived of its old Corpora-
tion, with all its medieval grandeur, by the Municipal
Corporation Act passed in 1840, whereby the body politic of
the borough, Mayor, Sheriffs, Burgesses, and Commonality,
was dissolved, and the powers and duties vested in the Municipal
Commissioners elected under the provisions of that Act. They
also had control of the Corporate property.

1841. In April two women named Mary Moody and
Elizabeth M‘Ilveen were imprisoned in Carrickfergus, under
sentence of death for murder. Owing to the intercession of the
Very Rev. Dean Chaine, who went to Dublin for that purpose,
the Lord Lieutenant, in a letter dated 22nd April, 184r1,
commuted their respective sentences to transportation for life.*

Wednesday, December 1st. A meeting was held in the
Court House, Carrickfergus, to prepare an address to Queen
Victoria, congratulating her majesty on the birth of a Prince.

* Belfast News-Letter.
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Conway R. Dobbs, Esq., High Sheriff, proceeded to London
and presented the address.

1842, March 8th. At the County of Antrim Assizes 150
persons were placed in the dock for unlawfully walking in an
Orange procession on the previous 12th of July. For want of
accommodation in the jail, the prisoners were find £1o and
475, according’ to their circumstances.*

The same year was memorable in the annals of Irish
Presbyterianism. On the 1oth of June, two centuries previously,
the first Presbyterian ecclesiastical court was formed, and in this
bicentenary year, Dr. Cooke,t the Moderator of the General
Assembly, preached a commemoration sermon from the text
which formed the subject of the discourse at the meeting of the
first Presbytery, Psalm li. 18, “Do good in thy pleasure unto
Zion, build thou the walls of Jerusalem.” This was also the
text from which it was suggested that each minister should
preach in his own pulpit on the Sabbath succeeding the
Bicentenary Anniversary. As a memorial of the goodness of
God to the Church during those two centuries, a Bicentenary
Fund was established, and £14,000 was contributed, which was
expended for the cause of Presbyterianism in the South and
West of Ireland.

1843, 25th November, the first Municipal Commissioners}
of Carrickfergus were elected, consisting of eighteen members.
Mr. William Burleigh was chosen chairman. The meetings of

[* Belfast News-Leiter.

+Dr. Cooke was accompanied by Wm. M‘Comb, Esq., the
poet-laureate of the Presbyterian Church, and the compiler of M‘Comb’s
Presbyterian Almanac, the first issue of which appeared in 1840.
After Mr. M‘Comb’s death in 1873, the Almanac was continued by Mr.
James Cleeland, Arthur Street, until 1889, when the last appeared. On
the above occasion Mr. M‘Comb was stirred up to compose one of the
happiest of his metrical productions :—

“ Two hundred years ago, there came from Scotland’s storied land,
To Carrick’s old and fortress town, a Presbyterian band;
They planted on the castle wall the banner of the blue,
And worshipped God in simple form as Presbyterians do.”

1 The office-bearers of the first board of Municipal Commissioners
were : Peter Kirk, John Legg, James Barnett, John Coats, Paul Logan,
John M*‘Gowan, Samuel Davis Stewart, William Walker, William
Burleigh, Daniel Blair, Richard Battersby, James Cowan, Alexander
Johns, William Kirk Martin, Stephen Richard Rice, Richard Thompson,
James Wilson, Russel Ker Bowman; Chairman, William Burleigh;
Town Clerk and Solicitor, David Legg; Treasurer, Henry Adair;
Harbour Master, James Stannus, jun.; Ballast Master, Alexander
Jones.]
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these Commissioners were held quarterly. For 53 years these
Commissioners had charge of the Corporate property.

1845, July zgth. After the conclusion of the Assizes,
Justices Perrin and Ball, bhaving arrived in Belfast from
Carrickfergus, visited the new Penitentiary, Crumlin Road,
accompanied by some members of the Grand Jury. They
inspected every portion of the spacious buildings and the
arrangements made for the carrying out the separate system
of confinement, while the health and moral and physical
training of the prisoners were properly attended to. After a
minute survey their lordships expressed their perfect satisfaction
with the entire arrangements.

The Penitentiary was now ready for the reception of
prisoners, and those now confined in the House of Correction,
including a number of those convicted at the last sessions of
Ballymoney and Ballymena, were to be transferred thither
immediately.*

The same year the potato crop failed. The summer gave
promise of an abundant harvest; but at night a dense vapour
rested upon the earth, and unusual effluvia, the smell of
decaying vegetable matter, made many a one to hush his mirth.
Strangely and mysteriously this blight came, until the staple
food of the people was gone. To meet this evil, the surrounding
gentry and persons of independence applied themselves, soup
kitchens were established, and everything that could be done was
done to relieve the suffering and ‘starving men, women and
children. America sent over supplies; and the Indian meal,
hitherto unknown, was landed in large cargoes on our shores.
This food, with the employment given to the farmers with their
horses, and to the labouring classes, in making the railway,
placed them in a position to support themselves.

These sad events hastened the passing of a measure for
abolishing the duties on foreign grain. This Bill, which was
passed in June, 1846, practically gave untaxed bread to the
nation. '

November 6th, same year, the first sod of the railway to
Carrickfergus was turned, near Whitehouse, by the tenth
Viscount Massereene and Ferrard.

[* The prisoners in Carrickfergus Gaol were not removed to Belfast
till 1850, when, under the new Act, 84 were removed from that
establishment on the 1st September, 35 of whom were convicts.—
Belfast News-Letter.]
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1846, March 15th. On Sunday Judge Crampton attended
divine service in St. Nicholas’s Church. Sermon by the Very
Rev. the Dean of Connor. The Judge was in his robes, the
High Sheriff with all his servants in full livery. Many of the
grand jury and leading members of the bar were present.

1848, April 11th. The Belfast and Northern Counties
Railway was opened to Carrickfergus, Randalstown, and
Ballymena, and on the 1st September the mails were despatched
by rail.

Same year, Tuesday, May 2nd, a large and influential
meeting was held in the Courthouse of County Antrim for the
purpose, according to requisition, of expressing loyalty to the
Throne, a determination to uphold the Legislative Union, and
abhorrence of the detestable efforts of the Confederate leaders
to create an insurrection. ;

The same day the Carrickfergus Presbytery presented an
address to the Lord Lieutenant, the Earl of Clarendon,
declaring their loyalty and attachment to the institutions of the
country.

1849, Saturday, August 11th, Queen Victoria arrived in the
Lough in the Yacht Osborne, on her first (and last) visit to
Belfast; and left on Sunday morning. She was saluted on
her departure by the Carrickfergus Castle battery.

On Monday, in the Grand Jury Room, a number of the
most respectable inhabitants sat down to dinner to commemorate
her Majesty’s visit to Ireland. S. R. Rice, Esq., High Sheriff,
took the chair. :

1851, January 17th. Captain Robert M‘Ferran* a

* On that day Captain M‘Ferran was a passenger in a train from
Belfast to Carrickfergus. The day was stormy, with snow showers,
and while the engine was detached from the carriages and shunting at
what was then known as Carrick Junction, the carriages, which
contained many passengers, owing to the force and direction of the
wind, got into motion. On the incline between Carrick Junction and
Carrickfergus the speed increased rapidly, and matters were assuming
a most dangerous aspect. Captain M‘Ferran at once grasped the
situation, and, assisted by some fellow passengers, he, at great personal
risk, mounted to the top of the carriage in which he was a passenger
and made his way along the tops of the other carriages to the brake-
van. By careful manipulation he so guided the runaway carriages into
the station that the majority of the passengers were unaware of the
risk they had run, and that they had performed part of the journey
from Belfast without the aid of a locomotive. To signalise their
appreciation of this gallant deed, the directors granted him a free pass
on the line for life in the form of a massive silver medal, which bore
the following inscription :—*‘ Presented to Mr. Robert M‘Ferran of
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native of Carrickfergus, obtained widespread celebrity for a
gallant deed whereby he saved a train full of passengers from
destruction on the Northern Counties Railway.

1852, August 4th. The then Marquis of Downshire,
anxious to develop the mineral resources of the county, made
trial borings in search of coal near Carrickfergus. At Duncrue,
to the north-west of the town, rock salt, not coal, was struck at
about 6oo feet from the surface.

December 8th. It is stated that below the stratum of salt,
upwards of r1oo feet thick, at Duncrue, the borers came on a
stratum of coal.*

The British Association which visited Carrickfergus in
September seemed to consider the search for coal at Duncrue a
chimerical pursuit.

1853, January 31st. A meeting was held in the Town
Hall, in pursuance of an order from his Excellency the Lord
Lieutenant, issued in compliance with a2 memorial from certain
householders within the borough of Carrickfergus, praying that
the provisions of the Act I., George IV., should be adopted and
carried into effect in the borough. This was an Act to light,
watch, and pave streets, and cleanse towns corporate, and
market towns in Ireland.*

1854, March 15th. An outbreak of cholera occurred which
increased in extent and virulence. From Thursday up
to Monday night there were upwards of twenty deaths in
Carrickfergus.

Same year the Town Improvements Act was passed.

1853, January 12th. The Belfast Mining Company were
succeeding with their operations at Duncrue Salt Mines. It was
proposed to construct a tramway from the mouth of the shaft
to Belfast, for conveyance of the salt previous to shipment, the
depth of water at Carrickfergus not being sufficient to enable
ships of large burden to load there.*

Same year, Carrickfergus Castle was made the headquarters
of the Antrim Artillery (Militia) in the North of Ireland. This
force mustered upwards of 6oo men, and the Castle not being
adapted to accommodate more than seventy or eighty of the
force, the men were billeted on the inhabitants.

Belfast, by the Directors to mark their sense of his intrepid conduct
in stopping a train between the Junction and Carrickfergus, on the
17th January, 1851. After Captain M‘Ferran’s death this privilege
was extended to his widow.”

* Belfast News-Letter.
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April 13th, the Government took over the Courthouse, which
accommodated 250 men, and thus relieved the innkeepers of
the nuisance of the billeting system. The hospital connected
with the old County Antrim Jail was also chosen, and fitted up
as an hospital for the regiment.

On the 14th June (1855) the foundation stone of Joymount
Presbyterian Church was laid. September 21st, 1856, it was
opened for public worship by the Rev. Henry Cooke, D.D.,
LL.D. Previous to the building of the church the congregation
worshipped in the County Antrim Courthouse.

September 17th, the town was first lighted by gas. On the
front of the Market House (now Petty Sessions Court) three
jets of lights, a crown in the centre, with the letters “ V” and
“R7” at the sides were erected. The large square opposite was
completely filled with persons, who, through the kindness of the
directors of the Gas Company, were plentifully supplied with
ale. At half-past six a company of fifty gentlemen sat down to
supper in the Town Hall.

In 1856, the Municipal Commissioners obtained, in the
Encumbered Estates Court, a conditional order for the sale of
head rents payable out of premises in the town and county of
Carrickfergus, and of commonable lands, consisting of five
small plots of ground along the road leading from Carrickfergus
to Belfast, and of the Great Commons. This order was opposed
by the freemen, and the case carried by appeal to the House of
Lords, which, in 1866,* decided against the freemen.

May 29th (1856) was the day appointed for the celebration
of peace at the Crimea. The Royal Antrim Artillery, according
to orders received, fired the great guns of the Castle.

1857, Monday, 16th March, between six and seven o'clock
in the morning, Mr. W. M‘Mechan, one of the parliamentary
candidates, addressed the electors of Carrickfergus off King

*The town at this time was in a state of bankruptcy through
litigation between the Municipal Commissioners and the freemen as
to the ownership of the corporate property, caused by an attempt to
sell the lands of the Great Commons. An appeal against the decree
was allowed on condition that £400 bail or cash be lodged in court.
The matter was delayed until the Ballot Act came into force, and
the result was that a board was elected, nominated by Mr. Dalway,
who had always taken the part of the freemen, and the Commons
let, the appeal being dismissed without cost. This litigation, it is
stated, cost the community over £30,000. A part of these lands was
sold to the House of Downshire, and the remainder let, thus adding to
the income of the town an increased rental of some 4£6oo a year at
that time, though somewhat less after the reductions in the land court.
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William’s stone. He urged on his hearers the great necessity of
having a harbour and pier—well mounted with guns—to prevent
the Americans from making a sudden rush upon them. It was
remarked that this gentleman seemed fully alive to the old
adage, “that the early bird gets the worm”; but, though he
was early at business, he was altogether too late in the field,
which was previously occupied by Mr. Cary Dobbs.

1859, February 24th, the High Sheriff, M. R. Dalway,
Esq., in compliance with a requisition signed by nearly 6o of
the clergy and gentry, called a meeting in the Courthouse, “ for
the purpose of considering the means at present available by
the Irish people for acquiring an education intermediate
between the National Schools and Queen’s Colleges, and for
taking such measures in reference to the matter as may seem
best.”

April 30, on Saturday, at one o'clock, Marriott R. Dalway,
Esq., High Sheriff, arrived at the station, accompanied by his
accomplished bride, where he was met by his numerous tenantry,
who unyoked the horses from the carriage, and drew it through
the town to Ballyhill, amidst the rejoicings of the people. An
additional number of the tenantry and others of the.surrounding
neighbourhood were assembled to give a hearty welcome to the
newly-married couple.

The same year a great religious revival took place. The
first meeting held here was in the Methodist chapel. On
Sunday, the 19th June, the Rev. Mr. Murdock, Methodist
minister, assisted by the Rev. George Alley, Larne, conducted
services in the morning which lasted three hours, in the afternoon
two hours, and in the evening three hours: nine hours in all.

Revival meetings were held during the summer in the Rev.
Mr. White’'s, North Street, and the Rev. Mr. Warwick’s,
Joymount.

In September, the number attending Mr. Warwick’s revival
class was 116.

1860. At the spring assizes, March 13th, the High Sheriff,
Thomas Battersby, Esq., J.P., Oakfield, had the pleasing duty
of presenting to the Lord Chief Justice Monahan a blank
calendar, with its usual accompaniment, a pair of white gloves,
elegantly embroidered with gold lace, there not being a single
prisoner for trial at the assizes.

1861, July 13th. A ship of 200 tons burden, built of best

9
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Irish oak, was launched from Mr. Robin Johnston’s shipyard in
Carrickfergus, and named the “ Dorothea Wright.”

1862, October 1st. The railway line from Carrickfergus to
Larne was opened, and the railway companies interested in the
traffic between the ports of Larne and Stranraer commenced to
run a small siteamer, the Briton, which was withdrawn early in
1864-%

1863. A company T was formed to construct a tramway
from the Harbour down Castle Street, High Street, and along
the shore to the Scotch Quarter quay. C. A. W. Stewart, Esq.,
was appointed-chairman. The projects of this company fell
through.

1865, September 21st. The first regatta + came off in the
Bay. The racing commenced at one o'clock, under the direction
and supervision of Marriott R. Dalway, Esq., J.P., Commodore.

Same year an outbreak of Fenianism occurred in Ulster.
It has been stated that “ Fenianism represents all that could be
produced in the way of insurrection in 1863, and is as far below
the movement of 1848 as that was below the rising of 17¢8.
There have been many seizures of firearms. In October a
meeting was held after the Petty Sessions Court, for the purpose
of considering the propriety of making some representation to
the Government as to the insufficient way in which the Castle
was protected, and to urge upon them the necessity of sending
some additional soldiers to take charge of it.

1866, February 3rd. A seizure of firearms and pikes, in
casks and cases, took place after the Fleetwood boat was berthed
in Belfast. On the 24th of the same month the Habeas Corpus
Act was suspended in Ireland.

*In August, same year (1864), a scheme was mooted for the
re-establishment of this service, but it was not until the year 1871 that
the negotiations for the re-opening of this route were brought to a
successful termination. In July, 1872, the first vessel—the Princess
Louise—a paddle steamer, began the service, followed at an interval of
three years by the Princess Beatrice, built by Harland and Wolff of
Belfast. Early in 1873 these steamers commenced to carry letters for
the Post Office, and have continued this service to the present day in
a most satisfactory manner.

1 The seal of the Company is now in the possession of W. Carruth,
Esq., J.P., who has also the key of the West Gate.
I In 1864 the Carrickfergus Amateur Rowing Club was established,

and this was the first regatta held under its auspices. The Sailing
Club was not established until 1886.
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1867. A Reform Bill * introduced by the Government was
passed.

Same year the water interests of the town were sold so
the Belfast Water Commissioners. ¢

1868, Monday, April 27th. Great rejoicings took place in
all parts owing to the release of William Johnston, Esq., M.P.,
from Downpatrick Jail; he having been imprisoned three
months for having defied the New Party Processions Act, by
heading the Orangemen in their demonstration at Bangor on the
12th of July previously. In the evening tar barrels and
bonfires were lighted, and on every hill there was a splendid
display of fireworks.

November 21st. The election of Marriott Robert Dalway,
Esg., as a member of Parliament for the borough was celebrated
at Mounthill. Tar barrels and bonfires were lighted on all the
surrounding hills.

December 18th. All places of busiress in Carrickfergus

* This Bill conferred the franchise in boroughs on the occupiers of
all dwelling-houses rated for the relief of the poor, and on lodgers who
rented unfurnished rooms valued at £10 a year as a minimum. In
<counties 43 yearly value of property and 412 of valuation gave a vote
to holders and occupiers.

t When the Belfast Water Act was going through Parliament it
was pointed out to the freemen the seriousness of the project to the
town of Carrickfergus. A public meeting of the freemen was held in the
Courthouse, with the late Mr. James Stannus as chairman, when the
whole scheme was discussed and resolutions were passed condemnatory
of the project. Mr. Barry Martin Smyth, solicitor, and his brother,
were employed to draft a memorial to the House of Lords, praying the
House to reject the measure, as it would be ruinous to the interests of
Carrickfergus.  This action stirred up the Board of Municipal
Commissioners, and they also forwarded a memorial to the House of
Lords, opposing the memorial of the public meeting and praying that
the Bill should be passed, as it had been approved by the Commissioners.
The result was that, largely owing to the memorial of the Commission-
ers, the Bill passed the Lords against the freemen. ‘““The reason of this
action of the Board was that many of its members were interested in
public works and saw a chance of reaping large remuneration for their
interest ; some of them, it is stated, reccived ten or twelve thousand
pounds through the transaction. It was also stated that, had the then
Board acted in a patriotic spirit instead of a personal and selfish one,
they could, by citing the Lyndon Grant, have prevented the measure
passing, and put an end for ever to the claims of the Belfast Water
Commissioners, and the terror of wholesale eviction now going on
would never have existed.’’—*‘ Municipal Corruptions,”” by Mr. James
Logan, in the Carrickfergus Advertiser.

g[T’he Lyndon Grantf.—gOn the 15th of September, 1681, John Lyndon
received a jease for ever of 515 acres for the sum of £31 8s. 1d., with
the condition that he was to supply and keep in order the Western
Mills, and supply the town of Carrickfergus with water for ever.]
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were closed during the interment of the late Rev. Dr. Cooke,
Belfast. ’

1869, January 23rd. Robert Torrens, Esq., presented a
petition * in the Court House against the return of Marriott
Robert Dalway, Esq., as a member for the borough.

. Same year a Bill for the Disestablishment of the
Episcopal Church passed.

1871, March 22nd. There was a grand display of fire-
works in honour of the marriage of the Princess Louise, and at
half-past seven o'clock a salute of four guns was fired from the
Rowing Club Pier.

1873, Aprl 12th. The first contested election for
Guardians for the district took place, and considerable interest
was taken in the proceedings.

Many old people will remember the unfavourable season of
1872. With the exception of the famine year, it was the most
unsatisfactory period recollected in Ireland’s agricultural
history for the previous half century. June and July were
unusually cold and ungenial, the growth of herbage was
prevented for lack of heat, and every variety of stock suffered
more or less by the backward state of the weather. In May,
1873, ten shillings the hundred-weight were paid for potatoes
for table use. :

* The petition opposed the return of Mr. Dalway on the ground of
corrupt practices, namely, treating, bribery, and intimidation. Mr.
Justice O’Brien, in giving judgment, stated that Mr. Dalway had been
duly elected, and in accordance with the Act of Parliament, and that
he should report to the Speaker to the following effect :—‘‘ First, that
the sitting member, Marriott R. Dalway, Esq., whose return has been
complained of by the petition in this matter, was duly elected, and
returned to serve in Parliament for the borough of Carrickfergus, and
that no corrupt practices had been proved to have been committed by,
or with the consent or knowledge of, the suecessful candidate or with
any of his agents, at such election; and he felt bound to make an
order that each party pay his own costs.”

+In March, 1868, Mr. Gladstone moved, in his place in Parliament,
a series of resolutions to the effect that the Irish Protestant Episcopal
Establishment should cease, that the endowment of the Roman Catholic
College of Maynooth should be discontinued, and that the Regium
Donum should be withdrawn from the Presbyterian Church, full
compensation being made for the life interests of the existing
beneficiaries. These resolutions were adopted by a large majority of
the Commons, and a Bill—known as the Suspensory Bill—was
introduced to legalise them; but though the proposal was readily
adopted by the Lower House of Legislation, it was negatived by the
Lords. A dissolution of Parliament followed. Mr. Gladstone was
sustained in the new house by an increased majority of supporters, and
in the end the Disestablishment Bill became the law of the land.
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Friday, June 6th. William Johnston, Esq., M.P,,
Ballykilbeg, delivered a lecture in Joymount Presbyterian
Church, after which he was presented with an address from
the Carrickfergus Orangemen, in acknowledgement of his able
and successful labours in the House of Commons in having the
Party Processions Act repealed.

December 23rd. A meeting of the Town Commissioners
was held to call attention to the suit pending in the Court of
Chancery, instituted by the Municipal Commissioners in the
vear 1868, against the Belfast Water Commissioners and the
Marquis of Downshire, for a declaration that the said Water
Commissioners are bound to supply the inhabitants of the
town of Carrickfergus with water from and out of the river
Woodburn, and praying that they should be ordered to execute
the necessary works for that purpose.

1874, March sth. The Conservative working men mani-
fested their delight that the Protestant cause had been successful
at the election of M. R. Dalway, M.P., and that the Conserva-
tive Government had entered into office, by burning tar barrels.
There was a display of fireworks from the Scotch Quarter Quay.

1875, January 2oth. A violent storm swept over the town
and district. At eleven oclock the wind rose high, and at
twelve the storm was at its height. The gable at the Superin-
tendent’s house at the Shiels Institution * was blown in, and
many houses received more or less injury.

February 6th. A meeting was held in the Masonic Hall,
High Street, for the purpose of considering what further steps
should be taken regarding the letting of the lands of the
Great Commons. T )

Saturday, February zoth. A meeting of the freemen,
burgesses, and inhabitants was held in the Old Mill at Wood-
lawn, for the further consideration of the vexed question of the

*Charles Shiels, a native of Killough, Co. Down,_and a success_fu]
Liverpool merchant, was born in 1782, and died in 1861, leaving
490,000 to found the *‘ Shiels Institutes.” There are.t\\'enty-fo_ur
houses, which are open to respectable persons in reduced circumstances
resident in County Antrim. There are similar Institutes in Killough,
Dungannon, Armagh, and Dublin. y :

+1t was propesed and seconded—** That this meeting condemns
the persistent efforts of a party to confiscate and appropriate to them-
selves and friends that which is our common property, and that it
pledges itseif to take the preliminary steps to have a Royal Commission
brought down to enquire into same.”
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distribution of the lands of the Great Commons,* which was
left in the hands of Mr. Dalway.

1876, July 17th. A Canadian deputation from the Grand
Orange Lodge of America paid a visit to this town. They
came to take part in the Orange Conference to be held in
Derry, and to visit the various localities intimately associated
with the career of William the Third, Prince of Orange.

1877, Tuesday, September 2z5th. Her Majesty’s Steam
Yacht Halok arrived in the bay, having on board Rear-Admiral
Augustus Philimore, R.N., who was on a special tour of
inspection to the different coastguard stations in Ireland.

1878, July 12th. The foundation stone of Woodburn
Orange Hall was laid by Samuel Graeme Fenton, Esq., J.P.

1879, January 2oth. A meeting was held by the Harbour
Commissioners to consider the question of expending /£12,000
on extending and otherwise improving the harbour.

1880, May 8th. A petition was lodged in the Court

* About the beginning of March these lands were let to tenants,
and fences put up, which were afterwards pulled down by some persons
who were opposed to the letting of the Commons lands.

Saturday, March 2o0th. A written placard was posted on the
Market Gate, calling on the Commons party to assemble on Monday
at the Commons, with guns, pikes, swords, pitchforks, hatchets, turf
spades, &. The Commons party indignantly denied that it emanated
from them, and proclaimed that it was one of the tricks of the
opposition. On Monday two bands arrived from Belfast and proceeded
to the Great Commons, followed by a large number of persons. The
Commons party mustered in strong forces armed with bludgeons, and
kept strict watch that no one trespassed on the farms. There were
about 2,000 persons present.

April 3rd. A memorial was prepared for presentation by the
Municipal Commissioners to the Lords of the Treasury, praying their
assent to, and confirmation of the action of the Commissioners in
distributing the Commonable lands. It contained the following :—
‘“That in the year 1855 the then Municipal Commissioners of the said
borough presented their petition to the late Encumbered Estates Court,
praying for the sale of certain lands and premises therein mentioned,
and which were so vested in their corporate capacity for the purpose of
paying certain charges and encumbrances affecting the same.

April 24th. A telegram was received in Carrickfergus from London,
announcing that the Lords of the Treasury had given their consent to
the recent allotment of the Great Commons, and empowering the
Municipal Commissioners to grant leases for sixty-one years to the
tenants of these Commonable lands.

On Saturday, 11th June, the Treasurer of the Carrickfergus
Municipal Commissioners attended at the Courthouse to collect the
first rents from the tenants of the Great Commons.

+ The grounds on which the petition is issued are in ten paragraphs.
The first and second paragraphs are formal, and in the third it is
alleged that Mr. Greer was guilty of bribery, treating, and corrupt
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House, against the return of Mr. Thomas Greer as member for
the Borough of Carrickfergus, by Mr. M. R. Dalway.

1881, November 1gth. A new lamp* and drinking
fountain were erected by the Municipal Commissioners at the
head of High Street. '

1882, November 7th, Tuesday. Three fishermen were
accidentally drowned by the capsizing of their boat, by a squall
in the lough, two miles off Kilroot Point. The names of the
fishermen were Robert Davison, Thomas Weatherup, and Robert
Reid.

1883. In June of this year the first number of the “Carrick-
fergus Advertiser ¥ and East Antrim Gazette”. was published.

practices before, during, and after election, &c. The petitioner prays
that it may be determined that Mr. Greer was not duly elected, and
that the election and return were null and void. .

Thursday, June 3rd. The trial of the election was opened in the
Courthouse before Mr. Baron Dowse and Mr. Justice Harrison.
Admission to the Courthouse was by ticket, owing to the limited
accommodation. The petitioner, Mr. Marriot Robert Dalway, D.L.,
sought to unseat the present member, Mr. Thomas Greer, on the
ground of bribery, treating, personation, and undue influence, used
either by Mr. Greer or those employed on his behalf.

His Lordship, having dealt with the facts of the case and with the
law on the subject, said :—*‘‘ The conclusion he had come to was that
it was not an act of corrupt treating; and that the result was that
both he and his learned brother would, have to report to the Speaker
of the House of Commons, that Mr. Greer had been duly elected.”

Mr. Baron Dowse said that he wished just to add, that in their
certificate to the Speaker of the House of Commons, they would not
only state that Mr. Greer had been duly elected, but that there was
no proof that either candidate had been guilty of corrupt practices, and
that no corrupt practices prevailed at the last election.

In the evening Mr. Greer was drawn in triumph through. th.e
principal streets of the town, in an open carriage, by his enthusiastic
supporters, and afterwards drawn to his residence at Seapark, wher.e
he addressed a large crowd assembled on the lawn in front of his
house.

The numbers polled at this election were :(—

Thomas Greer, Esq. (C.), .. 591
Marriott Robert Dalway, Esq. (L.), ... 334
37

* The structure is of cast metal, standing on a concrete base, and
the lamp is equal in strength to the light of 200 candles. . It is
erected near the site of where a large cross stood called *‘ Great
Patrick.”

tThe late Rev. James Warwick published a paper called the
*¢ Carrickfergus Freeman,”” which he discontinued a number of years
before his death, which occurred in 1882. 15th June, 1883, Mr.
James Bell issued the fitst number of the *‘ Advertiser * from Market
Place, which was distributed free up till September, 1884. It was
afterwards transferred to the present offices at the corner of High
Street and North Street. The following annals are taken from the
pages of that newspaper.
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October sth. Sir Stafford Northcote, M.P., visited Carrick-
fergus, and was entertained by Thomas Greer, Esq., M.P.,
Seapark. After luncheon the party drove to Carrickfergus
Castle and were conducted through it and to the top of the
Tower by Colonel James Craig, 2nd Brigade, N.I. Division
Royal Artillery. On returning to the yard the party * were
photographed by Mr. Magill, Donegall Place.

Tuesday, November zoth. A meeting was held in the
Courthouse, Carrickfergus, in relation to Women’s Suffrage,
under the presidency of Mr. M. R. Dalway, D.L. There was
a large attendance. Addresses were delivered by the Chairman,
Miss Biggs (London), Miss Todd (Belfast), the Rev. A.
Armstrong, and Mr. John A. Bowman (Lame), and the follow-
ing resolution adopted :—“ That the exclusion of women who are
possessed of the statutory qualifications for voting in the election
of members of Parliament, is injurious to the community at
large.”

1884, February. Mr. M. R. Dalway, D.L., wrote to the
Postmaster General, pointing out the advantages of Carrick-
fergus as a mail packet station, and stating that the town
occupied a more central position than either Belfast or Larne,
and that when the new Harbour Works were completed, Carrick-
fergus would be the best port for the mail service between the
North of Ireland, England, and Scotland.

The Redistribution of Seats Bill, passed this year,
deprived Carrickfergus of the privilege of returning a Member
to the Imperial Parliament.

1885, Monday, April 27th. Their Royal Highnesses the
Prince and Princess of Wales (now King and Queen) and
Prince Albert Victor paid a visitt to this town.

*The party included the Duke of Abercorn, Marquis of Hamilton,
Marquis of Headford, Earl of Kilmorey, Earl of Yarmouth, and
Countess Yarmouth, Earl of Belmore, Viscount and Viscountess
Crichton, Lord and Lady Arthur Hill, Sir Thomas and Lady Bateson,
Lieutenant-Colonel Sir James M‘Garell Hogg, M.P,, George E. Kirk,
High Sheriff, and many others of the town and neighbourhood, who,
preceded by the Orangemen, walked round the Quay; and on arriving
at ‘“ King William’s Stone,”’ the Rev. J. Hamilton Bennett and Sir
Stafford Northcote stood thereon, when an address from the Orangemen
of the district was read by Mr. Bennett.

+ This visit was not only embraced as a fitting opportunity for the
presentation of addresses of loyalty and weléome by the inhabitants,
but for the naming of the piers forming the new harbour, and the
driving the first spike of the Harbour Junction Railway. Extensive
preparations were made for the performance of the ceremonies, and a
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1886, March rzth. Colonel Magendie, Her Majesty Queen
Victoria’s Chief Inspector of Explosives, visited Carrickfergus,
and officially inspected the gunpowder magazine belonging to
Messts. Cambridge & Co., which is said to be the largest
licensed private magazine in Ireland.

June 8th, same year. Much interest was manifested by the
people of Carrickfergus in the debate on Mr. Gladstone’s Home
Rule Bill. When the news arrived of the defeat of the Bill,
a feeling of thankfulness pervaded the entire community. In
the evening bands paraded the streets and all passed off peace-
fully. Very serious rioting took place in Belfast, seven lives

grand stand was erected on the pier for the accommodation of the
spectators. The Royal Party arrived by special train about 2-30 p.m.,
and were received at the station by Mr. Marriott R. Dalway, who
wore the uniform of a Deputy-Lieutenant, and Mr. D. Digby Johns,
Town Clerk; Mr. Pardo A. Kirk, High Sheriff, and Mr. Robert
Kelly, Sub-Sheriff, were also present. On their arrival a Royal Salute
of twenty-one guns was fired from the cannons at the Castle. The
distinguished visitors then proceeded in carriages through Railway
Street, Albert Road, West Street, Market Place, and Castle Street, to
the Harbour, where Mr. M. R. Dalway, D.L., presented a most loyal
address from the Municipal Commissioners and Harbour Commissioners,
which was read by Mr. D. Digby Johns, Town Clerk.

Her Royal Highness then proceeded to name the Peirs, the East,
the Albert Edward, and the West, the Alexandra. Simultaneously
with the naming of the Piers, a Royal Salute of twenty-one guns was
fired from the fleet.

The next ceremony was the opening of the new Harbour by His
Royal Highness. Mr. L. L. Macassey, C.E., presented him with a
special steel hunting knife, etched in gold and colours. It bore an
inscription on one side—‘‘ Presented to H.R.H. the Prince of Wales on
the occasion of his opening the new Harbour of Carrickfergus, 27th
April, 1883.”" His Royal Highness then cut the cord and declared the
Harbour open, amidst renewed cheers, the band playing * St. Patrick’s
Day.’”” The first vessel to enter the Harbour was the schooner Susan,
commanded by Captain Robert Donald, and under the direction of Mr.
Thomas Hamilton, Harbour Master. ¢

Following this came the ceremony of driving the first spike of the
new Harbour Junction Railway. For this purpose His Royal Highness
was presented with a wrought steel plate-layer’s hammer of the
newest design, with inscription :—* Presented to H.R.H. the Prince
of Wales on the occasion of his driving the first spike of the Carrick-
fergus Harbour Junction Railway, 27th April, 1885. As the Royal
Party left the dais on the return to the station, the band played the
National Anthem, and cheers were given for the Queen and Royal
Family. As the train left Carrickfergus another salute was fired from
the Castle, and unmistakable expressions of loyalty were indulged ir
until the train was lost to view. ,

On arriving at Larne Harbour the Royal Party were rgcelved by
Mr. James Chaine, M.P., and Lord Waveney imniediately introduced
the Town Commissioners to the Prince, who received from that body
a most loyal address. At a quarter to five the bow of the (v)sb.orne
swung out from the pier, the band of the Rifles playing the National
Anthem.
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were lost and, in addition, a large number were dangerously
wounded.

1887, March. The Municipal Commissioners of Carrick-
fergus forwarded an address to Queen Victoria congratulating
Her Majesty on attaining the fiftieth year of her reign.

1888, July r12th. This anniversary was most suitably
celebrated in the neighbourhood by the loyal brotherhood of
Orangemen and their friends.*

18th same month. This town was the scene of an event of
unusual interest and importance to Orangemen and Loyalists
throughout the world. Not only was the triennial meeting of
the Grand Orange Council of the World held here, but the
members of the Orange Institution and their friends assembled
to celebrate the tricentenary of the defeat of the Spanish
Armada, and the bicentenary of the landing of the Prince of
Orange at Torbay*

*The procession when it left the town numbered close on 10,000,
the start being made at the Methodist Church. They marched first
through Albert Road, to the North Gate, into North Street, High
Street, and thence by West Street and the Woodburn Road, to a field,
which had most kindly been granted to the Orangemen for the
occasion by Bro. Elliot. The chair was taken by Bro. W. H. H.
Lyons, County Grand Master, who, having addressed the meeting,
called on Bro. the Rev. J. Hamilton Bennett to move the first resolution,
which was as follows :—‘“ That, at our anniversary this year, 1888,
we devoutly thank God for the signal defeat of the Spanish Armada in
1588,and for the Glorious Revolution of 1688, gratefully acknowiedging
that it was by His arm alone by which these deliverances were wrought
for our nation, and our religion, and ascribing to Him the honour
due to His name.” The first notice we have of Orangemen in
Carrickfergus is in 1823, when on the 12th July three lodges walked in
procession. In 1825 a number of Orangemen proceeding to walk were
dispersed by the Mayor, who took the sword from the tyler; their
drum was also broken. At present the Carrickfergus District numbers
ten lodges.

+On the arrival of the 9-30 train from Belfast, the Grand Lodge
Officers of Antrim, together with the delegates and guests who had been
invited to the Council, were met by a contingent of the Orangemen of
the district. The whole company, including the Earl of Erne, Grand
Master of the Orangemen of Ireland, formed in processional order,
and, headed by the Constitutional Flute Band, proceeded to the Parish
Church, where divine service was held. The prayers were read by the
Rev. Dr. Kane, and the Ven. the Archdeacon of Connort preached
the sermon. The brethren, on leaving the church, formed once more
into processional order, and proceeded to the Harbqur, where the
Earl of Erne stepped upon the stone on which the Prince of Orange
is said to have first set his foot upon his landing at Carrickfergus.
The Rev. J. Hamilton Bennett, D.M., Carrickfergus, said it became
his duty to wish his Lordship a hearty welcome on that occasion, and
that he might take upon him to tell his Lordship that the Orangemen,
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1889, August sth. About 10-45 a.m. a number of large

ships entered the Lough, several being attended by torpedo
boats.*

1890, gth October. TLord Wolseley visited Carrickfergus.
His Lordship and party proceeded to the Castle, and a careful
inspection was made of the troops stationed there.

1891, Monday, July 6th. At half-past four o'clock, the
workmen employed on the Belfast Waterworks, Woodburn,

not only of Carrickfergus, but of the whole country round about, were
entirely opposed to anything in the nature of an effort to repeal the
Union between Great Britain and Ireland. The Earl of Erne, in reply,
thanked them, and the procession then proceeded to the Town Hall,
where the Triennial Council was opened under the presidency of the
Earl of Erne. After the business of the Council had been transacted,
the Worshipful Grand Master and brethren of the County Antrim
Grand Lodge invited the delegates and a large number of local gentle-
men to dinner in the Town Hall, which was gaily decorated with flags.

+ The Archdeacon of Connor was a very prominent Orangeman, and
was incumbent of St. John’s, Malone, Belfast, and Grand Chaplain of
the County Grand Lodge of Belfast. He died at Glencoe, Antrim Road,
the residence of his son-in-law, January 28th, 1go7. At the time of his
death he was Dean of Connor. A memorial window was erected to
his memory by public subscription in the Belfast Cathedral. Three of
Dean Seaver’s sons are clergymen, and one of the remaining three is
Mr. Henry Seaver, Architect and C.E., Belfast. The Rev. Jonathan
Seaver is vicar of St. Mathews, Surbiton, London; the Rev. William
Seaver, vicar of Spondon, Derby; and the Rev. Richard Seaver is
rector of St. John’s, Malone. The Rev. N. E. Smith, of Drew
Memorial, and Mr. J. Thompson M‘Donald, of Glencoe, Antrim Road,
are his sons-in-law.

*They came in straggling fashion until they reached the man-of-war
roads, between Carrickfergus and Greypoint, where they lay for a
couple of hours, but did not appear to cast anchor. Immediately
afterwards a torpedo boat shot out from the ships and was soon
inside the Harbour. The official in charge was the bearer of a 'arge
envelope addressed :—‘ On Her Majesty’s Service. Immediate. To
His Worship the Mayor or Chief Civil Authority of Carnc_k_fergus."
He inquired for the Mayor, but that functionary not being visible, the
missive was handed to the coastguard for delivery. It was in precisely
similar terms to that delivered to the Mayor of Belfast, and was signed
by Admiral Tyson. After the letter had been delivered, the torpedo
boat made off, and the ships got under weigh and left the lough about
two o’clock. They were all disguised, their funnels being painted in
various ways. The following are believed to be the names of the
ships :—The Bellisle, turret ship, the Traveller, twin screw tug, the
Cyclope, Hecate, and Gorgon, all turret ships; the name of the gunboaf,
or despatch vessel, could not be ascertained, and the tor;?edo boats (four)
are known by numbers. There was much excitement in Carrickfergus
at the time, and it was unknown whether shots would be exchanged
between the fortress and the fleet. It ivas afterwards stated that the
visit of these vessels was in connection with the naval manceuvres.



126

heard a loud rushing noise, which proved to be a whirlwind *
of wonderful velocity.

1892, January z2nd. A meeting + of the Municipal
Commissioners was held to consider what steps the Board should
take respecting their interests in the event of a Local Government
Bill being introduced for Ireland.

July sth. An address was presented to the Marquis of
Downshire on his coming of age, by the Carrickfergus and
Straid tenantry, when on this occasion his lordship entertained
2,000 of his tenantry at Hillsborough Castle. In the evening
bonfires were lighted on the Cairn Hill and at Straid.

1893, January 21st. The Working Men’s Institute was
formed for the benefit of working men of all denominations in
the neighbourhood.

Tuesday, May 23rd. The Unionists of Carrickfergus and
district took advantage of the visit of the Marquis of Salisbury
to organise a very effective and enthusiastic demonstration at the
railway station as the special train which carried his Lordship
to Belfast passed at 12-435 from Larne. The band played the
National Anthem, and all present joined heartily in singing
while the train steamed slowly through the station.

On Thursday, 25th, a deputation of the Unionists of

*The cyclone passed over the upper reservoir, raising an immense
column of water in its vortexgqand carrying it away across the country.
The water-spout fell as a deluge of rain on the Bryantang road, above
a public-house, and rushed foaming down the overflow course of the
above-mentioned reservoir. The storm deviated from a straight line
after crossing Bryantang road, and spent its fury after unroofing a
house on the road to Ballynure. No serious injury was reported.

+ At this meeting the following resolution was adopted :—‘‘ That
this Board, anticipating that a Local Government Bill, on the lines of
the English Local Government Act, will be introduced for Ireland,
forward to the Chief Secretary for Ireland a statement showing the
position of Carrickfergus as a Municipal Borough and County of the
Town, and request that, in the event of such a Bill being introduced,
the County of the Town of Carrickfergus be constituted an administra-
tive County of itself.” .

On the sth of May another meeting was held, and the following
resolution was passed :—‘‘ That we, the Municipal Commissioners of
the County of the Town of Carrickfergus, regard the Local Government
Bill for Ireland now before Parliament as a fair measure, suited to
the wants of this country, and we trust the Government will male
every effort to have it passed, with any amendments.that Parliament
may approve of, into law this Session.”” A copy of this ‘resolutn.on was
forwarded to Mr. Balfour; the reply received was that ‘‘ the views of
the Commissioners should receive the careful attention of the Govern-

ment."’
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Carrickfergus presented an address of welcome to his Lordship
in the Town Hall, Belfast.

1894. The Municipal Commissioners promoted a Bill in
Parliament which gave them power to levy rates for sanitary
and other purposes.

1895, February rzth. A meeting of persons qualified to
vote was held in the Courthouse, Town Hall, in order to pass a
resolution approving of the expense of promoting a bill in
Parliament, to levy rates for sanitary and other purposes, to be
paid out of the Commissioners’ rents arising from corporate
property. Daniel Bowman, Esq., Chairman.

18935, June 22nd. The foundation stone of a new Orange
Hall was laid at the east end of Eden, parish of Kilroot, by
the late M. W. E. Dobbs, Esq., D.L., J.P., Castle Dobbs.

On the 27th February following it was opened by Mr.
Dobbs.

1896, April 27th. A serious fire broke out in Joymount
Bleach Works, which completely demolished a large building
and destroyed a considerable quantity of goods, the damage
being estimated at .£2,000.

Same month the foundation stone of the Knockagh Orange
Hall was laid by Bro. William H. Arbuthnot.

June 26th. The Royal Society of Antiquaries paid a visit
to the town, and were conducted through the Castle and St.
Nicholas Church by W. J. Fennell, Esq., M.R.I.A., who gave a
most interesting description.

Same month the new Recreation Grounds, Clipperstown,
were opened.

August 27th. Field Marshal Earl Roberts, V.C,
Commander-in-Chief of the Forces in Ireland, paid a visit to
the town. He was accompanied by Major-General Geary, C.B.,
Commanding Troops, Belfast District.

September 4th. The foundation stones of a new Masonic
Hall * were laid in Victoria Street in presence of an imposing
assemblage of members of the order and the general public.

*For many years the Freemasons of Carrickfergus held their
assemblies in the upper floor of a house in Lancasterian Street. Feeling
they were not in a place worthy of the order or suited for its
ceremonies, a number of brethren formed a committee in 18935, and
the sanction of the Provincial Grand Lodge was obtained to build a
new Masonic Hall. Funds were raised from Lodge§ 43, 282, and
Chapter 233, also by personal subscriptions and collections from those
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September 18th. A lifeboat * of the latest design and
fitted with all modern improvements was presented to the
inhabitants of the town by T. B. Dryburgh, Esq., London.

1897, April 14th. The Marquis of Dufferin and Ava,
accompanied by Lords Bangor and De Ros, and Major
Sharman-Crawford, visited Carrickfergus for the purpose of
inspecting the fine fleet of yachts which were being built in Mr.
John Hilditch’s ship and yacht-building yard.

August 7th. The Belfast District (No. 17) of the
Independent Order of Rechabitest arrived in the town, and were

outside the craft. The foundation stones were laid by Bro. Thomas
Valentine, D.P.G.M., Bro. James Barr, V.W.P.S.G.W., Bro. Col.
James M. M‘Calmont, and Bro. A. J. A. Lepper, |.P.P.M. The
architect was S. P. Close, C.E., and the contractor Ezekiel Caters.
The new Hall was opened and dedicated on July 2nd, 1898.

The history of Freemasonry in Carrickfergus is very interesting.
For a number of years there was but Lodge 43, and there being a
great many unattached members in the town, enough to form another,
they applied to the Grand Lodge in Dublin for a warrant number. In
looking up vacant numbers, 282 was found to have formerly belonged
to Carrickfergus. The jewels belonging to this Lodge when in
Carrickfergus were formerly in the possession of the late Marriott
Dalway, Esq., Bellahill; his son, the present Marriott Robert Dalway,
Esq., D.L., J.P. (of Bellahill, and Lorne, Victoria, Australia), before
leaving for Australia, in 1886, gave them into the charge of Lodge 43,
there being no other in Carrickfergus at that time. On examining the
jewels the name “ Harmonie "’ was found on them, which is the name
of the present No. 282.

An interesting story is told of the oid warrant: that it was taken
to Baltimore by a company of soldiers who were stationed at Carrick-
fergus; it was brought back, but was afterwards destroyed by fire.

A new warrant was made for the present Lodge, dated 181%.

Tradition states that Thourot, when he visited Carrickfergus in
1760, carried off the flag belonging to Lodge 282; it was afterwards
restored to Carrickfergus by Captain Elliott after he had captured the
French fleet off the Isle of Man and slain Thourot in the engagement.
This flag is (or was) now in the possession of Mrs. Letts, the daughter
of the late Rev. James Warwick, Carrickfergus.

In olden times, on St. John’s Day, 24th June, the Freemasons
walked in procession, with flag and regalia. The custom has long
since ceased.

* September 26th, Saturday. A demonstration took place at the
pier, and the christening ceremony performed by Mrs. G. E. Kirk,
Thornfield. The religious services were conducted by the Rev. George
Chamberlain. The boat was named the Zaida.

November 11th. The Royal National Lifeboat Institution
established a branch at Carrickfergus, and a new boathouse built out-
side the East Pier was opened, on the 26th, by Mrs. J. M. M‘Calmont.

+ The Rechabite Order had its origin in 1833, at Salford, England,
but its influence was not felt in Ireland until eleven years later. The
Belfast District very largely owes its origin to the wave of earnest
religious fervour that swept over the North of Ireland in 1839, and in
this present year District No. 17 held its jubilee. The first meeting of
the Order was held on December 1st, 1839, the District Deputy Ruler
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joined by the Carrickfergus Fortress Tent, No. 2091, and the
whole, numbering about 1,000, formed in processional order, and
accompanied by a number of bands, and carrying the banners
of the various lodges, marched through the principal streets of
the town to the Recreation Grounds. -The sight was a novel
one in Carrickfergus, and the presence of the fair sex, with their
- many coloured dresses, among their sterner brethren, as well as
the boys and girls, also wearing their sashes, who had thus early
joined the temperance crusade, made it equally pretty and
imposing.

. 13th same month. The Jubilee Nursing Association was
formed.

In 1898, by the Irish Local Government Act the County
of the Town of Carrickfergus was abolished and merged in
County Antrim. By the same Act the Board of Municipal
Commissioners was dissolved, and the duties taken over by an
Urban District Council consisting of 18 members, and the
provisions of the Towns Improvement (Ireland) Act, 1854, made
to apply to the town forming the Urban Sanitary District.

1899, Monday, January 16th. The first election under the
provisions of the Local Government (Ireland) Act, 1898, was
held in the Town Hall. The Municipal Board formerly
consisted of twenty members, each member representing 500
electors, but as the population of the County of the Town
decreased, it was necessary, under the new Act of Parliament,
that the Board should consist of eighteen members.* Under
the former franchise the qualification was limited to those who
had a rating of £1o and upwards, but under the recent Act
all those who pay rates were entitled to vote.

January 3oth. A public meeting was held in the Union

appointed on that occasion was Bro. Joseph Moneypenny, father of the
well-known and respected Belfast City Chamberlain, F. W. Moneypenny,
M.V.O.; and the first District Treasurer was Mr. Robert Carswell,
founder of R. Carswell & Son, Ltd., Belfast, father of Alan Carswell,
J.P., the present head of the firm. The Independent Order of
Rechabites is the oldest temperance fraternity and the wealthiest
friendly society in the world. The Carrickfergus Fortress Tent, No.
2019, was not established until 1891. :

*The names of the first Urban Council were :—Thomas Vint,
James Logan, Robert A. Carnaghan, Alexander }\Iiscampbell, Charles
M. Legg, William Gorman, William Byrtt, Austin Cornwall, Edward
Davy, Arthur B. Francis, John Hagan, John Patterson, Thomas Jack,
Walter Carruth, David Black, James M‘Cullough, Paul Rodgers, Henry
M‘Cavana. Chairman, Thomas Vint.

10
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Hall in support of the candidature of Thomas Houston, Esq.,
J-P., Ashley, Carmnmoney, as a County Councillor * for the
town of Carrickfergus.

On the 4th February there was another meeting in favour
of Alexander Miscampbell, Esq., Governor’s Place, Carrick-
fergus, as a County Councillor for the town.

May 26th. The eightieth anniversary of the birthday of
Queen Victoria was celebrated here in the customary manner.+

Thursday, June 1st. Mr. Henry Fitzgibbon, Q.C., County
Court Judge, attended at the Courthouse, Town Hall, to dispose
of the business of the Half-yearly Sessions, which were the last
to be held at Carrickfergus. His Honour was accompanied to
the bench by Messrs. Charles J. Johnstone, High Sheriff, Robert
MacMurray, Esq., J.P., and William Gorman, Esq., J.P. Mr.
Charles H. Brett, Clerk of the Peace, was also in attendance.

July 14. The final Commission of Assize ] for the County
of the Town of Carrickfergus was opened in the Record Court-

* The polling for a County Councillor and two District Councillors
to represent Carrickfergus took place on 1st April. The urban electors
who had votes for the County Council Candidates voted in the Court-
house and Town Hall. The numbers polled at this election were:—
for Mr. Miscampbell, 789; for Mr. Houston, 785. For Rural
Councillors, Mr. David G. Whiteford, 338, and for Mr. Thomas
M‘Allister, 322.

1 At half-past eleven a.m. the recruits and duty men of the Antrim
Artillery, under the command of Major and Adjutant Paris, paraded in
review order, and ten gun detachments with Sergeant-Instructor
Forsyth and Company Sergeant-Major Gresley, commanded by
Lieutenant R. N. Hill, marched to the Castle. The remainder of the
men proceeded to Joymount Parade, where they were lined along the
sea wall. At twelve o’clock a Royal salute of twenty-one guns was
opened from the Castle batteries, and on the firing of the seventh gun
the ‘men on Joymount fired a feu de joie, the Artillery band playing
‘“ God Save the Queen.”’ After the last gun of the salute was fired,
the men returned to camp headed by the band.

3 The County of the Town of Carrickfergus has, under the
operation of the Local Government Act, been merged for Assizes
purpose in County Antrim, and the 14th July, 1899, witnessed the final
commission of the Assize. The Grand Jury and Municipal Com-
missioners, who managed its affairs, being replaced by Urban, Rural,
and County Councillors.

Mr. Charles James Johnston, who had the privilege of being the
last High Sheriff, thought the occasion a fitting one to bid adieu in
a public manner to the old system ‘ with all its greatness,”” while at
the same time to welcome the new ‘‘with its possibilities,”’ and on
Saturday night, the 15th July, 1899, gave a banquet in the Town Hall,
Carrickfergus, to the ‘‘ going judges of Assize,”’ Lord Chief Baron
Pallas and the Right Hon. Mr. Justice Andrews, and the past Grand
Jurors, together with a large number of prominent gentlemen of the
town and neighbourhood.
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house, Belfast, before the Right Honourable Mr. Justice
Andrews. His Lordship, in addressing the Grand Jury, said,
“he had pleasure in informing them that there was no bill to go
before them, he warmly congratulated them upon the creditable
state of the County of the Town of Carrickfergus, thanked them
for their attendance, and relieved them from remaining any
longer.”

July 29th. A meeting of the Carrickfergus tenantry of
the Earl of Shaftesbury was held in the Town Hall, to prepare
an address to be presented to him on the occasion of his
marriage. This presentation was made on the 3ist August, at
Belfast Castle.

19oo, Sunday, 25th March. 160 men of the Special
Service Section of the Antrim Artillery, under the charge of
Major Elmitt, left Carrickfergus for South Africa. Some time
before leaving a concert was held in the Albert Hall, at which
presentations of pipes and tobacco were made to the men.

On Wednesday, 1oth of July, 1gor, 8o men of the above-
mentioned section returned to Carrickfergus, and were entertained
by the inhabitants of the town to breakfast in the old court-house.
After breakfast the men formed on parade on the drill-ground
at the barrack, and were addressed by Colonel M‘Calmont, M.P.,
and Major-General Leach, V.C.

June 6th. The inhabitants of Carrickfergus celebrated the
occupation of Pretoria in a most enthusiastic manner. Flags
were hoisted and bunting displayed in profusion in every public
thoroughfare in the town, while bonfires were lit at the Scotch
Quarter Pier, Castle Gardens, and elsewhere. A torchlight
procession was organised, accompanied by the Good Templar
Brass Band and the Carrickfergus Flute Band. The greatest
enthusiasm prevailed everywhere, the streets being crowded.
The rejoicings lasted till an advanced hour, and everything
passed off in a most peaceful manner.

Friday, June 8th. General Sir George White, V.C. G.C.B.,
&c., the gallant defender of Ladysmith, paid a brief visit to
Carrickfergus, and received a presentation from the inhabitants
of the town and district at the railway station.*

* A large platform was erected on the left of the station on which
the presentation was made. A naval guard consisting of 6o men from
H.M.S. Calliope was drawn upon the platform, and when the General,
Lady White, their daughter, and party, set foot on the platform the
men presented arms, and the bugle sounded the general salute. The
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September 7th. Colonel James Craig, J.P., and the Hon.
Mrs. Skeffington Craig, of Carlton Hall, Carlton-on-Trent,
Notts, paid a visit to Carrickfergus in order to present the
Deeds of the building known as “ Carlton House” (which they
purchased for a Young Men’s Christian Association) to the
trustees, free of rent for ever.

1900, September 2gth. A meeting was held in the Town
Hall of the supporters of Colonel j. M. M‘Calmont as
Parliamentary candidate for East Antrim.* The chair was
taken by John M‘Ferran, Esq. Colonel M‘Calmont, who was
most enthusiastically received, addressed the meeting.

October, sth. Dr. King Kerr addressed, in the Courthouse,
one of the largest meetings held in connection with his East
Antrim campaign.

1901, January 22nd. The news of the death of Queen
Victoria was received here with profound sorrow. After ringing
the curfew,t the bells of St. Nicholas Episcopal Church and
the First Presbyterian Church were tolled for about an hour.
Flags were unfurled at half-mast on the tower of the Castle,
the Town Hall, and on the shipping in the Harbour. Mr.
Thomas Vint, J.P., as Chairman of the Urban District Council,
sent a telegram of condolence to Sir Francis Knollys,
Marlborough House.

March 22nd. The Earl and Countess of Shaftesbury,
accompanied by Mr. Thomas H. Torrens, J.P., his Lordship’s
agent, arrived at the Town Hall at 12-30, and were received by
Mr. Thos. Vint, Chairman of the Urban Council, who
introduced those who had received invitations to meet them.
Lord and Lady Shaftesbury then inspected the old charters,
minute books, drawings, seals, &c., Mr. Thos. Vint and Mr.
James Boyd, Town Clerk, explaining the contents of the

presentation consisted of a solid silver salver, and the address
accompanying it was placed in a cylirdrical red moroccocovered case.
After the departure of Sir George WVhite and party, Mr. Thomas
Vint, Chairman of the Urban District Council, entertained a very
large company in the Town Hall.
* The number of votes at the election of a Member of Parliament
for East Antrim were :—

Colonel M‘Calmont 3,582
Dr. King Kerr 2,653
929

+ This is one of the old customs of feudal times that is still kept
up in Carrickfergus. Other bells are the labour bell, the state bells,
and the market bell.
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charters, &c. In the afterncon the Earl and Countess
Shaftesbury proceeded to the Barn, where they partook of
luncheon with Mr. John M‘Ferran, and afterwards drove to
inspect the Castle, Parish Church, and New Parochial Schools.

Up till July, 1901, Carrickfergus was the headquarters of
the Royal Irish Constabulary, Carrickfergus District, which
included Glenarm, Larne, Ballyclare, Greencastle, Whiteabbey,
and Doagh stations. On the 24th July the headquarters were
transferred to Lame.

Monday, 1gth August. His Royal Highness the Duke*of
Connaught, Commander-in-Chief of the forces in Ireland,
landed at Carrickfergus from His Majesty’s ship Malampus,
which arrived in the Lough the previous evening. The principal
object of his visit was to inspect the new Ordnance Stores which
have been built here on the site of the old County Antrim Jail.

November 1zth. The S.S. Wiiteabbey, a Carrickfergus
owned boat, laden with coal from Preston to Carrickfergus, was
sunk off Groomsport by the force of a great gale. A crew of
nine men, who were all from Carrickfergus, were lost.

In 1902 this boat was raised and taken to Belfast to be
repaired.

December 27th. A meeting was held in Minorca School in
order to establish a branch of the Gaelic League in Carrick-
fergus.

1902, January. The old Parochial Hall and Schoolhouse
in Lancasterian Street was sold to the trustees for an Orange
Hall at a cost of £200, rent free for ever.

May 26th, Monday. Mr. T. W. Russell, M.P., addressed
a public meeting in the Albert Hall on Compulsory Purchase
and Government Land Bill. The meeting was under the
auspices of the Ulster Tenant Farmers’ and Labourers’ Union,
a branch of which was recently established in this neighbour-
hood.

June 2nd, Monday. News of the restoration of peace in

*The Duke and party inspected the Castle Garden Battery, where
he saw the large guns, and afterwards viewed the interior of the
Castle. He evinced much interest in a ‘“ book * which is preserved in
the Castle. This relic. of a disturbed period appears to be a‘t‘mgk bound
in morocco, and it bears on the cover the inscription, I\enngdys
Works.” On opening the clasp, in the absence of leaves and printed
matter, it contains a revolver on one side, and a number of cartridges
on the other. It was given up at the surrender of arms about 1865 or
1872.
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South Africa was received with much enthusiasm by the
inhabitants of Carrickfergus. Flags and bunting were displayed
from many of the business and private houses, and salutes were
fired by the military from the Castle Gardens. Bonfires were
lighted in several streets of the town and surrounding districts.

27th same month, owing to the illness of His Majesty, King
Edward VII., the coronation celebrations were postponed. The
Urban District Council forwarded a telegram of sympathy to
Sir Francis Knollys, Buckingham Palace. The coronation
Committee representative of the town and district of Carrick-
fergus also forwarded a letter “humbly expressing their
sympathy, hoping and praying that His Majesty may be
speedily restored to health, and that Her Majesty Queen
Alexandria and the Royal Family may be sustained and
comforted in their time of great anxiety.”

August gth. The Coronation of King Edward VII. was
celebrated here. The bells of the Episcopal Church and other
churches were rung during the time that the coronation
ceremony was proceeding in Westminster Abbey. At 12 noon
a Royal salute of twenty-one guns was fired, and immediately
afterwards the public assembled in Victoria Place sung the
National Anthem. In the evening there was a Grand Fancy
Dress Parade, accompanied by several Brass Bands. A gun
was fired as a signal for lighting of bonfires, and the ringing
of the church bells as a signal for a general illumination of
houses. There was a grand display of fireworks at Joymount
and elsewhere.

1903,* Saturday, 7th February. A most disastrous fire
occurred in the Woodburn Weaving Factory, situated about a
mile inland from Carrickfergus, damage being done to the
extent of £25,000. The Belfast Fire Brigade was telephoned
for, and a four horse engine or steamer was despatched with
full complement of men and apparatus, which did the journey
of eleven miles in the short space of an hour.

* September 10th, same year, Colonel James Craig, J.P., and the
Hon. Mrs. Skeffington Craig, in the Town Hall, formally presented to
the Urban Council of Carrickfergus a manual engine and fire escape,
with all appliances, for the use of the inhabitants and neighbourhood.

In May, 1908, they exchanged the manual engine for a splendid
steam fire engine, which has proved to be very beneficial to the town
and district.

In 1903 Colonel Craig also presented 10 iron seats to be placed on
the sea front and elsewhere to, accommodate.the. public.
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June. The walking boom attracted a wonderful amount of
interest in Carrickfergus and neighbourhood, and a local walk
took place, from Larne to Carrickfergus, on the 27th June.
A large crowd witnessed.the start at Larne, which was performed
by R. H. H. Baird, Esq., J.P., Belfast.

Same year, Monday, July 26th, their Majesties’ visit to
Belfast was marked in Carrickfergus by a liberal display of
bunting from many of the principal business establishments
and private houses. On the Castle Tower the Royal Standard
floated during Sunday and Monday, and the local Coastguard
Station and Rowing Club Boathouse were decorated with flags
and streamers. The Urban District Council of Carrickfergus
presented a most loyal address of welcome to their Majesties on
this occasion of their visit to Belfast. The deputation consisted
of Mr. Charles M. Legg and Mr. William Gorman, J.P.

1904, July 19th. The Urban District Council of
Carrickfergus held a special meeting to present Mr. and Mis.
H. G. Legg, Carrickfergus and Capetown, with an illuminated
address in recognition of the generous gift of {1,000 for a
new cemetery for the town.

August 8th, Monday. The Naval Manceuvres began in the
bay. The opposing sides were called respectively the “ Red”
and “Blue.” The Blue occupied the Irish Coast with a base
at Carrickfergus. There were three battleships and three
second cruisers on the Roads opposite the Castle.

1904, December 1oth. The Right Rev. Thomas Welland,
D.D., Bishop of Down, Connor, and Dromore, conducted the
service of consecration of the new “ Victoria” Cemetery, off
Larne Road, the gift of Mr. Hugh G. Legg, of Capetown and
Carrickfergus, to the inhabitants of the town and district. Tt
comprises about five acres, and is about a mile distant from
Carrickfergus.

1905, April 7th. Messrs. Henry Laverty & Sons purchased
the valuable property known as Wilson’s Meadows and
proceeded to erect extensive brickworks.*

* In taking this step the Messrs. Laverty were renewing an old and
valued association with Carrickfergus, the firm having been founded by
the late Mr. Henry Laverty in 1868. The extent to which it developed
was such that it became increasingly difficult to conduct it from
Carrickfergus, and in 1888 it was found necessary to remove to Belfast.
After the death of Mr. Henry Laverty, the founder of the firm, the
business was converted into a private Limited I_,l?bxhty Company,
having as its heads Messrs. John, James, William, and Hugh
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July 2nd. The Royal Society of Antiquarians of Ireland
paid a visit to the town; the Castle and St. Nicholas Church
were visited, and an interesting description was given by
W. J. Fennell, Esq.,, M.R.I.LA. In the evening the party were
entertained by Sir Hugh and Lady Smiley, at Drumalis, Larne.

October 6th. General the Right Hon. Lord Grenfell,
G.C.B., G.C.M.G., commanding the forces in Ireland, made a
brief inspection of the Old Courthouse, Ordnance Stores, and
the Castle.

At a luncheon subsequently given in Belfast by the Lord
Mayor, Sir Daniel Dixon, M.P., his Lordship’s health was
enthusiastically toasted.*

November 27th. Miss L. Rentoul, Belfast, dehvered her
well-known lecture on “The Apotheosis of Liquor,” in the
Albert Hall, under the auspices of the First Presbyterian
Church Young People’s Guild, the Rev. Alexander Cuthbert,
A.M,, presiding.

1906, 19th January. When the news of the return of
Colonel M‘Calmont as member for East Antrim was received
in Carrickfergus the greatest enthusiasm prevailed. Bands
paraded the town, and between eight and nine o'clock a
torchlight procession was formed and proceeded through the
principal streets. In the middle of it a coffin was carried,
supposed to contain the remains of Colonel M‘Calmont’s
opponent, Major Beddoes. The rendezvous was Victoria Square,

Laverty, and its career since has been one of continuous success. The
firm has also been engaged carrying out large contracts in Dublin and
Londonderry. Their brickworks are considered second to none in
Ireland, and the patent kilns are capable of dealing with 200,000 to
230,000 bricks per week.

*In the course of his reply to the toast he said, ‘‘his stay in
Belfast had been short, and he hoped the officers present would take
to heart the great military lesson that he had learned during his visit
to Carrickfergus. In the 14th century an Irish officer with a small
garrison was charged with the defence of Carrickfergus Castle, which
was besicged by an opposing force. The garrison was reduced to the
last extremity; there were no more rations left, and so hopeless was
their position that the Scotch besieging force arranged for the
capitulation of the place. Thirty Scotchmen of the besieging force
were by the terms allowed to come in. Now this was the military
lesson which he wished the officers present to take to heart—‘ When he
got them inside, the Irish officer shut the gates, killed the thirty
Scotchmen, salted them down, and issued them as rations—and thus
he was able to hold out with his garrison until the siege was raised. ’
The strong military instinct—a matter in which he always trled to
educate his officers—was very much displayed in that incident.’
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where the coffin was consigned to the flames amid the cheers of
the assembled crowd.

Same month, a Technical School, under the Agricultural

and Technical Department, Ireland, was opened in rented
premises in West Street.
. February 2nd. On the return of Mr. Glendinning as M.P.
for North Antrim (who, with Mr. M‘Keen, owns the important
works at Woodburn), the employees, together with almost all the
neighbourhood, celebrated the event by bonfires.

May 14th. A young man named William Hart, of
Ballyhill, was brought up before the Magistrates at a Special
Court of Petty Sessions in the Town Hall ; the charge against
him was being concerned in the death of William Martin,
Crossmary. The prisoner was returned for trial at the July
Assizes, and was found not guilty.

October 11th. A serious tragedy took place in the Old
Courthouse. Two recruits named respectively Johnston and
M‘Clean had a dispute early in the day, and at night Johnston
stabbed M‘Clean in the left side with a fixed bayonet. He was
immediately arrested, and M‘Clean was taken in the ambulance
to the Military Hospital, Belfast, where he died next morning
at six o'clock.

1907, Wednesday, March 22nd. A fire broke out in the
premises of the Union Hall * and Museum, High Street,
which involved the total destruction of the building and
material injury to the Post Office premises which adjoined.

August 15th. A detachment of the Rifle Brigade arrived
in Carrickfergus, and proceeded to the Castle to relieve the
guard supplied from the staff of the Antrim Royal Garrison
Artillery which had been doing duty there since the serious

*In 1853 a society was formed in Carrickfergus under the name
of the ‘‘Literary and Scientific Society,’”” Alexander Johns, Esq.,
Treasurer ; William Maloney, Esq., LL.D., Secretary. Its objects
were—*‘ To communicate useful knowledge, to teach the greatness and
goodness of the Creator, as these are revealed in all His works,’ and to
inculcate temperance, sobriety, and goodwill among men.” The
erection of a public hall was contemplated, and money go}lected for the
purpose, but having fallen far short of the amount requisite, the money
was expended in the purchase of the present property of the Society
known as the * Union Hall,”” High Street, which has been destroyed.
These premises are held rent free for ever, and consisted of a reading
room, library, and museum, and of several othgr‘ apartments which
were let. These premises are being rebuilt, provision being made for
a Technical School.
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disturbances * in Belfast. The Castle had been without a
company of regular troops since the Boer War, when the
detachment supplied from the znd Battalion of the Royal Irish
Rifles was withdrawn. Large quantities of arms and
ammunition are stored in the Castle, which were practically
unguarded. :

1908, January 22nd. A meeting in connection with the
forward movement of the Young Men’s Christian Association
was held in the Parochial Hall; the chair was taken by Wm.
Gorman, Esq., J.P. The meeting was addressed by Sir
Algernon Coote, Bart., President of the Union of Y.M.C.A’s
in Ireland, and Chairman of Executive.

June s5th. A Temperance Demonstration was held in
Victoria Square, under the auspices of the Independent Order
of Good Templars, Independent Order of Rechabites, Total
Abstinence L.O.L., No. 1537, and the Irish Temperance
League. The meeting was to express satisfaction with the
Licensing Bill then before Parliament. Bands paraded the
town, and the whole proceedings passed off peaceably.

August 7th. Colonel James Craig, J.P., and the Hon.
Mrs. Skeffington Craig opened the New Mission Hall and
Annexe to the Young Men’s Christian Association{ premises
in Market Place, which they had given some years before.

* Belfast had been experiencing an unusual number of trades’
disputes. In consequence work was suspended in many places,
principally around the docks. The dock labourers’ dispute with the
Belfast Steamship Company caused the carters to come out in
sympathy with the dockers. The strike, which began on the 27th
of June, continued until the 16th of August. The carters gained an
appreciable advance of wages, and an improvement in the general
conditions of their work; while the masters successfully asserted their
claim to employ non-members of the Carters’ Union. The direct cash
losses sustained by the Belfast community are estimated by the special
correspondent of the *‘ Tribune "’ to amount to £7,000 in the case of
wages lost by the men, 410,000 lost by master carriers, and between
£30,000 and £40,000 lost by the general body of merchants and
retailers. Claims for compensation amounting to over £30,985 have
been lodged against the Corporation of Belfast. The City had also to
pay for the upkeep of 3,500 soldiers. .

+The Carrickfergus Y.M.C.A. was established in 1873. The
beginning was on a small scale, the members first meeting in the
house of Mr. J. K. Mitchell, Governor's Place, but in 1877 premiscs
were taken in West Street, where a cafe was organised in a small
way. Later it was found that this branch of the work required more
room, and a larger house was rented in High Street, where the work
of the Association was developed in many directions.

In 1900, the President, Colonel Craig, and the Hon. Mrs.
Skeffington Craig, purchased the present premises in Market Place,
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Monday, 16th November. A meeting was held in premises
in Governor's Place for the purpose of considering the .
advisability of forming in Carrickfergus a branch of the East
Antrim Liberal Association. The meeting was addressed by Mr.
W. H. Davey, M.A., B.L., Editor of the “ Ulster Guardian.”

1909, Tuesday, 4th May. The first Town Court * was
held in the Petty Sessions Court.

Monday, 24th May, Empire Day. This day was celebrated
in whole-hearted fashion throughout the country. Addresses
were delivered in the schools to the children, alluding to the
duty of patriotism and love of country, after which the Union
Jack was saluted, followed by the singing of the National
Anthem.

together with an adjoining site, on which the present Mission Hall
and rooms are built, so that the Association might have a home frec
of rent for ever. The new building, in addition to the Lecture Hall,
contains spacious dining-room, parlour, recreation rooms, bedrooms,
and Secretary’s office.

The door of the New Hall was opened by Colonel Craig with a
beautifully engraved gold key, presented by the builder, Mr. Ezekiel
Caters, and supplied bv Mr. James Graham. The proceedings inside
the Hall were presided over by Sir Robert Anderson, Lord Mayor of
Belfast.

The expenditure involved amounted to 41,000, and of this sum
Colonel Craig and the Hon. Mrs. Skeflington Craig have given £500.
It was through Colonel Craig’s generosity that Mr. F. W. A,
MacCormac was appointed General Secretary, and his salary paid for
three years. Since his appointment the movement has made rapid and
wonderful progress.

In the evening, the members of the Young Mer’s Christian
Association presented an illuminated address in album form to Colonel
Craig, President, in grateful appreciation of the prayerful and
practical interest he had always shown in the welfare of the Association,
signed by the Vice-President, members and associates. | ]

* In recent years the police found difficulty in dealing with various
offences, and the Urban Council decided to have the Court constituted.
Mr. Thomas Vint, who is Chairman of the Council, was present in
that capacity, and the other magistrates "occupying the seats on the
bench were :—Mr. Robert MacMurray, J.P., Chairman of the ordinary
Petty Sessions Court, and Mr. Joseph M‘Caughan, J.P. Mr. H.
Blackburn, solicitor, said he was instructed by the Council to appear
on their behalf and explain the offences which could be dealt with at
the Town Court. The fines imposed would be lodged to the credit of
the Council, and the Clerk, Mr. David Law, would be paid by the
costs imposed.
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HISTORY &c., OF CARRICKFERGUS.

PARE 1L

CHAPTPER I

N proceeding to notice the ancient state of Carrickfergus,

l we have, for the information of the reader, annexed a plan

of the town, taken about 1550; and shall commence this
part of the work with its elucidation.!

The town appears protected on the north and west by a
broad trench, or wet ditch: and without any regular streets,
consisting chiefly of a number of castellated mansions, called
by the names of their respective owners, among which are those
of Sendall, Russel, and Savage; families who arrived here with
John de Courcy. The small houses, or cabins, were probably
of clay: as the records of 1593 mention, as a remarkable event,
houses of “lyme & stoane” beginning to be erected that year
in West-Street: the grounds of which were about said time let
off on condition of the like being built. It is added that said
street “ was made fayer & Stronge, wheare before the moste
parte thereof was in rotten & ruinous clay howses & Cottages.”

The church of St. Nicholas, save the spire, appears nearly
as at present, and the tower or keep of the castle seems as at
this day; but there are no half-moons at the entrance, which is
merely defended by a wall in front, planted with artillery. In
the present market place is observed a large cross, called Great
Patrick : south-west of which is a lofty building, with a double
row of battlements in front, called Mackne Coole,; ? and nearly

!This plan was taken from one found amongst the MSS. of the
late Dean Dobbs, and is believed to have been copied from a plan
preserved in Lambeth Library.

2 Perhaps properly Mach-Coole, the reputed father of the .northern
hero, Fin, literally Fioun, i.e., fair haired ; the former name being often
added to that of Fioun as a surname, and pronounced Mac Cowl, or
Mac Coul; hence Fin, or Phil, Mac Coul, of whom tradition still
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in the same direction, three castles, belonging to the family of
Wyles (Wills), and the castle of Patrick Savage. The other
castellated buildings are those of Dobbin’s, Sindall (Sendall),
Rusall, and Stiphinson: the pile of buildings seen near an
“old Trench,” was called “ Sindall’s Hall, or old howse.”

On the east is “ Wyrol tower or Prison,” also called the
“old Gatehouse,” the jail and court-house of this county; and
near it, on the north, the dissolved monastery of St. Francis,
called “The Pallace, late a Freer's Howse,” from which the
date of this plan is pretty correctly ascertained. The abbey was
suppressed at the general dissolution of monastic houses in
1542 ; the town began to be walled with earth or sods, in 1574 ;
and between those times this plan must have been taken;
perhaps about 1550. Respecting this walling with sods, we find
the following in the records of that time: “ Octobre 1oth, 1574,
This present day it was ordered and agreede by the Maior,
Sheriffes, Burgioses, & Cominality, that ther should be a
Vamour * of Sodds or Turffe rounde aboughte the Towne, for
the defence or better Strengthening of the Imhabitaunts of the
same, whiche should be finished by the hole Corporacon, the
fower mounts at the fower Corners of the Towne excepted,
which was made & compiled at the charge of the Prince, whiche
Vamour, as aforesaide, was finished within one monthe after the
decree made.”

It is probable that the completion of this walling gave very
little additional security to the harassed inhabitants, as in the
following year the Scots assaulted the town; * and soon after
we find the corporation entering into an agreement with the lord
deputy Sidney, respecting which there is the following entry in
our records. “ Octobre 8th, 15735, at his honor being heare, We,
the maior, & Corporacon, for the better futhering of the
Walling of this Towne, take in bargaine of his Honor to wall
from her Majesties Castell on the North East, unto the mount

records many marvellous stories. Why this building was called as
above we can only conjecture ; perhaps from its antiquity or singularity,
as it seems to differ from those adjoining, and Fin is believed to have
been a giant capable of the greatest human exertions: or are we to
believe that this building was really the castle, or hall of Tura, and
that it was from hence Fin went to ‘‘ people all Scotland with his own
hands? *—See Campbell’s edition of Ossian.

! Vamour.—This is evidently of French extraction; Van-mour or
A-vant-mour, a term of fortification, signifying a wall in front.

?See page 27.



143

of the Myll,! along by the Sea Syde at 5 Sh. Sterg. the foote,
every foote to be made 7 foote in the foundation, 4 foote in
the topp of the wall, & 16 foote in heyght, as apereth by the
Indentures of the bargaine bearing date 21st of Octobre.” The
owners of this ground to receive 6d. per running foot for their
loss of the same.?

This walling was soon laid aside by a complication of
causes, the chief of which was the removal of Sir Henry Sidney,
who resigned the office of lord deputy in September, 1578.
Sir William Drury, and Arthur lord Grey, his successors in
office, were kept so very busy in the south by the invasion of
the Spaniards, and the rebellion of the earl of Desmond, that
very little attention was paid to the affairs of the north; nor
does any thing farther appear to have been effected in this
way, during the government of Sir John Perrot.3

The corporation, however, did not lose sight of this
business ; for on the 1oth June, 1594, they sent to England
William Lyndsey, recorder, and Humphry Johnson, alderman:
who amongst other things, were to press her majesty respecting
the walling of the town. Those agents * appear to have rested
their claim chiefly on a contract made with Sir Henry Sidney,
when lord deputy; and estimated the expence of finishing the
walls at £1500. To this sum her majesty objected, from the
heavy burthens of the late wars; on which the agents said, that
the corporation would wall the town, within three years and a

1By the “‘mount of the Myll,”’ is meant one of the mounts or
ramparts of defence that stood by a mill, close to the shore. The water
that turned it is seen in the annexed plan, marked *‘ River.” It passed
though that part of ‘“ The Friar’s Garden,” now [then] tenanted by
Mr. A. Cunningham, and beneath the [the then] present grand jury
room of the county of Antrim Courthouse, and emptied itself into the
sea at the west side of the Water gate; hence the name of said gate.

[* Among the first necessities of the English of Elizabeth’s time,
in their desire to introduce the habits of the country, were mills and
brewhouses. In the Calendar of State Papers, dated July, 1374, it is
stated—** To have one windmill set up at Carigfergus, for that.the
mill there cannot serve to grind for the victualling of 1,000 soldiers,
without the which we shall not be able to furnish them except we
be forced to grind with querns at excessive charges, besides the
wastes that fall thereby.’” This water-mill was probably the one
mentioned in the above note; but the windmill was px:obabl__v built at
this period, the stump of it still remaining at Windmill Hill, on the
Belfast side of the town.]

2 Records of Carrickfergus.

3 Cox’s History of Ireland.

*For a copy of the petition of the agents to the Queen, see
““ Young’s Old Belfast.”’]
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half, and also, in two years after, pay to her majesty and her
successors, £ 40 per annum ; the crown in the mean time to give
the corporation £ 300, and resign to them a third part of the
customs of the port, valued at £7 10 o per annum; also her
majesty’s part of the imposts of this port, then valued at twenty
marks yearly. All these overtures were, however, rejected by
the cautious Elizabeth, on the ground that she did not know the
value of the customs nor imposts: but she afterwards instructed
the lord deputy and council in Ireland, to consider the offers
of the corporation, and the value of the customs and imposts,
and what proportion they bore to the offered perpetuity of £40
per annum ; also to let her know their opinion, how Carrick-
fergus could be best fortified; and if widening the ditch on
the north, and introducing more water into it, would answer
that purpose. That she really considered the town deserving
of favour, from the marked attention of the inhabitants to her
interest : “ going forth to any service, with their Garrons and
servants without any wages.” Her majesty concludes this letter
to the lord deputy as follows: “ But amongst other things
movinge favour, we heare a report worthie to be esteemed, which
is, that there is neither man, woman, nor child, infected with
Papistrie, a thinge which we doubte cannot be truly said in
any other greate Towne in that Realme.”?

The walling being now left, in a great measure, to the
will of the lord deputy, the agents besought Robert, Earl of
Essex, to use his interest with Sir William Russel, then chief
governor of Ireland, in their behalf; who, in April, the follow-
ing year, wrote to him, requesting his furtherance of the
‘benyfyte’ of Carrickfergus. Still the work seems not to
have been proceeded in, as, on the 12th November, 1596, we
find the corporation, in a letter to the lord deputy, complaining
of their expense “in repairinge the rampier or Towne walles
being made with soddes, everie winter the same doth fall down
to our greate ympoverishment.” 2

All efforts of the corporation regarding the walling were
again frustrated for several years, by the rebellion of Hugh
O’Neill, earl of Tyrone, and the landing of the Spaniards in
Munster. In the latter end of 160y, we find the corporation
addressing a letter to the lord deputy, Sir Arthur Chichester,

! Records of Carrickfergus.
? Records of Carrickfergus.
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complaining that much of her late Majesty’s grant to them still
remained unfulfilled, amongst which the walling of the town is
particularly mentioned, and humbly requesting his aid in their
behalf.

This memorial proved more successful than the former.
The deputy, in his answer, dated February 28th, 1608, informs
them, that his Majesty had consented to furnish 100 men to
assist in walling the town; the corporation to find “a hundred
good able and sufficient men” “to arme, muster, and keepe in
readines for the defence ” of the town, and every other service
that might be required of them; but neither officers nor men
to receive any pay.! He concludes, “ yf anie out of a trobled
brayne or factitus spirit should goe about to hinder or give
opposition to what his majestie is so gratiouslie pleased to doe
for you, lett me knowe him that I may make him tast the frute
of his follye.” A letter from Sir Folk Conway, mayor, then
in Dublin, dated March 1st, orders the mustering of the men
to be furnished by the corporation “on the 1st of Octobre; ” 2
from which period we hear of no delays or interruptions, the
walls being speedily completed.

These walls were mostly erected without the trench or ditch,
noticed in the ancient plan: and flanked with seven bastions.
They are still pretty entire, about six feet thick on the top
towards the land, and about eighteen feet high; coarsely but
strongly built in that manner called grouting; the corners of
the bastions of cut yellowish freestone,® different from any

! The records of Carrickfergus are silent as to any additional
charge, or sum of money to be paid to the crown for this walling;
yet, in April, 1714, Francis Bernard, her Majesty’s solicitor general,
sued the corporation for an alleged arrear of a contract of £40 per
annum, from 169o. Defence being taken by the Corporation, we find
no further notice of this suit.—Records of Carrickfergus.

* Records of Carrickfergus.

*Till of late years the walls¥* and corners of the bastions were
pulled down with impunity; but a complaint being made by the mayor
and sheriffs (in 1815) to baron M‘Clelland, one of the judges of
assize, one person was obliged to build up such part as he had taken
down; since this time the walls have received comparatively little
damage.

[¥All now left of the old walls is a fragment on the north side
of the Albert Road. This fragment appears to be in a line with the
much larger portion which may be seen a few hundred yards farther
eastward, and the old North Gate stands midway between. Benn
gives the ‘“ Report of the Plantation Commissioners ’’ in 1611 regarding
the building of the walls. He notes that * labourers are employed in
breaking of limestone at a place called the ‘‘ White heade,” also
about 40 myles from Knockfergus in breaking of freestones.”” Under

IX
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stone found in this neighbourhood. The land side was also
strengthened by a wet ditch, now filled up.

There were four gates, anciently distinguished by the
following names: Glenarm or Spittal gate, Woodburn or West-
gate, Water-gate, and Quay-gate, Spittal-gate,® now North-gate,
and West-gate, now Irish-gate, were formerly entered by draw-
bridges: the draw-bridge and deep trench of the latter remained
within memory, and part of the arch* over the former is yet
standing. Water-gate and Quay-gate were defended by battle-
ments over them.? In 1739, the mayor and corporation
petitioned the duke of Devonshire, then lord lieutenant of
Ireland, to have the walls and gates repaired, and stated that
“no manner of Repaires had been done to the walls, Gates, or
the Draw-Bridges, since the year 1715; ” but it does not appear
that this petition was in the least attended to.®

Having laid before the reader the most material notices
respecting the walling of the town, we resume the account of its
former state and progressive advancement. In the records of
this corporation we find the following regulations established
respecting its police.

“The 1oth, of Januarie 1600—it was condesended &
agreed by the hole Corporacon that all such Aldermen of this
Towne as are now devyded into several Quarters or Wards, are
to have there able men in eatche of there Severall quarters
provyded with some convenient wapons as unto them shall be
thought meette, which is to be accomplished by the last of this
Januarie 160o. And who shall want such meete and convenient
wappons beinge appointed by the Aldermen shall be fyned at
the discression of the Aldermen of the said Ward, and what
Alderman & Deputie shall not give a good reason why they are
not then furnished shall be fyned at eatche 14 Dayes So
offending, the Alderman in 2Sh. Ster. and his deputie in 12d

the sea at Cushendun is freestone or red sandstone, also at Cultra,
and it has been stated that the yellow freestone used in walls, church,
and castle came from either of those places.]

*This name is believed to have been taken from its being the
way which led to the hospital of St. Bride.

[*In 1849-50 an alteration was made in the arch by an erection
on either side of a smaller arch for the convenience of foot passeagers,
one of the arches is built up, see page g2. There is a tradition
concerning the Old North Gate or archway, that it will stand until a
wise man become a member of the corporation.]

From an ancient plan of the town.

* Gill’s MSS.
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Ster. thone half to the maier, & thother half to the Sheriffs,
and that the Aldermen or there deputies shall by Vertue of this
Statute in thabsence of the maior & Sheriffes have full power
& authorittie to comitt any person or persons for any disorder
within there Several Wardes & to enlarge them at there pleasure,
So as there offence hath not bene before the maior for the tyme
beinge: and that the aldermen & there deputies shall from tyme
to tyme everie frydaye or Saterdays cawse the Streetts to be
made cleane in there Severall quarters, And if anye of the
Sayd Aldermen or there deputies Shall refuse so to doe the
Aldermen to be fyned at 2 Sh. Ster. & the deputie in 12d, ster.
And who Shall infrindge this order Shall be furder punished at
the maiors pleasure, and this Statute to remaine in force from
tyme to tyme.”

From these and similar regulations established about the
same time, it is evident that the town was increasing in size and
population ; we shall therefore briefly notice its state at the above
period, with the names of the principal inhabitants, who held
their tenements direct from this corporation.

At the north-east end of High-street, anciently, King street,
near the front entrance of the present court-house of the county
of Antrim, stood an antique square building called Castle-
Worraigh,! then the prison of this county. It was also called
“ Mayorality-castle,” from the mayor being always elected there,
and the assizes and courts being held in the same place. The
entrance into this building was by a projecting stone staircase,
in front of which were stocks, for the punishment of petty
delinquents, and near the top a clock. On the ground floor
were the cells for criminals; on the second the jailor's and
debtor’s rooms; the mayor’s courts and assizes were held on
the third story.

The road leading eastward, was by the north-west and rear
of this building, and on the north-east of said road were the
houses of Thomas Dobbin, and Owen Magee; in the rear of
which was the dissolved monastery of St. Francis, then called
“ A Store-house for Victuals” for the troops of this garrison.?

! The Wyrol Tower, seen in the ancient plan.

21n a MS. account of Ulster, in the possession of the late Rev.
Richard Dobbs, Dean of Connor, supposed to have been copied from a
manuscript bearing that title in Lambeth, and written in 1598, is the
following notice of Carrickfergus. * The towne walled partly with
Stone, and partly with Sodds. There are in it two Wardes; the one
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South-west of Castle-Worraigh was a castellated building
called Borlet’s or Birkett’s hall or castle:1 between those
buildings was a straight passage eastward, and on the south of
said passage the dwellings of Thomas Whitager and John
Dyer. From the latter, on the south-east side of High-street,
was an irregular range of castles and houses, mostly detached
from each other, and belonging to the following persons:
William Dobbin’s castle (then tenanted by Sir Moses Hill),
Thomas Dobbin, Edward Russell, Christopher Russell, Richard
Spearpoint, Phelimy Roe Magee, Thomas Stevenson, John
Savage, John Lugg, John Dalway, Thomas Dobbin, and
captain William Peirs. The latter stood on the north-east part
of that ground formerly called “Lyndon’s Garden,” now held
by the Board of Ordnance, and occupied as a garden by the
store-keeper of the garrison. In the letters patent of James I.
confirming the boundaries of the lands granted to this corpora-
tion, the dwelling of captain William Peirs is called a Bawn,?
and is excepted from the jurisdiction of this body corporate,®
and valued at 2s. per annum. Adjoining was the Town Guard-
house. It stood on the ground now held by the executors of
Henry Gill, in right of a lease granted to him for ever, in
1735. On the north-west, or opposite side, same street,
commencing near Castle-Worraigh, were a similar range of

in the Castell, in the south ende of the Towne, the other in the Abbye,
in the North ende of the Towne.”

11In 1775, this building was taken down by order of the Grand
Jury of this county, for the purpose of widening the passage to the
Scotch quarter. It was then called Byrt’s-barn, perhaps corrupted from
Byrket’s-bawn : as, from the form and situation of the building, it had
not the least resemblance of its having been a barn.

2 Bawn, originally signified an inclosure for sheep or cattle; but,
with the English settlers, a house environed by a wall or ditch, hence
sometimes called a fort. In ‘ Pynner’s Survey of Ulster,”’ taken in
1618-19, mention is made of Bawns of ‘‘ Stone and clay,”” and of others
merely ‘‘ Clay and Straw.”

3 January, 1570, the crown granted to captain William Peirs a
messuage or tenement for ever, on the east and west of her majesty’s
castle, to hold by fealty: which, in 1594, he sold to John Usher.
Hence its exception from the other lands. This must be the ground
noticed above, held by the board of ordnance, and part of that on the
west of his majesty’s castle. In 1608, we find it in the possession of
Richard Newton, who sold it to John Davys, who took out a new
deed in his own name, at the annual rent of £1 6 8. He afterwards
made a freehold of it to John Lyndon, at £12 per annum, whose son
Edward gave a deed of it for ever to the government, at the yearly
rent of £29. October 4th, 1739, the foundation of Officer’s barrack
was laid upon it, but proceeded no farther.—Lodge’s Collections.
Letters Patent of James I. Gill’s MSS.
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detached little castellated mansions and houses, inhabited as
follows: Michael Newby, Nicholas Wills, Richard O’Conlin,
Sir Folk Conway, Morgan Woods, James Byrt, Anthony
Dobbin, Nicholas Dobbin, and James Savage. The latter was
the corner house towards North-street, and was sold about this
time to said Nicholas Dobbin.

A little southward from the house of James Savage, stood
Great-Patrick,* already noticed; and a few perches distant, on
the west, the castle of Humphry Johnson.? The ground north
of this building, as far as what is now called Lancaster-street,
was at that time called “The Raven’s Acre;” and from the
north side of the present distillery (now markets), to near
North-gate, “ Garden-Combe.”

The only houses noticed at the same date in Nortn-street
and Back-lane, are two at the north-west corner of said lane,
fronting North-street, held by Dudley Yerworth, and James F.
Dobbin.

There were no houses from North-street to Cork-hill, then
called the “ Old Rampier,” on which were held the fish and horse
markets. .

On the east end of West-street, fronting the present gaol *
of Carrickfergus, was the house of Thomas O’Cahan, and
contiguous, on its west, the castle of Nicholas Wills. In the
same direction were the houses of Clement Ford, and John
Scully, seen in the annexed “ View in West-street ; ” that of the
latter was the chief Inn of this town.

Fronting West-street, north-west corner of Cheston’s lane,
or street, stood the castle of Robert Sendall; some vestiges of
which still remain. From this castle there appears to have been
only one dwelling, that of Thomas Powell, on the south side of
West-street, to the house of Sidney Russel, at the north-east

10n removing a part of the pavement of the market-place, near
the south end of North-street, in September, 1818, a square foundation
was discovered, believed to have been the base of Great-Patrick.

2 A part of this castle (massy vaults), were standing within memory,
and was then called O’Neill’s castle, and said to have been once the
residence of the potent O’'Neill’s of North Clandeboy. It is certain that
this family had possession here. So late as the 13th Charles II. we
find Sir Henry O’Neill letting off a tenement in this town, for 93
years, to John Davys, of Carrickfergus.—MSS. o

[* This castle was situated a little above the Y.M.C.A. Buildings,
nearer the churchyard gate.]

[* This gaol was removed in 1827.]
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corner of Cranagh-Bawn,* or Essex-street. The houses on the
opposite side of West-street, were those of Dermot Haynes,
then called the “swan,” William Butcher, or Butler, John
Plunkett, Thomas Peirson, and Robert Wills. The last of these
extended to the stream that now crosses West-street, coming
from a passage or entrance to the church, which was soon after
called “ Pendleton’s-hole.” East of said stream were the houses
of William Jordan, Thos. Witter, and Richard Witter; the
house of the latter was soon after sold to Richard Horsman.

At the south end of Essex-street, on that ground now held
by the trustees of the charity of Henry Gill, stood the castle
of Patrick Savage. Eastward was a narrow way called
Washingstone-lane, on the north side of which were the
dwellings of Robert Lyndon, Henry Ockford, and William
Wishart.

Nearly opposite the Custom-house, was a castle then
held by Robert Sendell; the ground north, as far as his
castle, West-street, was held by him, but it does not appear that
it contained any houses. The only tenements mentioned on the
opposite, or east side of Cheston’s-lane, were those of
O’Cahan, Thomas Lugg, and James Savage. At the south end
of said lane, fronting Castle-street, was the house of Richard
Newton; and adjoining, on its east, the castle of Charles Wills,
commonly called Castle-Moyle, or Newcastle. =~ Where the
south end of the old prison of this county now stands [stood] was
the castle of James Russel; and near it, on the south, the
houses of Michael White and Bryan M‘Manus. The entrance
into the king’s castle appears to have been nearly as at present,
defended by two towers or half-moons.

Neither Irish nor Scotch quarters are noticed at this period ;
but some plots of ground appear to have been laid out in them,
mostly called by the names of their respective owners. In the
former are noticed Wills’s Park, Barley-hill, the Scribe’s Garden,
&c., and in the latter Lang’s garden, Duff’s garden, Gillans'
acres, Millmount acre, Crooked garden, and Wheat garden. No
houses, bawns, or castles, are noticed in the county at this period.

} Crannagh-Bawn, i.e., the Wood Fort, is alleged to have taken its
name from the castellated mansion of Patrick Savage, at the south end
of said street. There was a double row of venerable elms near it, till
within these few years.
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Such appears to have been the state of the town and
suburbs, at the commencement of the 17th century,’ immediately
after which it rapidly increased both in size and trade. By a
return of the amount of “ Customs of Prohibited Goods, and
the Three pence per pound for other goods, due by Common
Law,” for seven years prior to 1609, it appears to have been
the third port in Ireland for trade, being only exceeded by
Dublin and Waterford.? The advancement of the place was
owing in a great degree to the attentions of Sir Arthur
Chichester, then lord deputy ; who, having obtained large grants
of land from this corporation, not only got the walls of the
town completed, but an ample confirmation of their chartered
privileges by James I. Amongst these privileges the chief was,
the third part of all customs of goods imported or exported,
between Fair-forelands, alias Fairhead, county Antrim, and
Beerlooms, alias Beerhouse,® county of Down. All persons were
prohibited from the importation of any merchandise within this
space, save at the quay of Carrickfergus (Belfast, Bangor, and
Olderfleet excepted), under pain of forfeiture of the goods to
the corporation.* This corporation, however, also received the
third part of the customs of the ports excepted as above. March
12, 1634, we find the corporation letting off the third part of
the customs of Bangor and Donaghadee to Thomas Whitager,
alderman, for z1 years, at the annual rent * of £20.°

Those valuable immunities, and the patronage of the lord
deputy, presented an ample field for English adventurers, and,
between 1602 and 1612, many settlers arrived here from
Devonshire, at the request, or under the protection of Sir

! Records of Carrickfergus. An ancient plan of Carrickfergus.

?Cox’s History of Ireland.—It must, however, have been of con-
siderable commercial importance prior to the above time. Harris, in
his History of the County of Down, informs us that it was the principal
place of trade in Ulster, before the reign of Queen Elizabeth; and
Hollinshed, in his Chronicle, ranks it amongst the chief ‘‘ haven-towns
of Ireland.”’ The low state of commerce, at the above time, is evident
from the amount of the customs for the seven years just alluded to:
the total sum was only £399 6 7—Cox’s History of Ireland.

® Beerlooms, at Cloughan bay, opposite to which are the North and
South Rocks, near Portaferry.—Gill’s MSS.

¢ Charter of James I.

[*In two payments if lawfully demanded at the porch of St.
Nicholas’s Church.—Records of Carrickfergus.}

> Records of Carrickfergus.
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Arthur.!  Between those times we find persons of the following
surnames receiving grants of lands and tenements from this
corporation. They probably arrived as above, as such names
are not previously noticed in the records:—Ellis, Davy’s,
Cooper, Gale, Hillman, Harper, Hooper, Lang, Bowman, Parks,
Clark, Markham, Tomson, Cuppach, Wilkison, Hodgson,
Humpston, Story, Balf, Mathews, Liddel, Gravott, Bashford,
Kilnpatrick, Vaughan, Langford, Bole, Gibson, Murdeck,
M‘Farrell, and Adraine. Several families, evidently Irish,
also settled here about the same time, some of whom are
noticed as from Drogheda—O’Kane, O’Kelly, M‘Carne, Taaffe,
and Fitzsimmons.? Those persons immediately began to erect
houses. In granting plots for building in the town, the persons
are usually bound to build in the “ English manner,” “of brick
and lime, or stone and lime, or of Cadge-Work, well Tiled or
Slated, with handsome Lights, well Glazd,” and always bound to
keep the street opposite in repair.®

In 1606, Sir Hercules Langford began to erect an elegant
mansion on that ground now occupied by part of the present
Market-house (now Petty Sessions Court House and Town
Hall). On the family of the Langfords ceasing to reside in
Carrickfergus, this building became the property of John
Davy’s, and was afterwards called Davy’s’s Castle.*

About the latter end of 1606, and in the three following
years, Sir Arthur Chichester purchased several lots of ground
on the east of Castle Worraigh, from Thomas Whitager, Carew
Hart, Thomas Stevenson, Owen Magee, and William Dobbin.
At the same time he also obtained a grant of the ruined abbey
of St. Francis adjoining, and in 1610, he began to erect a
magnificent building on those grounds, the north part of which
was built on the south end of said abbey. This mansion was
called Joymount, in honour of Sir Arthur’s late patron, Lord
Mountjoy, and was not finished till 1618, as appeared from that
date over the great entrance on the south east.® The oral

1 Dubourdieu’s Statistical Survey of the County of Antrim.

2 Records of Carrickfergus.

3 Records of Carrickfergus.

4 Gill’s MSS. October 14, 1754, this castle began to be taken
down by order of Charles Davy’s, Esq., and its oak timber was taken
to Dublin.—Gill’s MSS.

It must have been a very large building : the late E. D. Wilson,
Esq., informed the writer, that he recollected 17 families dwelling in it.

5 Records of Carrickfergus. Tradition of old inhabitants.
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history of this place says, that it was built by the celebrated
Inigo Jones, and was a large building, 112 feet in front, with
two wings extending northward, the same length, having 365
windows, 5z doors, and 12 chimnies. In front of the chief
entrance was a gate-house with lofty turrets, between which and
the main building was a court, from whence was an ascent of a
few steps to a fine terrace that extended the entire length of
the front, in the centre of which was the hall-door. The
following account of Joymount is given by an anonymous
English traveller, who landed here in 1634. “ The only grace
(says he) of this town is the lord Chichester’s house, which is a
very stately house, or rather like a prince's palace; whereunto
there belongs a stately gate-house and graceful terrace, and
walks before the house, as att Denton, my lord Fairfax’ house.
A very fine hall there is, and a stately staircase, and fair
dining-room, carrying the proportion of the hall: fine gardens,
and mighty spacious orchards, and they say they have good
store of fruite”! Some difference taking place between the
noble family of Chichester and the inhabitants, the family
ceased to reside here about 1724, from which time the building
was suffered to go to ruin. In the latter end of 1768, it began
to be taken down, and its oak timber was divided amongst
those who were attached to the interests of the family; but its
marble chimney pieces, and the like valuable articles, were
taken to Fisherwick * Lodge, Staffordshire.?

! Anthologia Hibernica.—We believe the gentleman who gave the
above account was called Egerton,* and that his MS., from which it
is taken, is at this time in the possession of Sir William Betham. By
letters patent, 2oth Charles 1., Joymount was erected into a manor,
and Ballynafeigh, county of Down, attached to said manor, and leave
granted to hold a court every three weeks for the recovery of small
debts, a seneschal to preside in said court. It was, however, found
very inconvenient to have Ballynafeigh annexed; and it was at length
separated from Joymount, by letters patent of Charles II., dated the
21st of his reign.—Grants of Charles I. and II. to the Chichester family.

[* Sir William Brereton, not Egerton.]

The manor of Joymount, however, continued long after. In a lease
of a tenement on the south side of High-street, from the Earl of
Donegall to the late Mr. William Cunningha{n, dated Nov. 14, 1770,
is the following clause :—* And also Rendering and Performing the
usual Suit and Service, at the Court-Leet, and Courts-Baron, to be
held within the manor of Joymount." oy

Court-Baron was a court which every lord of a manor held within
his own precints, in which grants of land were made, and surrenders
accepted, &c. ’

[*It is said that the Chichester family exchgnged the lands
belonging to the Monastery of Massareene for Fisherwick, _Staﬁordshnre,
which had been the original seat of the Skeffington family.]

2 Tradition of old inhabitants.—Gill’s MSS.
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The following account of the ancient state of the town,
Joymount, and King’s Castle, is taken from the “ Travels of
Mon. Jorevin de Rochford,” published at Paris, in 1672, who
visited the town in 1666 :—* Knockfergus is a strong town,
and one of the most ancient in the kingdom: it is situated,
as it were, at one of the ends of the Island, at the entry of
a gut environed by mountains, whereby it is sheltered from the
winds ; having, besides, a port, enclosed by a great mole, but
with large flints, composing a large quay, in the form of a
semicircular, by the side of which there are always a number
of vessels. The entrance is defended by a large castle, on the
sea-shore, elevated upon a rock, that renders it difficult to be
scaled. There are garrisons in both town and castle; as there
are in all the strong places in Ireland. I was well entertained,
both in fish and flesh, for a shilling a day. They took me
into the great castle, which is enclosed by very thick walls,
and defended by round towers placed all about it, having in
the middle a large keep, or donjon, over whose gate are many
pieces of cannon; these command the city, and also the port.
About a month before my arrival, the garrison was in arms
against the Viceroy, who had not paid them: he being informed
of this, equipped six large ships of war, and 3,000 land farces,
with which he besieged this castle. It resisted three months,
without the guns being able to do anything ; but the provisions
and ammunition failing, they were obliged to make conditions
with the Viceroy, who caused five or six of the most guilty
leaders to be punished. At the distance of about 100 paces,
in the city, near the sea side, are still to be seen some old
towers of an ancient castle. Another day, I went to see the
great Palace, which is at one of the ends of the town,—it is a
great square pavilion, having, I think, as many windows as
there are days in the year; the top is turreted, and defended
with balustrades: the entry is handsome. You first come into
the outer great court, surrounded with the officer’s lodgings,
having a gallery over it, from whence there is a view of the
sea, and all over the town; then you advance to a draw-bridge,
between the little turrets, which accompany a small pavilion
rising over the gate of the draw-bridge; this leads from the
first to the second court, and faces the grand edifice. Its
staircase is admirable; and its gate or door much more so,
on account of many pieces of sculpture and engraving with
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which it is ornamented. The town has, properly, but two
principal streets: in the largest, there is a market-place ; where
is also a town-hall and parade: a small river runs through the
middle of it, and empties itself at the port.”

The following account of Carrickfergus and Belfast, will,
probably, be interesting to the reader: it is extracted from
William Sachervell's “Voyage to I-Columb-Kill,” in June,
1688 ; and published in London, in 1702. By contrary winds,
the vessel was obliged to take shelter in Larne Lough. The
author then proceeds :

“ It blew very hard for a whole week; during which time,
I took the opportunity of visiting Carrick-Fergus and Bell-Fast ;
two considerable towns in the North of /reland. The first very
ancient, and the capital of the County of Antrim, but of little
trade, and ruinous. The only considerable things in it, are the
Earl of Dunagall's house, a noble building; a monument to
the Lord Chichester, in the Church, with the statues of himself,
lady, brother, and children, with columns, and an inscription,
which are very fine in their kind. He was Lord Lieutenant of
Ireland, in King James the First's time ; and his Lady daughter
to the famous Sir Jokn Perret, who had some years before been
his predecessor. The chancel has been the burying-place of the
O’Neills, kings of Ulster; and was almost filled with banners
of that ancient family. Fergus’s castle is an old building, but
still firm and entire. The tower is lofty, and, at present, a
magazine to this part of /reland. The town is walled round,
and has constantly a garrison in it. At the foot of the castle
is the rock on which Fergus was shipwrecked, after he had so
gloriously restored, if not planted, the Scottish Nation in the
North parts of Britain. 1 found the Earl of Dunagall in town ;
he received me with all the fondness and humanity that could
be expected from a great man. He invited me to Bell-Fast,
whither he was going, with the Earl Orrery, and Lord
Dungannon. Bell-Fast is the second town in /reland, well-built,
full of people, and of great trade. The quantity of butter and
beef which it sends, into foreign parts, is almost increditable.
I have seen the barrels piled up in the very streets. The new
Pottery is a pretty curiosity, set up by Mr. Smith, the present
Sovereign, and his predecessor, Capt. Leathy,* a man of great

* This author relates, that Captain Leathy, of Belfast, was, on one
occasion, ship-wrecked on the Isle of Man, where he lost 13 of the
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ingenuity. The castle, so they call the Earl of Dunagall's
house, is not of the newest model; but the gardens are very
spacious, with great variety of walks, both close and open;
fish-ponds, groves; and the irregularity itself, was, I think,
no small addition to the beauty of the place. I stayed in the
town two nights, and then returned to the Yacht.”

The quay, that had formerly been of wood,! began to be
made of stone about 1627, and cost 1,100, besides much
labour not charged by the inhabitants, for their men and horses,*
Houses also began to be erected in the Irish and Scotch
quarters, which at this time were merely called the East and
West Suburbs. About the same period we find the following
additional names of persons noticed in the records as inhabitants
of this town, most of whom were tenants of this corporation.
From their names, we conjecture the. persons came from
England immediately after those lately mentioned: Horseman,
Walsh, Hall, Roy, Penry, Smyth, Pike, Cathcart, Cunny,
Willoughby, Taylor, Burnes, Redworth, Williams, Edgar, Joy,
Hynes, Mason, Richison, Warton, Orpin, Pendleton, Turner,
Bulworthy, Tennison, Ashworth, Duff, Hinch, Addison, Tracy,
and Butler.

Those commercial privileges which appear to have
contributed so much to the advancement of the town, were
however soon relinquished by the corporation in the following
manner: On the arrival of the Earl of Strafford in this
kingdom, as chief governor, his great object appears to have
been an improvement of the national revenue, by consolidating
all the customs of the realm, whether granted to corporations or

crew; and that he was told by the people, when he came on shore,
that he had lost that number of men, for they had seen so many lights
going towards the Church. Afterwards, there is a long story of the
singular pranks of the Manx fairies, on James II. going to Ireland.
The author had been, for some years, Governor of the Isle of Man.

Y Records of Carrickfergus. In the Records, under the date of
1575, we find the following notice :—‘ Aprile, In this Courte was
Michael Savidg for breaking downe of the Timber of the Peere &
occupying it to his owne use fyned at 20 Sh. Sterg.”

[About 1776 the Earl of Donegall gave the site of this mansion
of Joymount to complete the plot of ground for the County Antrim
Courthouse and Jail, now headquarters of the Antrim Royal Garrison
Militia and ordnance stores. In the Muceum of the Union Hall,
which was burned in 1907, was a pillar out of Joymount, presented
by the late Mr. James Stannus.]

2Gill’'s MSS.
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individuals.! This he deemed the most ample way of relieving
the pressing necessities of the crown; and early in 1637, we
find the earl writing to John Coke, secretary to his Majesty, as
follows :—“ There is also a grant forth of the customs of
Carrickfergus, in Fee Farm to that Corporation, which may be
worth some three hundred pounds a year more, which the
Committee of Revenue here desire may be brought back to the
Crown, I crave his majesty’s direction—we will have it well
worth the money.” The secretary, in his reply, dated September
5th of the same year, says, “ For the Grant of the Customs of
Carrickfergus, his majesty concurreth with the Committee of
Revenue to have it—and requireth you and them to proceed
therein.” 2 The treaty, or sale, for the surrender of the third
part of the customs, appears to have been concluded prior to
the date of this last letter, for 3,000, which was to have been
laid out in the purchase of lands for the use of this corporation ;
but no lands were purchased. The trustees in this transaction
were Arthur Chichester, Arthur Hill, and Arthur Lyndon.* For
this treaty, see Appendix, No. 10. [£1,300 of this money were
lent on interest to John Davy’s, of Carrickfergus; but we have
not learned how the other sum was disposed of. The rebellion
of 1641-2 prevented any settlement or inquiry being made
respecting this money for several years. When John Davy’s
was called to account by this corporation, respecting said money,
he brought them in one shilling in debt.* June 24th, 1659, we
find the resident burgesses and freemen presenting a long list
of grievances to the Assembly, in which they notice this money,
and declare, “that neither stock nor interest had heen paid by
any,” while “eminent men had gayned & purchased to them-
selves vast Estates, and the poore Sort Scarce able to feede or
maintaine their famalies with foode.” * As the records take no
farther notice of this business, it is likely the complaints received
no redress.

On the above surrender of the customs* Carrickfergus

1 Leland’s History of Ireland.

2 Strafford’s Letters.

3 Records of Carrickfergus.

4 Gill’s MSS.

5 Records of Carrickfergus.

[¥In 1616 Sir James Hamilton was granted 41,300 out of the
rent of the customs of Ireland, in consideration of the surrender of
the customs in the ports of Lough Coyne and Bay of Knockfergus.—
Theobalds. Calendar of State Papers (Carew), p. 128.]
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declined in trade, the stones of the quay were suffered to be
carried away by vessels, and some of the merchants who had
been settled here removed to Belfast,! which had now become
the chief place for the receipt of the customs. The following is
a correct return of the amount of the customs of Carrickfergus,
in the annexed years:—

1803 5 10
18053 12.:9
1807 E T
1810 7 10
1812 18 10}
TG, Lol 7 M Y. 4 629 10 4
1810 ettt At As gl s b 409 17 5}
1820rT Suneh: SarvbAtaire 518 11 62

This sum is nearly all raised from the duty on coals. The
annual salaries of the officers of the port (1820) amount to
near £1,000. '

In our records we find the following, respecting the
improvements of this town, signed by the initials of the name
of the then mayor, Richard Dobbs:—* 1671, 1672, mem. that
in the years of My mayorality, the way out of the north street
to the church-yard was first paved; the wall that brings the
water through the church-yard was built at the town charge;
the town pump was set up by Benevolence; The Sword and
Standard in the Church new furbinshed; and money ordered
for re-casting the Bell.”

Before proceeding to the modern state of the town, we
return to give some account of the former religious foundations
of the place; and of the military force of the garrison at
different periods.

In 1232, a monastery of Franciscan, or Grey Friars, was
founded here; but it is rather uncertain who was the founder,
though the merit is commonly ascribed to Hugh De Lacy, Earl
of Ulster.3 1243, The Earl of Ulster, Gerald Fitz-Maurice and

1 Gill’s MSS.

2 Return of Customs, from Surveyor’s Books.

[*In 1667 the customs of the port amounted to £3,065. In
1833 the last officer of the customs was withdrawn, there being no
port duties to collect.]

3Ware'’s Antiquities. Archdall’s Monasticon. Though we are
without any record of religious houses being here before the above time,
yet there must have been such, as ‘‘ W. prior of Cragfergus,” is a
subscribing witness to a charter granted by Sir John De Courcy, to the
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Richard De Burgo, “ended the way of all flesh,” and were
interred in this monastery. 1408, Hugh Mac Adam Mac
Gilmore, an Irish robber, who was never christened, and hence
“was called Cordi,” and who had “caused Forty Churches to
be destroyed,” took refuge in an oratory of this abbey, where
he was slain by some of the family of Savage. Mac Gilmore
had previously murdered “ Patrick Savage, a Gentleman of great
Esteem in Ulster,” and also his brother Richard, although he
had received 2,000 marks for their ransom. It is stated that
Mac Gilmore had before robbed the windows of this oratory of
their iron bars, through which his enemies entered when they
slew him. 1497, Neile McCaine O’Neill reformed this friary
to the order of the “ strict observance.” * 1510, This monastery
was in such repute, that a general chapter of the order was held
in it.1 After the suppression of monastic houses, this building,
with its appurtenances, six acres of land, adjoining, remained
for some years in the possession of the crown, till granted by
Edward VI. in 1552, to Hugh Mac Neill Oge, of Clandeboy.?
In 1592, we find this corporation granting a lease of 1he
abbey and its lands to Christopher Carleisle, governor of this
town, and seneschal of the Clandeboys. A plot of ground
adjacent was also granted to him, same time, for the purpose
of erecting a corn-mill : for the whole he was to pay ten shillings
yearly. This deed expresses, that said abbey (then called the
Palace *), was in the possession of Carleisle, and that some of
its turrets were “fallen, damaged, and ruineated.” Four of
the witnesses make their mark, one of whom is Alexander

abbey of Cannons Regular, Downpatrick, about A.D. 1183.—Archdall’s
Monasticon.

[* The event is thus entered in the Annals of the Four Masters:—
““ The monastry of the Friars in Carrickfergus was obtained for the
Friars Minor de Observantia by Rescript from Rome, at the instance
of Niall, the son of Con,eson of Hugh Boy O’Neill, and sixteen
brothers of the convent of Donegall took possession of it, on the vigil
of the first festival of the B.V. Mary in autumn, having obtained
authority for that purpose.’’] ; [

! Marleburrough’s Chronicle. Archdall’s Monasticon. Cox’s History
of Ireland.

2Ware’s Annals. Archdall’s Monasticon.

[*See article by Wm. Pinkerton in Ulster Journal of Archeology,
Vol. xii.. In it two engravings are given, one is from the Cottonian
collection, about the year 1540, and the other dated 1610.

James I. on the 4th September. John Dalway was appointed constable
of the Abbev, then called the ‘King’s Palace,” with a salary of four
- shillings a day, and he had under him 20 wards, at 8d. a d?y each.
Its last constable was George Woods, who, in that monarch’s reign,
was granted a sum for the loss of that office, which was abolished.]

12
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Haynes, sheriff.’? Soon after this, we find this abbey and its
lands in possession of Sir Edmond Fitzgerald, who assigned
them to Sir Arthur Chichester.? About the same time it was
granted by the crown to Sir Charles Wilmot, Knt.: its lands
are then called four acres, with mills adjoining.® It is, however,
believed to have been still retained by Sir Arthur Chichester, as
he soon after obtained a grant in his own name from James I.*4
Oral tradition states, that when the monks * were obliged to go
hence, they fervently prayed that the place might be ever after
the kabitation of thieves. If such was their prayer, it has of
late years been granted in a very remarkable manner—as on its
site is built the present county of Antrim gaol.*

About half a mile west of the town of Carrickfergus, on
the west bank of the river of Woodburne, is the site of the
priory of Goodborn, or Woodborn. This building was dedicated
to the Holy Cross, and was a daughter of the abbey of Dry-
burgh, in Scotland: and it is also supposed to have been called
Druin la croin.® The monks were Premonstratenses, white

! Records of Carrickfergus.

2 Archdall’s Monasticon.

* Lodge’s Collections.

¢ Grants 19th James I. to Sir Arthur Chichester.

[* During Elizabeth’s reign the religions were expelled, the
government seized on all the sacred properties of the convent, and
five of the friars were cast into prison. Though the Franciscans were
expelled according to law from their ancient monastry, yet they
continued till 1870 to appoint monastic officials to preside over their
‘“ Conventus De Carrickfergus.”—O’Laverty’s Down and Connor.]

[* Removed in 18g6.

# Archdall’s Monasticon. Tradition says it was also called Mary’s
Abbey.

[* The site of the Church of St. Mary is supposed to be not far
from the Scotch Quarter Quay. About ten years ago, when pipes
were being sunk to convey brine to the salt works, the workmen cut
through a graveyard near the land end of that quay, and it has been
stated that high tides expose human bones under the gardens at that
end of the town. In the Calendar of ‘Documents, Ireland, p. 186,
about the year 1224, Reginald, Bishop of Connor, in a letter to the
King, states—‘‘ The House of St. Mary’s of Carrickfergus, endowed
by John De Courcy to the use of the Canons of the Premonstratentian
Order, is by extortion and malice reduced to such poverty that it can
now with difficulty maintain three canons. Andvenus Bruis, clerk,
abusing the kingly dignity, has taken violent possession of the
Church of St. Nicholas of Carrickfergus, and other churches conferred
on the canons by the said John, and confirmed by the Pope, the
Metropolitan and the Bishop; and the canons will be deprived of the
right unless the king takes pity on them. Wherefore the Bishop
implores the King to cause what has been substracted to be restored.
The King’s enemies had despoiled the Abbot of all the moveables of
his house, because he had faithfully adhered to the King in the war,
and placed such stores as he could in the Castle of Carrickfergus.—
Royal Letters No. 799.]
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canons. The founder of this priory is not positively known,
but it is believed to have been some of the Bissets, a family
who fled from Scotland about A.D. 1242, for the murder of
Patrick, Earl of Athol. In the reign of Henry III. Allan de
Galvia, Duncan de Carrig, and the Bissets, were granted lands
here, some of whom were probably the founders. In 1326,
friar Roger Outlaw, prior of Kilmainham, and lord chancellor
of Ireland, granted a lease of certain lands to Longadel Manster,
and dates the grant, “ Apud abbatiam de Woodeborne.” !

By a report made February 1st, 1540, the annual value of
this priory, besides reprises, was ten shillings. March 1st, 1542,
Gilbreath M‘Cowragh, the last abbot, resigned the priory into
the hands of the king’s commissioners, and retired to Island
Magee.? The abbot was then seized of a certain parcel of land
lying about the priory, “containing by estimation fifteen acres,
and the tythes of said parcell of land ; ” ? the rectory of Entroia,
or Antrim, with a cartron of land ¢ adjoining, and the tythes
of sixteen townlands near the same ; also the tythes of the like
number of townlands in the Reuts, belonging to the rectory of
Killaloy, alias Killalog (Killdallog); likewise the rectory of
Cnolille and Carnmoney, in the same county, and the tythes of
two townlands in Island Magee, called Ballyprior magna and
Ballyprior parva,® and the “Capella de Dounemale,” alias
Clundumales, with fifteen acres of land near the same.®

For some years after the dissolution of this priory, it was,
with lands adjoining, held by the crown, on which lands were
grazed the horses belonging to the troops of this garrison. In
1596, we find the corporation requesting the lord deputy, that
said lands might be passed to them by the government; but it
does not appear that their request was complied with.”
November 12, James I., an inquisition was held here in his
Majesty’s castle, by virtue of a commission from the court of
Exchequer, before Sir Roger Langford and Sir Thomas Hibbots,
to inquire into the right of the crown to certain lands. A jury
being sworn, Neal M‘Dormach O'Neill, foreman, they found,

! Archdall’s Monasticon.

2 Archdall’s Monasticon. MSS.

3 Grants of 1g9th James I. to Sir Arthur Chichester.
* A cartron of land contains 60 acres.

* Archdall’s Monasticon.

¢ Terrier of 1604. MSS.

' Records of Carrickfergus.
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that in the 34th Henry VIII., the monks had all “ voluntarily
quitted said abbey,” and they had all since died in Island
Magee.! This priory, with the lands encompassing it, were
soon after granted by James I. to Sir Arthur Chichester:? they
are still free of tythe.® From vestiges that remained within
memory, the priory * appeared to have been extensive, and of a
square form ; some traces of mills, that were attached, are still
to be seen.

In a Terrier, of 1604, preserved in the archives of the
bishoprics of Down and Connor, we find this priory afterwards
giving name to a rural deanery, by the title of the “ Deanry of
Maglennie of Vodburne,” (Woodburn) to which were attached
the following churches and chapels: Ecclesia de Entroia,
Ecclesia de Sthilowden, Ecclesia de Dunegure, Monasterium de
Muckamore, Ecclesia de Ballymartin, Ecclesia de Ballywalter,
Capella Carmigrame, Capella de Ballyrobart, Capella de
Duach, Ecclesia de Ballenalinnie, Ecclesia de Killebride,
Ecclesia de Rasie, Ecclesia de Ballichor, and Ecclesia de
Ballinure. For all of them the dean paid ecclesiastical dues to
the bishop. By a return from the sees of Down and Connor,
presented to his Majesty’s commissioners at Dublin, July 1,
1622, the “ Abbac de Woodburne” is noticed as charged with
42, “procurations upon impropriate,” to the bishop.

Adjoining the east suburb of the town is the site of the
hospital of St. Bridget, an ancient monastic foundation, said
to have been for the reception of lepers.# Some remains of
the chapel attached to this hospital remained within the last
forty years, and persons were interred in it within memory. The

! Records Rolls Office, Dublin.

? Grants of James I. to Sir Arthur Chichester.

* An attempt was made, in 1822, by the rector, to subject these
lands to the payment of tythes, but it failed; Sir Arthur, in his grant
from the crown, having been also granted the tythes, and those of
lands adjoining, included in the same grant.

[*Traces of the foundation are still to be seen, and a few years
ago a number of the carved stones of the buildings were turned up
during agricultural operations. Some of these are at the Mount, the
residence of the late James Smily, and four at the Church of St.
Nicholas. It is stated that the houses in the Irish Quarter were
built with the stones from its ruins.]

4Tradition of Old Inhabitants. Leprosy was formerly common in
this kmgdom owing to the people living so much on flesh, partncularly
swine’s, and their neglecting to deprive it of its crude juices.
Numerous leper houses were erected throughout this kingdom.—
Ledwich’s Antiquities.—Dr. Boate, in his ‘“ Natural History of Ireland,””
says, leprosy arose from the people eating salmon when out of season.
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lands adjoining are still called the Spittal Parks* and were till
this year [1823] free of tythe. There is no record when this
hospital was founded, or by whom. In the 36th of the reign of
Queen Elizabeth, this hospital and the lands attached, were
granted by the crown to Richard Harding, for 3o years. They
were afterwards granted by James I. to Sir Folk Conway, at the
yearly rent of thirteen shillings and four pence. He soon after
assigned them to Sir A. Chichester, who obtained a new grant
from James I. at the annual rent of eight shillings and ten
pence halfpenny farthing.! Some silver coins have been found
here of Edward III.

A little north of the town, on the east of the road leading
to Gleno, is a well, neatly enclosed with cut stone, now called
the Bride-well. Here formerly stood an hospital dedicated to
St. Bride, called the “ Spittal House,” which was granted same
time as St. Bridget's hospital, to Richard Harding, for a like
term of years. In the deed to Harding, it is called “ parcell
antique hereditament,” and chiefly consisted of a small plot
called “ The Fryar's Garden.2 All records or traditions of this
place are silent respecting the hospital, which was grobably
attached to some large religious house; hence the silence
regarding it. The lands in which this well is situated are the
property of the Marquis of Donegall [now Lord Shaftesbury],
and until this year were free of tythe; but a modus had been
till lately paid for them to the rector by the marquis.

On the Commons,* Middle Division, is a place called Craig
na Brathair, i.e. the Rock of the Friar, where are some traces of
small circular buildings, perhaps the vestiges of monastic cells.

About two miles N.W. of the town, same division, are some
ruins of two ancient churches, one of which is called Killyann,
i.e. Anne’s church; the other Carnrawsy. Of the former of
these we can learn nothing whatever. In the Terrer alluded
to, of 1604, we find the latter, called “ Ecclesia de Rasie, hath

[* Spittal Parks and Spittal House seem to have been connected
with the same religious house. They may have derived their name
from having been the property of the Order of St. John of Jerusalem,
who were called Hospitallers.]

1MSS. Grants of James 1. to Sir Arthur Chichester.

2 MSS. of the late Dean Dobbs. Records of- Carrickfergus.

[¥It is said that mass was celebrated here by friars during the
time of persecution.] g

* 1827, in October, the ruins of the ancient church .of Carnrasey
wer> taken down by J. Robinson, nephew of the late Wm. Burleigh,
Burleigh Hill.]
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some Orchards,” and then held by a Mr. Opinshrall (believed
to be Opinshaw). It is there stated to be part of the rural
deanery of Magheramorne, and paying in ecclesiastical dues to
the bishop, proxies zo0s., refections z20s., and synodals 2s. Some
silver coins were found near it a few years ago, of Henry V.
and VII.; those of the former were coined at Calais. The
only part of the ruin now deserving of 'notice, is its West
end, consisting of two parallel walls, seventeen inches asunder,
which probably once served to support a kind of steeple; such
walls being sometimes attached, for that purpose, to chapels
reared in the 12th century.!

At the Stony-glen, Knockogh, were w1thm memory some
ruins of a religious cell, called “the Priest’'s House: ” a large
gold ring was found at it a few years ago, on the inside of
which is a cross, with the inscription, “ I love God.”

From Carrickfergus becoming early the chief fortress of
the English in Ulster, the military force kept up was usually
considerable. The following lists of corps and commanders are
given by Fynes Moryson, in the annexed years—Sir Arthur
Chichester commanding : —

1599 Horse commanded by Neal M‘Hugh 30
Foot . Sir Arthur Chichester 200
-— : . Sir Richard Peircy 100
—— % . Captain Eington 100
Se— . . . Captain Norton 100

1601 Horse . . Sir Arthur Chichester 25

3 . Captain John Jephson 100
Foot : . Sir Arthur Chichester 200
—_— ‘ . Sir Fulke Conway 150
Foot ! . Captain Egerton 100
= : . Captain Norton 100
—— 3 . Captain Billings 100

y . Captain Phillips 100

1603 Horse - . . Sir Arthur Chichester 35
Foot ] . Ditto 200
—_ 3 . Sir Francis Conway 150

—_— : . Captain Roger Langford 100
_— y . Captain Thomas Billings 100
— : . Captain Henry Sackford 100

! Anthologia Hibernica.



167

In 1740, the garrison consisted of five companies of foot,
and two troops of horse.! The barracks for the horse were at
the west end of the Irish quarter, the foot were quartered in
the castle.

The town of Carrickfergus, at present, has a much better
appearance than at any former period, and extends along the
northern shore of that bay to which it gives name, nearly a mile.
Within the walls the streets are generally narrow, and are
called by the following names: High-street, Castle-street,
West-street, North-street, Cheston’s-street, or Butcher-row,?
Essex-street, Lancaster-street, Antrim-street, alias Gaol-lane,®
Church-lane, Back-lane,* Governor's-place, and Joymount-court.

The houses are built either of stone or brick, mostly of the
former, and commonly slated; many of the best houses have
been built within the last thirty years. A few still present an
antique appearance: the greater part of these are built in
frames of oak, in that manner formerly called “ Cadge-work ;”
some of them had originally windows that projected several
feet into the adjoining street.

That part of the town lying without the walls is called
the Irish and-Scotch quarters. The latter is on the east of the
town, and its streets and rows are distinguished by the following
names :— Joymount-bank, Scotch-quarter, and the Green, alias
Green-street.

This quarter takes its name from a colony of fishers who
arrived from Argyle and Gallowayshire, chiefly during the
persecution in Scotland, about 1665 ;4 their descendants still
retain their original calling. It is believed that the Irish quarter
had its origin soon after. In November, 1678, we find the Duke
of Ormond, then lord lieutenant of Ireland, and council, by
their proclamation, ordering all Roman Catholics to remove

1 Gill's MSS. ’

3 Butcher-row was the common name till lately, when its ancient
name was resumed. It appears to have been taken from the butchers
of the town, about 1670, all living in this street. Lancaster-street takes
its name from a Lancasterian school being opened in it a few years
ago : it was previously called ‘‘ the houses at the back of the church.’

3 Was called Gaol-lane till about two years ago. It was also
sometimes called Dawson-street, from a person of that name, .about
1800, having built a cotton factory in it. On its east side is the
county of Antrim gaol.

g* Now called Lower Lancasterian Street.]

Tradition of Old Inhabitants.
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without the walls of forts, cities, and corporate towns;1 a few
years after which we find the name Irish quarter noticed in our
records, instead of that of West Suburb. The streets of this
quarter are called Irish quarter south and west; their west ends
are joined by a street called Brewery-lane, or Davy’s-street. A
few houses a short distance from those places are dignified with
the names of Pound-lane, Tea-lane (and Sailors-row).

In 1740, the town, within the walls, contained only 130
dwelling-houses, and the quarters the like number; % and in
1797, the total number of dwelling-houses within the town and
suburbs was 452. By a return made to the government in 1800,
there were 477 dwelling-houses in the town and quarters, 38
inhabitants of which paid hearth and window tax.® May, 1811,
an account was taken of the number of houses as aforesaid,
when there were 503 houses actually inhabited, 18 of which
were licensed for the sale of spirits, and 13 for groceries. May,
1813, an account was taken by order of government, of the
number of houses, inhabitants, and the like, in the town and
suburbs ; they were found to be as follows:—

> 3 ¢ ‘ 2w
b & .33 3l..5 }s.,, ¢ s |85 g
s ol .8 |sala SLE s 58 |0 % |2els2
and 381 = [£418 QEEEYSE| (S| 5| £ |65/83
EHE B I A
Suburbs  |EX| = DT[E <l T <) Z [ | B | & RSO

| l

Town oo | 213] 249, 18 | o] 30 118 | 101| 510, 673/1183| 305/ 759! 119
Irish quarter | 173! 189! 13| 4] 29 132 | 28| 300| 447] 837| 268| 524| 43

Scotch quarter| 131 141= 2| 3 7 120 | 14f 285| 345! 630| 84 516’ 30
Total 5170579/ 33 | 70 66 | 370 | raslrasslis6slassol 65711700 104
In the families of fishers, the males exceeded the females.
The military quartered within the castle, with their wives and
children, were not included in this return. In the county of
Antrim court-house and gaol were also 89 persons not included;
77 of these were prisoners—total males and females in court-
house and gaol, 71 males, 18 females. Neither castle, gaol,
nor court-house, were reckoned as dwelling houses.
In the summer of 1821, a census of the town and suburbs
was again taken by order of the government: the following
were the numbers at that period:—

1Cox’s History of Ireland.
2 Gill’s MSS.
3 Newenham'’s View of Ireland.
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The military quartered in the town and castle, with their
wives and children, and the persons in the county of Antrim
gaol and court-house, are included; they amounted to 346
persons. Neither gaol, court-house, castle, nor a house occupied
in the town as a barrack, were ranked as dwelling-houses.

In forty-eight families of fishers were found 110 males and
105 females—in all other parts of the town or suburbs, the
females exceeded the males.

At the east end of High-street is the county of Antrim
court-house, a neat edifice, the front of which is of cut stone,
with balustrades.* This building was founded March 1, 1779.
Adjoining,.on the north, is the prison belonging to the same
county, which began to be built the preceding year. Those
buildings cost £5,785 6 4: Richard Drew, architect. In 1792,
a wing was added to the south of this prison. November 21,
1815, the first stone of a west wing was laid to this gaol, and
soon after two wings were added to the rear of the original
building. The different yards attached were also much enlarged,
and in them were built a chapel, infirmary, retiring room for
the judges, bath, gaoler’s lodge, guard-room, and execution
room.! These additions were finished November 1, 1819, and
cost near £16,000: Alexander Wilson, architect. This prison
is now capable of containing, properly, 340 prisoners. In
sinking the foundation of the Jail, in 1776, a bell and several
gold rings were dug up, and many human bones. Two large
oak coffins were discovered resting on massive beams of the
same wood. Their appearance was such as to induce a belief,
that they contained the remains of some eminent persons—
perhaps, those of De Lacy, Fitzmaurice, or De Burgo, already
noticed as being interred here. In 1805, a cross composed of
bright metal was dug up in a garden adjoining the Jail. On
its centre was a round space with the remains of two pins,
probably, for fastening to it some stone or relique. The
carvings on it were plain and neat, and exhibited a considerable
skill in workmanship. 1815, in clearing off the earth when

[* Now plastered over and balustrades removed.]

1 October 27, 1815, an inquisition was held here, by a jury of the
county of Antrim, to ascertain the amount of the damages that the
following persons would receive by their grounds being taken for part
of the said improvements. This jury awarded as follows :—

Marquis of Donegall £160 o o Henry C. Ellis 420 o o

Andrew M‘Nevin 70 o 8 William & A. Cunningham 60 o o

Rev. Richard Dobbs 60 o o William Cunningham, jun. 25 o o
T
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about to lay the foundation of the South-east wing of this
prison, several large oak coffins were discovered of a square
form, many human bones, and a large stone cross neatly
carved. A few years ago, a large gold ring was found by Mr.
Adam Cunningham, in a garden adjoining, on the outside of
which was engraved, “ Amat dici Pater atque Princeps;” i.e.
“ He loves to be called Father and Prince.” For some curious
information respecting the number of prisoners, and expenses
of this gaol in different years, see Appendix, No. XI.*

On the south-west of the same street are the court-house
and gaol of the county of the town of Carrickfergus, built
about 1613-! In 1727, a part of its eastern end was taken
down and rebuilt by Hugh Darnley and John Gibson.? The
entire building is at present in a ruinous state, and the criminals
have of late been kept in the prison of the county of Antrim3
March, 1817, baron M‘Clelland, one of the judges of assize,
refused to hold the assizes for Carrickfergus in the court-house,
it being in such a shattered condition; since which t'me the
assizes have been held in the civil bill court of the county of
Antrim court-house.

Prior to 1776, this prison and court-house belonged to the
county of Antrim; but in this year the grand jury of that
county ceded it to those of Carrickfergus, who in return gave
Castle Worraigh, their court-house and gaol¢ with the ground

ce also additional Notes. ]
opulation area and number of houses from 1841 till 1901. 1841,
0,379; 1851, 8,520; 1861, 9,422; 1871, 9,397; 1881, 10,009;

1891, 8,923. By the Irish Local Government Act in 1898, the County
of the Town was abolished and merged into County Antrim, and the
population of the town, owing to its limited boundary, was, in 1901,
4,208. Area, 26,097 square miles, or 16,700 acres, of which 12,483
are arable, 3,998 uncultivated, and 129 in the town. Lough Mourne go
acres is 556 feet above high sea level. Number of houses in 1871,
1,738 ; 1881, 1,828; 1891, 2,009; 1901, 2,409.]

11n the charter granted by James I. to Carrickfergus, the 1oth
of his reign, ground for a gaol, about to be built for the county of
Antrim, is excepted from the jurisdiction of the corporation of Carrick-
fergus.

2Gill’s MSS.

3 Debtors are still kept in it, and there is a gaoler who has £1o
per annum, an inspector 435, and an apothecary who is paid for his
attendance. J

41In 1699, Charles Davy’s was granted fifteen acres of lz_md by this
corporation, free of rent, to keep Castle Worraigh in_repair. On its
being about to be taken down, E. D. Wilson laid claim to its timber
and other materials; but the corporation, at a meeting held April 3,
1773, declared, that said castle or gaol belonged to .thgm.‘ They,
however, ordered, that Mr. Wilson, on relinquishing his claim, and
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adjoining, to the County of Antrim. They also bought in their
tenements for a similar purpose, viz. the house of captain
Hercules Ellis, at 250, the house of the heirs of the Rev.
Philip Gayer, at £s50, and a tenement claimed by the Misses
Craig, at ten guineas; by which transfers they also lost an
annual rent arising out of said tenements, of 3s. 4d.* At the
same time the earl of Donegall, with his wonted liberality, gave
the site of his ruined mansion of Joymount, to complete the
plot of ground for their intended court-house and gaol; since
which time, these grounds have been considered as part of the
county of Antrim—and the former court-house and prison of
that county, in that of Carrickfergus.?

paying £60, to assist to ‘ build or rebuild a new Gaol and Court-
house,’’ should have a deed for ever of the lands he then held, for
keeping this building in repair, which he accepted. These are the
lands on the left of the road leading to Belfast, called Ballynascreen.—
Records of Carrickfergus.

* Records of Carrickfergus.

2 Previous to these arrangements, an attempt had been made to
get the courts of assizes removed to Antrim—we shall therefore briefly
notice it, and several like trials at different times. July, 1613, the
judges of assize, without any leave or instructions from the government
to that effect, resolved to hold the courts of assize at the town of
Antrim. The corporation presenting a memorial on this subject to
Sir Arthur Chichester, then lord deputy, he strictly commanded the
judges, then at Downpatrick, to hold the assizes at the usual place,
which was accordingly done.

1707, Sir Robert Adair, of Ballymena, petitioned her majesty queen
Anne, to remove the county of Antrim assizes, sessions, and diocesan
school, to Ballymena. Her majesty referred his petition to the chief
governor of this kingdom, who referred it to the judges of assize; upon
which a suit commenced between the parties. Henry Davy’s, mayor,
took defence for the corporation, and Sir Robert was defeated. The
expense of this suit cost the corporation £159 13 8}: the mayor
charged £160 for his trouble, but the corporation refused to pay him.

1712, Sir Robert again made a similar attempt, and again lost his
suit: the expense to the corporation was £19 16.

April, 1753, a few of the nobility and gentry of the county of
Antrim petitioned the lords justices, that the courts of assize might be
removed to Antrim, as the gaol and court-house at Carrickfergus were
too confined, and out of repair. May 19th, this corporation also
presented a memorial to the lords justices, in which they asserted, that
the cause of complaint originated with the grand jury of the county of
Antrim, they having granted no money towards the repairs of either
court-house or gaol for many years past. That if the county of Antrim
really wished to enlarge said buildings, the corporation were willing to
give them sufficient ground for that purpose. They also said in their
memorial, that the assizes for the county of Antrim had been held
here, *“ since circuits were first appointed in this kingdom.” We learn
no more of this business.
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The market-house * stands near the centre of the town, and
is a decent building, two stories high, with three arches in
front. Above the middle arch are the arms of the corporation—
three castles embattled, with three ravens in the field; the
device, an eagle expanded. This building was founded July 22,
1755, and was built by subscription. Charles Davy'’s granted
the ground to the corporation for ever, at the yearly rent of
five shillings; to its erection the earl of Donegall gave fzs,

September 6, 1771, the earl of Antrim, and his son, lord Dunluce,
then sheriff of the county of Antrim, the grand jury of said county, and
some freeholders, petitioned the lord lieutenant to remove the courts of
assize to Antrim, as a new prison and court-house were about to be
built. The lord lieutenant declined to interfere, on which this business
was left to the lord chancellor and judges, who also declined to interfere,
and the design was abandoned.

February 26, 1774, lord Dunluce, John O’Neill, and W. I
Skeffington, in the absence of the members for Carrickfergus, obtained
leave to bring in a bill into the House of Commons, to remove the
assizes to Antrim. Petitions against their removal were soon after
presented from the towns of Belfast, Larne, and Carrickfergus, being
examined at the bar of the House of Commons, and the charter of
queen Elizabeth and James I. being produced, the bill was discharged.
Messrs. Yelverton and Isaac were the lawyers for this corporation.
This suit cost 436 17 10}; 410 of which was paid to Darniel Kirk, for
his expenses in taking the charters to Dublin. At the assizes, the same
year, 12 of the county of Antrim grand jury signed a memorial, that
the assizes might be removed to Antrim, and 11 that they might
remain; but the corporation were so much on the alert, that the
design was abandoned. Messrs. Dobbs and Burleigh were law agents
for the corporation on this occasion, and were each presented with a
gratuity for their services, and the freedom of the corporation. The
following are the names of the jurors who signed for the assizes to
remain :—C. R. Dobbs, Ed. Crymble, Ed. Brice, George Porter,
Stewart Banks, James Wallace, William Higgison, Nicholas Stewart,
Hugh Mac Collum, Henry L. Burleigh, and Shem Thompson.

March 13, 1813, twenty-three persons of Belfast petitioned the
judges of assize and grand jury of the county of Antrim, that the
assizes might be removed to Belfast; but the grand jury of the county
of Antrim opposed the design, and it fell to the ground. This corpora-
tion had previously held a meeting, on the 3d of March, and appointed
a committee, with power to draw money from their treasurer, to oppose
the removal.—Records of Carrickfergus. Journals of the Irish House
of Commons. Belfast News-Letter.

[* This building is now the Town Hall and Petty Sessions Court-
house. The arms of the corporation are removed and the arches built
up. The ground floor is used as a Petty Sessions Court-house, above
is the Town Hall and office of the Town Clerk, in it is kept the
old records, the freeman’s roll, and the seals of the corporation.
Hanging in a frame in the Town Hall is the old sword and mace
presented to the old corporation by Colonel 'Robert Gardner. 183.7,
April 15th, a new market-house, erected (_)ﬂ' I\oyth Street, on the site
of an old distillery, was opened for public business.]
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and the late E. D. Wilson, the like sum.! Markets [were] are
held in it each Saturday.

On a rising ground, near the centre of the town, stands
the parish CHURcH, said to have been founded on the site of
a pagan temple.? It is dedicated to St. Nicholas, and appears
to have been anciently attached to the Franciscan monastery
already noticed, to which it probably served as an oratory, or
chapel. A subterraneous passage,* by which they communicated,
is still to be seen: the entrance into the church was beneath the
communion table.

The form of the building is that of a cross, consisting of
a chancel, nave, and two aisles; the extreme length,* inside, is
132 feet, but unequal in width, being 25 feet at the west end,
and only 21 feet at the chancel. North, or Donegall aisle, is
30 feet in length, and 23 in breadth; and Freeman’s, or Wills’s
aisle, 32 feet in length, by 18 in breadth. On the outside, the
walls are strengthened by buttresses; the corner stones are
mostly of a cut yellowish stone, very different from any found

* Gill’'s MSS. Records of Carrickfergus. There was no market-
house here prior to the above time; but a little east of the present
building was a small house, called the Weigh-house.

2 Gill's MSS.

[*In all the changes and repairs of the church this passage has
been searched for and never found. The entrance to this was supposed
to be beneath the communion table. On the passage being opened it
was found that the archway which was looked upon for generations
as the means of communication with the Franciscan Priory was only
a tomb or sepulchre, where some nobles of the city had been interred.
This idea was further strengthened by the discovery in the recess of
two sculls (male and female) which had lain there for centuries.
That their end had not been peaceful may be gathered from the fact
that one of the sculls had been cleaved open. This entirely upsets
the old theory. The investigations have been carried out so
systematically and carefully that there cannot be any possible doubt
but that the deductions are correct, that there is no underground
passage.]

[* The measurements of the inside of the church are not correct.
Dr. Brereton has very kindly taken them : extreme length of church,
from inner step of west door of the tower to the east gable, 141 feet
1 inch; length of church, 126 feet; length of floor of tower, 15 feet
1 inch; breadth of nave at east end, 21 feet 2 inches; breadth of
nave at west end, 25 feet 7 inches; length of north transept (Donegall
aisle), 32 feet 10 inches; breadth of north transept, 21 feet 5 inches;
length of south transept (Will’s aisle), 23 feet 5 inches; breadth of
south transept, 20 feet 5 inches. It will be seen from the above that
the ground plan is very crooked. The church was originally much
larger, having double aisles on each side of the nave, and possibly
what is now the choir forming a Lady chapel in the rear; it was
repaired and changed to its present cruciform shape by Thomas Cooper
about 1614.]
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here. The two buttresses, at the south-east corner, are, at
each angle, ornamented with little pillars rounded in front, from
the quoin stones. They appear to have been formerly sur-
mounted by some object, perhaps a cross, or image of the patron
saint.

There are two entrances, one on the west, another on the
north. The latter is near the chancel, to which part of a vestry-
room, built by the late Dean Dobbs, in 1787, serves as a porch.
This entrance is by a small door with a pointed arch, re-opened
on the vestry * being completed. On its west side is also a like
door-way built up. The west door is strictly of modern date,
being made when the present steeple was completed. Formerly
the only entrances were on the south, by two small doors, which
were built up on those above being opened. The door east of
Freeman’s aisle had a pointed arch; the other, near the west
end, was entered by a small porch, and had a semi<ircular
door-way.

* The chancel window* is pointed, and of stained glass, which
represents John the Baptist baptising Christ in the river Jordan.
Two small round windows in the west end are also of stained
glass. These windows did not originally belong to this church,
but were brought from the private chapel of Dangan-house,
county of Meath, and were presented to this parish, about 1800,
by the late George Burleigh, of Burleigh-hill, Esq. The former
window was also of the pointed kind, and larger than the
present one; it was divided by two mullions, that ramified into
six trefoil-headed lights.

The windows of the nave are also of the pointed kind, and
divided by mullions which ramify near the top into trefoil-
headed lights. There are five of those windows on the south
side, and three on the north; but one on each side, at the west
end, is in a mutilated state, and now nearly square.

The windows of the aisles are of a square form, divided
by mullions: the north aisle had four windows, the south three
the south window of the latter is divided by four mullions, all
the others by two. On the west side of Freeman’s aisle is seen
the outside frame of a very large window, built up; the frame
is of cut stone, with a pointed arch.

[* Under this vestry is the vault of the Dobbs family, the entrance
to which is in the floor of porch, but is now covered in by the tiling.]
[* This window is now in the south transept.]
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At the west end of this building was formerly a steeple,
with a clock and bell; the clock was first set up in 1678.*
The bell was given to the parish by Andrew Willoughby: on
it is engraved, “ Androv Willovby mayor h p 84.” In 1778,
the old steeple was taken down, and the present steeple and
octagon spire erected ; the former by a Mr. Brown, who received
4277 10; the latter by a Mr. Newbold, who was paid
£264 9 7. A new clock was also set up at the same time,
and the bells of the former steeple. The following sums were
subscribed towards the erection of the steeple and the spire;
the remainder was defrayed by the parish. Earl of Donegall,
4130 o o; Barry Yelverton, Esq., £100; E. D. Wilson, Esq.,
£37 1 4, also a quantity of oak timber; Conway R. Dobbs,
Esq., £12; Mariott Dalway, Esq., £1x 7 6; Rev. Richard
Dobbs, dean of Connor, f£10; Rev. Isaac Haddock, curate,
45 5 ok; Richard Fletcher, Esq., 100 barrels of lime.?

Concerning the founding of this church there is neither
record nor tradition; but, from its pointed door-ways and
windows, it seems certain that it could not have been built till
the twelfth century. The following fact is corroborative of this
opinion. On digging a grave under the chancel table in 1740,
a cut freestone was discovered, on which was a cross, and on
one of its angles, anno 1164.> This date is supposed to relate
to the period of the foundation of the church; and it appears
to have been connected with the monastery of St. Francis, which
strengthens the probability of a religious house being here prior
to the arrival of the English, or any record of the like being
founded in this place. The aisles are alleged to have been
built at a later period than the body, though doubtless of
considerable antiquity. Both are laid down in the ancient plan
annexed to this work—further particulars are given in describing
the inside of each aisle.

Of late years a considerable sum has been expended in the
repairs of the building, so that its interior is now more neat and
uniform than at any period within memory. It contains 62
pews,* besides 15 in a gallery in the west end. On the south

! Records of Carrickfergus.

? Parish Register.

3 Gill’s MSS.—If must however be observed, that although this
stone now bears the above date in plain figures, Mr. Gill says the
date was 164.

[*There are now 83 pews and ten in the gallery.]
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wall, near the chancel, is a mural monument to the memory of
the late Dean Dobbs, with the following inscription, truly
descriptive of his character: —

SACRED
To THE MEMORY OF
Tue Rev.p RicHarp DogBss, A.M.
Dean or ConNOR; 3
WHOSE LIFE WAS DEVOTED TO A FAITHFUL
& ZEALOUS DISCHARGE OF PASTORAL DUTIES,
THRO' A PERIOD QF NEAR FORTY YEARS.
PossEsSED OF A TEMPER CALM AND DELIBERATE
His CALMNESS WAS THE RESULT OF FIRMNESS
OF MIND; AND HIS DELIBERATION WIS-
-poM. His PIETY WAS UNAFFECTED AND SINCERE
THE AFFECTIONS OF HIS HEART STRONG AND
PERMANENT
HE wWAS CALLED )
To RECEIVE THE EVERLASTING REWARD
OF HIS PIOUS & CHARITABLE LABOURS
ON THE 1V,TH DAY OF FEBry. M.DCCCII
In THE LXI, YEAR OF HIS AGE
Murris 1LLE Bonis FremirLis Occipit.

Beneath the floor, in the same place, is interred Rose,
marchioness of Antrim, second wife of Randal Mac Daonnell,
marquis of Antrim, and only daughter and heiress of Sir Henry
O'Neill, of Edenduffcarrick, alias Shanescastle, by his wife
Martha, daughter of Sir Francis Stafford.! The marchioness
was interred, agreeably to her own request, close by the grave
of her grandfather, Sir Francis Stafford.? On her lead coffin
are quartered the arms of the noble families of O’'Neill and
Mac Donnell, with the following inscription:—

THE M0oSsT HONOURABLE THE LADY
MARCHIONESS OF ANTRIM RELICT OF THE
Most HoNoURABLE RanpaLL Mc
DonNELL MArRQUIS & EARL OF ANT-
RIM VIiscoUNT DUNLUCE AND SOLE

! Tradition of Old Inhabitants. Lodge's Peerage. r
2 Tradition of OId Inhabitants.—Her grave was formerly dis-
tinguished by a red marble flag on the floor.
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DAUGHTER AND HEIR OF SIR HEnry O
NEILL OF EDENDUFFCARRICK IN THE
COUNTY OF ANTRIM, WHO DEPARTED

THIS LIFE AT EDENDUFFCARRICK AFORESAID
ON THE 27,th DAY OF APRIL ANNO

DowMmint 1693, IN THE 64 YEAR OF HER AGE.!

The chancel was formerly hung with armorial bearings of the
noble families to whom she was related: but on the 1z2th of
January, 1754, the roof fell in, and destroyed the whole.?

On a slab* on the floor is the following inscription in
Roman capitals :—
HERE LYETH THE BODY
oF Epmonp DAvYs ALDERMAN
TWICE MAYOR OF CARRICKFERG-
-US WHO DEPARTED THIS
LIFE THE 6,th pAY OF JULY
ANNO DOM 1696 IN
THE 73 YEAR OF
HIS AGE.
HERE ALSO LYETH MARY,
HIS WIFE KATHERINE, ANN,
MarTHA, EDMOND, EZEKIEL,
AND NATHANIEL, SONS AND
DAUGHTERS OF Y, SAID
EpMoND AND MARy,
BEING DESCENDED OF A BRANCH
OF THE ANCIENT FAMILY OF GUSTANNA
NortH WALES.

Near this stonet is a flag with the name of James Dobbin
engraven on it, who died 1757, aged 75 years; with tke other
names of that family. On the right, on entering the church,
near the above inscription, is the grave of that great benefactor
of the poor, Henry Gill. who died September 16, 1761; and
strange to tell, neither monument nor inscription mark where

IJuly 35, 16935, Henry Leslie, archdeacon of Down, preached her
funeral sermon in this church.—Sermon by H. Leslie.

2 Gill’s MSS.

[* This slab is now beside the Chichester Monument.]

[+ This stone, with others, was removed when the church was
refloored in 1872, and cannot be found.]
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rest his remains ! At a little distance, against the north wall, is
a slab of black marble, with this inscription:—

HERE LIETH THE Bobpy OF

ROBERT OPENSHAWE MINISTER,
DEeAN oF THE CATHEDRAL CHURCH
OF S.t Saviours oF CONNER

IN THE COUNTY OF ANTRIM, TO

THE TowNE OF CRAGFERGUS PASTOR,
AND CHAPLAYNE TO THE RIGHT
Hox,ble Lorp CHICHESTER BArRON OF
BELFASTE & Lorp HiGH TREASURER
OF IRELAND—DIED———1627.

Nearly opposite, against the south wall, is a marble tablet,
with a clumsy figure of Hope leaning against an urn, beneath
which are inscribed the following lines:—-

THis MONUMENT 1S ERECTED
By A FEw OF THE FRIENDS OF
SAMUEIL DAVYS STEUART
OF CARRICKFERGUS M. D.
WhHo

FROM A LONG AND INTIMATE' KNOWLEDGE
OF HIS WORTH, OFFER IT AS A FAITHFUL
TRIBUTE TO HIS SACRED MEMORY.
IT 1S CONSECRATED BY THE TEARS OF THE
POOR AND THE PRISONER, TO HEAL WHOSE
BODILY DISEASES, AND TO IMPROVE
WHOSE MORAL CONDITION, HIS EMINENT
PROFESSIONAL TALENTS, HIS ENLIGHTENED
UNDERSTANDING., AND THE FEELINGS OF
HIS BENEVOLENT HEART, WERE APPLIED.

Diep NOVEMBER 4.th 1817.

AGED 36 YEARS.

A little west, against the same wall, nearly over a former
door-way, is a stone ¥ with this inscription:—

[* This stone has the arms of Couper and Ratcliffe impaled. The
coats of arms in the church are seven in number, besides the arms
carved on the Chichester monument. Over the north door are the arms
of Carrickfergus. On the south wall of the choir are the arms of
Couper and Ratcliffe impaled. In the Donegal aisle are the arms of
Chichester in two places. In the Will’s aisle are those of Gardner
and Legg. Over the gallery door are the Royal Arms of James 1.
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HERE LIETH THE Boby or THoOMAs
CouPER ALDERMAN AND Twis
MAIRE OF CARICKFERGUS DESESED
THE 20,th OoF AUG,t 1625—

On a large slab *on the floor, near the pulpit, is inscribed
in Roman capitals—-

HERE LYETH

THE BODY OF HENRY
CLEMENTS OF STRADE

EsQ. AGED 52 YEARS

WHO DEPARTED THIS LIFE
THE 2,d DAY OF NOVEMBER
1696 BEING THEN

Mayor orF CARRICKFERGUS.

West of the above on the floor, is a large flag T with an
inscription to the memory of Mary Williamson, and others of
her family : the date is 1674.

In the south wall, near the west end, is a stone with this
inscription : —

HERE LYETH Y,e BODY
oF RicHArRD LaNG
WHO DEPARTED THIS
LIFE Y.e 20.th oF May
1620. HERE ALSO LYE-
-TH Y, BODY OF JAMES
LANG WHO DEPART-
ED v.e 7.th oF OCTOBR
ANNO 1687.
HERE ALsO LYETH LETTICIA HIS
WIFE WHO WAS INTERRED Ye 4.th
OF JUNE 1705. A DAUGHTER OF
JouN BULWORTHY ALDERMAN
AND TWICE MAYOR OF
CARRICKFERGUS.

All these arms were repainted in their proper colours in the vear 1893.
and at the same time the swords and helmet of the Chichester
monument were cleaned and varnished. The epitaphs on the above
monument were originally in painted letters, which had begun to fade.
They were engraved by the late Countess of Shaftesbury at the request
of the late rector, the Rev. George Chamberlain.}

[* This slab cannot be found.]

{t Removed and cannot be found.]
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Nearly opposite, against the wall, is a stone bearing the
following : —

THIS FONT, A SILVER

FLAGON, THE TABLES

OF THE COMMANDMENTS

L.orRD’S PRAYER, &

CREED, WERE GIVEN

10 THIS CHURCH BY

SamMuerL Davys
ALDERMAN

AnNo DoM. 1714.

The font alluded to has been long since removed.

The south aisle is called Wills’s or Freeman’s aisle; the
former name from an ancient family of this place, now extinct ;
the latter from seats being formerly in it for the freemen, who,
it appears, were obliged to attend the mayor to church every
Sunday, the aldermen, or their deputies, keeping a list of all
defaulters,’ who were perhaps made to pay a small fine.

On the right of the entrance into the aisle are the seats of
the mayor, aldermen, and burgesses. Over the mayor’s seat, at
the top of a pillar that supports two circular arches, above the
passage, is the following inscription *:—

THIS WORKE BEGAN A. D. 1614, Mr. COOPER THEN
MAIOR, AND WROUGHT BY THOMAS PAPs
FREE MAsoN, Mr. OPENSHAWE
BEING PARSON, VIVAT REX
Jacosus.

Against the east wall is a mural monument of white marble,
to the memory of Andrew Gardner, and others of his family.
On the vertex is his crest, and beneath, the arms, with the
inscription as on page 184.

! Records of Carrickfergus.
[* The tablet with this inscription is now at west end of the
south wall of nave.]

“ Robert Gardner was younger brother of John, and grandson cf
John Bullworthy, who was mayor of Carrickfergus in 1634. He was
an agent in London, by which he acquired a very great fortune, but
was unfortunate in the South Sea (buble), loosing then the most of all
he had, so that he died in but low circumstanees, and his affairs very
much incumbred ; however he was a man of great hospitalit_v..doi.ng
many offices of sincere friendship, to all those that made application
to him.”’—Gill’s MSS. k

[Robert and John Gardner were sons of Andrew, who was married to a
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On a stone® in the passage opposite, is inscribed as
follows :
HERE LYETH THE BODY
Or ANDREwW GARDNER BURGESS
WHO DEPARTED THIS LIFE Y.e
4th or FEBRUARY 168:2.

ALLSO HERE LYETH Y.e

BODY OF JOAN HIS WIFE WHO

WAS BURIED Y,e 18,th oF MARrcH

1694.
On a slab * adjoining—

HERE LYETH THE BODY

OF MARGRET CATHERWOOD AND
AGNES DAUGHTER TO

ANDREW GARDNER.

MARGRET O'BRIEN DEPARTED
THis LIFE THE 28, JAN. 17289
~ AGED 50 YEARS.

Against the west wall is a tablet,t with the following:—
HERE LYETH v,e
Bopy or ELiz-

BETH HiLL wHO
DEPARTED THIS
LiFe v.e gth oF DEcs.
1726, AGED 350
YEARS.
HERE ALSO LYETH
Y.e Bopy oF ANN
HER DAUGHTER
WHO DEPARTED
Y,e 10,th oF NOVB. 1720
AGED 22 VYEARS.

sister of William Catherwood. Ballyvester, Donaghadee (1630). His son was
styled ‘‘laird Catherwood of Ballyvestor.” Ry this marriage the Gardner
lands of Knockagh came into the possession of the Catherwood family. ]

[* These two tablets or stones are now on either side of the
Chichester monument.]

[+This tablet cannot be found.]
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The following additional tablets have been placed in the
church, also stained glass windows.

In Wills's or Freeman's aisle are four additional tablets,
on the right
IN MEMORY OF
Davip Lkcg,
Soricitor anp Town CLERK
OF
CARRICKFERGUS,
WHO DIED 20TH MARCH, 1854,
AGED §1 YEARS.
A FEW ATTACHED FRIENDS
ERECTED THIS TABLET
AS A MARK OF THEIR ESTEEM.
Another on the same side

To THE MEMORY OF
STAFF SURGEON
Joun MiLLARr,
WHO DIED AT GLASGOW,
May 3RrD, 1850,
AGED 35 YEARS.
IN AFFECTIONATE REMEMBRANCE
THE OFFICERS WHO SERVED WITH HIM
IN THE 43RD LIGHT INFANTRY,
OF WHICH REGT. HE WAS SURGEON
FOR 18 YEARS,
HAVE ERECTED THIS MONUMENT.
His REMAINS REST IN
LicatuIiLL CEMETERY, AT GLASGOW.
Facing is a large memorial window
To THE GLORY OF GOD AND TO THE
DEAR MEMORY OF WILLIAM ROBERT
BurLEIGH., WHO DIED APRIL 12TH. A.D., 1872.
This window, a design in many colours, was erected by
his widow.
To the left
SACRED
TO THE MEMORY OF
RoBert HaNLY,
WHO LIVED ESTEEMED AND DIED REGRETTED.
May 1t, 1831.
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THIS MONUMENT WAS ERECTED BY
Lorp GEorRGE A. HiLL.
REPRESENTATIVE FOR CARRICKFERGUS, AS A MEMORIAL OF
HIS RESPECT AND REGARD.

IN LOVING MEMORY OF
SURGEON Major
Davip REpMonD TAGGART, M.D.,
RovaL ANTRIM ARTILLERY,
AND CorRONER COUNTY ANTRIM AND CARRICKFERGUS,
DIED I0TH APRIL, 1886, AGED 47 VYEARS.
“ UNTIL THE DAY BREAK, AND THE SHADOWS FLEE AWAY.”

In the Donegall aisle are two tablets, one
SACRED
TO THE MEMORY OF
BLAYNEY TowNLEY WALSHE, EsQr.,
LATE Lieut. CoL. ROYAL ARTILLERY,
WHO DEPARTED THIS LIFE JAN. 29TH. 1839, AGED 62.
ALso OF ANNA, HIS WIFE,
WHO DIED IN DuBLIN, JAN. 18TH, 1840, AGED 49.
The other to
MARGARET,
FOURTH DAUGHTER OF THE LATE
GEORGE SPEAR.
oF CARRICKFERGUS,
DIED 13TH MARCH. 1893.
EVERY GOOD WORK HAD HER KINDLY HELP, AND EVERY
DESERVING OBJECT HER ACTIVE SYMPATHY AND SUPPORT.
THIS TABLET IS ERECTED BY A FEW LOVING FRIENDS, TO
PERPETUATE HER MEMORY. “SHE STRETCHED OUT HER
HAND TO THE POOR. YEA, SHE REACHED FORTH HER HANDS
TO THE NEEDY.”—PROVERBS XXXI. 20.
Also a stone slab against the wall—-
HERE LIETH THE BODY OF THE
Revp. HiLL BENsoN,
DEeaN oF CoNNOR.

He was BORN THE 3RD OF OCTOBER. 1704, AND
DEPARTED THIS LIFE THE 21ST OF APRIL, 1775.
THEY THAT BE WISE SHALL SHINE AS THE BRIGHTNESS OF
THE FIRMAMENT AND THEY THAT TURN MANY TO

RIGHTEQUSNESS AS THE STARS FOR EVER AND EVER.
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Large east window. A jewel window, with several
Scripture texts, which was erected, in 1872, by the late Thomas
Greer, Esq., and Margaret, his wife,

On the south side of the choir or chancel are four windows.
The first, at the east end, is erected to the memory of the late
Conway Edward Dobbs, Esq., fourth son of Richard Dobbs,
formerly Dean of Connor. Born 29th August, 1773, died 18th
March, 1870. Also of Maria, his wife, born 1st May, 1778,
died 29th April, 1869. (Subject: Faith, Hope and Charity.)
This window is placed by their sorrowing children, who in
them reverenced examples of Faith, Hope and Charity.

The next window is to the memory of Charles Arthur
Wellesley Stewart, Esq. Erected by E. Wilson, Esq., 1goo.
(Subject : the Ascension.)

The third window is “ To the Glory of God and in loving
memory of the late Very Revd. George Bull, D.D., Dean of
Connor.” (Subject: Call of St. Peter, St. James, and St.
John.) q

Fourth window, “In loving memory of John Boyd
Gilmore, who died 27th November. 1859. and of Barbara, his
wife, who died 22nd May, 1865. (Subject: the Trans-
figuration.)

On north side of choir or chancel there are two windows,
the first, at east end, is “ To the glory of God and in loving
memory of Anne Bull, born A.D., 3oth Jan., 1823, died A.D,,
16th Nov., 1881. This window is erected by her husband, the
Very Rev. George Bull, D.D., Dean of Connor. Rector of
Carrickfergus and Raloo.” “He that cometh unto Me shall
never hunger and he that believeth in Me shall never thirst."—
John vi. 35. (Subject: the Miracle of the Loaves and Fishes.)

The second window, “ In memory of Alexander Johns. who
died 13th May, 1866; and of Emma, his wife, who died gth
March, 1857.” This window is a design of conventional foliage.

In the nave is a memorial window “ To the Glory of God
and in loving memory of John Chaine, M.A., sometime Dean
of Connor, and Julia his wife, also Mary their daughter. T his
window is placed by Rebecca, William and Margarette Chaine,
A.D., 1892.” (Subject: “Suffer little children to come unto
e, &zc.”)
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Also a monument

ERECTED BY JAMES STEPHENS
IN MEMORY OF HIS FATHER,
STRATFORD STEPHENS,
WHO DIED 24TH JANUARY, 1848, AGED 48 YEARS.
AND IN AFFECTIONATE REMEMBRANCE OF HIS DEAR MOTHER,
MARGARET STEPHENS,
WHO DIED 18TH APRIL, 1873, AGED 67 YEARS.
DEEPLY REGRETTED BY HER CHILDREN FOR WHOM
HER LOVE AND DEVOTION WERE UNBOUNDED.

The other stained glass window (John the Baptist baptising
Christ) was formerly the east window of the church, and was
presented by the late George Burleigh, Esq., Burleigh Hill,
about 1800.

A tablet

SACRED TO THE MEMORY OF
HEenry EccLESTON,
WHO IN THE 38TH YEAR OF HIS AGE WAS DROWNED
OFF THE ISLE OF BARBUDA, IN THE WEST INDIES.

Hi1s BARQUE THE “ LANCASHIRE WITCH ’ HAVING BEEN
WRECKED IN A HURRICANE ON THE 18TH AUGUST, 1831.
THIS TABLET IS ERECTED BY HIS WIDOW,

JaneE EccLEsTON,

IN REMEMBRANCE OF A BELOVED HUSBAND
AND AFFECTIONATE FATHER.

“ FAR, FAR HE LIES FROM HOLY GROUND,
DEEP IN HIS CORAL BED;
THE SEA WEEDS WRAP HIS CORSE AROUND,
THE WAVES ROLL O'ER HIS HEAD.”
“ AND THE SEA GAVE UP THE DEAD WHICH WERE IN IT.”
—REV. XX. 13.
ALSO HIS DAUGHTER GEORGINA, WHO DIED 10TH MaAy, 1843,

AGED 3 YEARS.

Additional tablets in the chancel: a marble tablet,

surmounted by naval trophies, bearing the following:—
SACRED TO THE MEMORY
OF
LieUTENANT JAMES EVERARD;
WirLiaM Topp, RoBerT HENDERSON, AND JouN Bovp,
SEAMEN OF THIS PLACE ; LATE BELONGING TO
His MajestY’s Sroop “ NiMrobp,”
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WHO WERE DROWNED IN BELFAST LoucH,
BY THE UPSETTING OF A BOAT, AUGUST I35TH, 1825.
AS A TRIBUTE OF RESPECT FOR
AN AMIABLE YOUNG MAN, AND HIGHLY MERITORIOUS OFFICER,
AND FOR THE WORTHY GOOD SEAMEN.
THE CapTAIN, OFFICERS, AND SHIP'S COMPANY OF THE NIMROD
HAVE ERECTED THIS TABLET.

SACRED TO THE MEMORY OF
Joun Epwarp Kiprey, M.D.,
WHO DEPARTED THIS LIFE
6TH APRIL, 1852,

AND
Frances ANNE KIDLEY,
WHO DEPARTED THIS LIFE
17TH JUNE, 1852,

SON AND DAUGHTER OF JoHN KIDLEY,
oF FowNHOPE, HEREFORESHIRE, ENGLAND.
ALso
JANE MAXWELL,

RELICT OF SURGEON MAXWELL,

WHO DEPARTED THIS LIFE
27TH DECEMBER, 1844.

ArLso oF Saran Evriza KiIDLEY,
RELICT OoF JoHN KIDLEY, Esq,
oF FownNHOPE, HEREFORDSHIRE,
WHO DEPARTED THIS LIFE
IST JANUARY, 18353.

Brass tablet
To tHE GLORY oF GOD
AND THE BELOVED MEMORY OF
GartH OGLE,
LIEUTENANT RovAL FUSILIERS,
BORN AT CARRICKFERGUS, 1877,
AND ACCIDENTALLY DROWNED
NEAR PRETORIA, 30TH OCTOBER, 19OI,
WHILST SERVING WITH THE MOUNTED INFANTRY
IN THE SOUTH AFRICAN WAR.
THIS TABLET IS ERECTED BY IIIS PARENTS,
Major GENEraL F. A. OGLE. C.B., AND
AGNES HIS WIFE, AS A TRIBUTE OF AFFECTION
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TO A GALLANT YOUNG SOLDIER,

A STAUNCH FRIEND, AND A DEVOTED SON.
Tablet

NEAR THIS PLACE LIES INTERRED
THE BODY OF
CaprTAIN CHARLES STEWART,
5TH (Lorp MOLESWORTH'S DRAGOONS)
SON OF ALEXANDER STEWART, OF WESTER,
CrLuNy, PERTHSHIRE,
AND ISABELLA STEWART, OF BALLNAKILLIE,
HIS WIFE.
He piED 4TH JUNE, 1774, DISTINGUISHED
ALIKE IN HIS MILITARY AND PRIVATE CAREER,

BY HIS FIDELITY TO THE PATH OF DUTY AND BY HIS
DISPLAY OF EVERY AMIABLE AND CHRISTIAN VIRTUE.
ALSO TO THE MEMORY OF
ROSE HIS WIFE,

WHO DIED IITH FEBRUARY, 1779, AGED Q2 YEARS.
SHE WAS DAUGHTER OF RoDGER HaLrL, EsQ., oF NARrRrROW
WaTER, Co. DOWN, AND GRAND-DAUGHTER OF
Sir ToBy Poynrz, KNT., OF ACTON AND
BrenaGH, Co. ARMAGH.

IN LOVING MEMORY
OF
RoBerT ROWAN,
LATE CAPTAIN 52ND
OXFORDSHIRE LIGHT INFANTRY,
BORN I7TH MARCH, 1780, AT BELLISLE,
COUNTY ANTRIM,
DIED 6TH JANUARY, 1863, AT CARRICKFERGUS.
AND OF
HENRIETTA MARIA, HIS WIFE,

BORN 20TH NOVEMBER, 1814, AT WATERFORD,
DIED 9TH MARCH, 1879, AT CARRICKFERGUS.
“IN THE WORLD YE SHALL HAVE TRIBULATION ;
BUT BE OF GOOD CHEER, I HAVE OVERCOME

THE WORLD.”—JOHN XVI. 33.
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IN LOVING MEMORY OF
Davys BowMAN,
WHO DIED 2ND FEBRUARY, 1904,
AGED 44 YEARS.
“ HE ASKED LIFE OF THEE
AND THOU GAVEST HIM A LONG LIFE,
EVEN FOR EVER AND EVER.”
Brass tablets,
To THE GLORY OF GOD AND IN
LOVING MEMORY OF WILLIAM JOHNS,
ofF JoyMoUNT Court, CARRICKFERGUS,
WHO DIED MARCH 26TH, 1898,
AGED 80 YEARS.

To THE GLORY OF GOD AND IN MEMORY OF
AxNE C. Darsy,

WIDOW OF THE REV. JONATHAN LOVETT DARBY,
RECTOR OF POYNTZPASS,

DIED JANUARY 5TH, 1888, AGED 68 VEARS.

Tablet,

“In memory of the Revd. Bennett W. Johns, Curate of
Carrickfergus, through divine grace a shining model of a
Christian pastor, and a meek and lowly servant of the Lord
Jesus Christ. This monument is raised by his brethren in
the ministry and a sorrowing flock, to record for a perpetual
example the faith and integrity of a man of God, whose
animated zeal was not less powerful to win souls than his
gentleness and loving kindness to retain them. In the
inscrutable Providence of the Most High His faithful servant
was called from His blessed labours whilst his usefulness was
full of promise. Attacked by malignant fever in Dublin, he
died 27th May, 1841, in the second year of his ministry, and
25th year of his age. The will of God be done.”

Brass tablet,

To THE GLORY OF GoOD
AND IN LOVING MEMORY OF
BENNETT WM. JOHNS,
SECOND SON OF THE LATE WILLIAM JOHNS,
oF JoyMouUNT CoURrT, CARRICKFERGUS,
DIED AT SYDNEY, N.S.W,,
25TH JULY, 1899, AGED 37 VEARS.
14
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The north aisle * is the private property of the marquis of
Donegall, being formerly the chapel of his family. Irom its
ruinous state it has lately been shut out from the other parts
of the church. Near its entrance are two seats belonging to
this nobleman. Over the entrance, inside, is a tablet of white
marble, surmounted by a coronet: on the tablet is an inscription
to the memory of Arthur Chichester, third earl of Donegall,
who was killed in Spain. The following is a copy :—

MEeMORIZE PERENNI
ARTHUR CoMITIS DE DONEGALL VICE-COMITIS CHICHESTER
DEe CARrrRICKFERGUS, BarR.s DE BELFAST; CoMITAs ANTRIM,
LocoMm TENENTIS, UrRBIS CARRICKFERGUS PRAEFECTI,
ET SERENISSIME ANNE ANGLIE, &cC. REGINZE COPIARUM
IN HISPANIAS MISSARUM LEGATI;

Qur 1x BarceELoNa UrBe HispaNicA JAcET,
SEPULTUS—ILLE, ANNO 1704, CALPE QUO TEMPORE AB
UNITIS HISPANIARUM & GALLIZ VIRIBUS OPPUGNABATUR,
IN URBEM FELICISSIMUM INTU<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>